# **MEMOIRS**

OF THE

DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT





# **MEMOIRS**

OF THE

# DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT

GOUVERNANTE TO THE CHILDREN OF FRANCE DURING THE RESTORATION, 1773-1836

Cranslated from the French

BY MRS. J. W. DAVIS

VOL. I.

LONDON
CHATTO AND WINDUS, PICCADILLY
1894

#### University Bress :

JOHN WILSON AND SON, CAMBRIDGE, U.S.A.

V53 27 L73,1 C4.1 2994

In 1853 I was at Courtalin with my excellent friends the Duc and Duchesse de Montmorency, enjoying the present, and frequently questioned concerning the past by Comte Georges Esterhazy, who had recently married my dear granddaughter, Louise de Chabot, and who desired to hear many details of my past life of which he was then ignorant. Wishing also to be able at some future day to impart what he had learned to his children, he begged me to write them down. Upon hearing this suggestion, all my friends surrounded me, even throwing themselves on their knees before me. I had not the courage to refuse these touching entreaties, and I gave my promise, though fearing even then that the undertaking would be beyond my powers.

#### TO MADAME LA COMȚESSE AND MONSIEUR LE COMTE GEORGES ESTERHAZY.

### My dear Children,

You have expressed a wish to know the events of my long life, in order to be able in turn to relate them to your children. I yield to this amiable and affectionate desire; although at the same time I promise to resist the too general temptation of mercilessly inflicting upon you the trifling details of my own life. I will endeavour to recall my memories of the revolutions in which I have often been involved, in order to give interest to my recital.

One can hardly be expected to write well at eighty; but at that age one has a right to expect the indulgence of devoted friends.

# CONTENTS.

CHAPTER I.	<b>.</b>
Versailles and my Baptism. — Madame de Genlis and the Princes of Orléans. — Funeral of the Maréchal de Biron. — Sledging Party to Mousseaux. — Beginning of the Revolution. — Departure from Paris, Arrival at the Château du Lys, and Death of my Father. — Bagnères de Bigorre	PAGR
CHAPTER II.	
Return to Paris and Bellechasse. — Emigration. — Arrival in Holland. — Departure for England. — My Marriage. — The Prince and Princesse de Léon in London. — Visit to Lady Edward Bentinck. — Lady Charlotte Greville. — St. Pancras. — Expedition against Quiberon. — The Duc de Choiseul and the Chevalier de Montmorency. — Birth of my Daughters. — The Duc de Biron	
CHAPTER III.	
My Journey to France. — Return to England. — Monsieur in Scotland. — Departure of my Mother for Paris, and our Return to Scotland. — Windsor and King George III. — Anecdotes of the Maréchal de Biron	r - ,

## CHAPTER IV.

Departure of M. de Gontaut for France. — Cheltenham and Wellington. — Madame de Polastron. — My Mother's Return to London. — Politeness of the Prince Regent. — Interview between Monsieur and Pitt. — Masquerade and Lady Hester Stanhope. — Mr. Fulton. — Education and	PAGE
Portrait of my Daughters	97
CHAPTER V.	
1814. — M. de Blacas. — Events of 1814. — Entry of the Comte d'Artois into Paris. — Entry of Louis XVIII. into London, and Return to France. — My Arrival at Paris. — Portrait of Adèle de Gontaut. — The King at Paris. — Fernand de Chabot. — The Ministry. — Reception at the Tuileries and Audience of the King. — Death of my Mother. — Waterloo	134
CHAPTER VI.	
The White Flag. — Death of the Princesse de Léon. — Marriage of the Duc de Berry. — Marriage of Josephine. — M. de Bourbon-Busset. — I am appointed Lady-in-Waiting. — Marriage of Charlotte. — Madame de Meffray (Suzette de La Tour). — Mrs. Brown	178

## MEMOIRS

OF THE

## DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT.

#### CHAPTER I.

Versailles and my Baptism. — Madame de Genlis and the Princes of Orléans. — Funeral of the Maréchal de Biron. — Sledging-Party to Mousseaux. — Beginning of the Revolution. — Departure from Paris, Arrival at the Château du Lys, and Death of my Father. — Bagnères de Bigorre.

I WAS born in Paris in 1773. My mother, Mademoiselle de Coulommiers, heiress of a good Burgundy family, was at that time a charming and accomplished girl of sixteen. My father, the Comte de Montault-Navailles, was fifty-nine at the time of his marriage. Good, honourable, and full of intelligence, his Gascon frankness and originality rendered him very popular. He had been handsome in his youth, and even in old age he still retained a remarkable air of distinction. He entered the army at the age of sixteen, went through the Seven Years' War, and returned to court covered with wounds and with laurels. After this he superintended the education of the Children of France (Louis XVI., Louis XVIII., and Charles X.), being especially attached

to the person of Louis XVI., who was then Dauphin, as menin.

The first years of my life were passed very much like those of every only child who is loved and petted by a tender mother, and rather spoiled by an aged father; mine denied me nothing, not even a carriage of my own when I was only twelve years old.

I had a great many friends, and I was happy, very happy, in those youthful delights which we are apt to recall in after years with a sigh.

At the age of seven I was presented for baptism by His Royal Highness (Louis XVIII.) and Her Royal Highness the Comtesse de Provence in the chapel af Versailles. I wore on this occasion a grand habit and a grand panier. My excessive pride in this costume created great amusement in the apartments of the Queen, Marie Antoinette, where my mother took me after the ceremony. As my mother was a connection of the Duchesse de Polignac, she often took me to Versailles; there I used to see Madame Royale, who was younger than I, and the poor little Dauphin, a lovely and delightful child.

The Queen, wishing to give her children a little fête, got up a child's play, in which I was given a part. The piece chosen was "Iphigenia at Aulis." Mademoiselle de Sabran and her brother and a young Strogonof were quite perfect actors, as every one said. Armand de Polignac had a small part also. The tragedy was not exactly suited to my capacity; but in the second

piece I made quite a success, as the Chevalier de Boufflers declared in a very witty couplet composed for the occasion, and sung at the end of the performance. In this he called me "the little white mouse." From that time forward the Queen always used to call me her "little mouse," and she showered favours upon me. Mademoiselle Aménaide d'Andlau played in both pieces, and she had a little couplet too, as pretty as she was herself.

After the play there was a supper for the children. The princes waited on us, and were greatly amused at our delight. Louis XVI. stood behind my chair for a short time, and even gave me a napkin. The Queen sent me home in her sedan chair, the footmen carried great torches, and the guards presented arms to me. All these honours might perhaps have turned my head, had it not been for the soothing and tranquillising influence of my careful mother.

A nephew of my father, the Vicomte de Valence, had married the daughter of Madame de Genlis. I have forgotten the exact date of this family event, which led to an intimacy between my mother and Madame de Genlis, and to one between me and the children of the Duc d'Orléans (Égalité), the Duc de Chartres and de Montpensier, the Comte de Beaujolais and Mademoiselle.

Madame de Genlis, with Mademoiselle, occupied a small pavilion belonging to the Convent Bellechasse, at the corner of the Rue Saint Dominique, which is still standing. The princes were taken there every morning by an under-tutor; they took their lessons there, and did not return to the Palais Royal until evening.

It was said that the Duchesse d'Orléans was greatly grieved at seeing so little of her children.

The enthusiasm which the young princes felt for Madame de Genlis soon communicated itself to me. I felt ashamed to be behindhand in this romantic passion which they each and all tried to make manifest to her. I have seen the princes and Mademoiselle kiss the ground on which she had trodden, and I am ashamed to confess now that one day, wishing to outdo them in sentiment, I threw myself upon the easy-chair she had just left, and kissing it fervently, filled my mouth with dust, which rather cooled my ardour.

At this time Madame de Genlis was writing the "Veillées du Château," which she read aloud to us, asking our opinion with regard to it; this gave us a feeling of great importance, which, however, she took very good care to keep in check. She asked each one for his opinion. This was a critical moment; if the observations were foolish or badly expressed, she was very severe in the manifestation of her displeasure. The fear with which she inspired us at such times redoubled our desire to please her, by showing her how much we admired her.

The gouvernante told us one day that as a reward for their industry she intended to take the most diligent of her pupils on a tour through Paris. These excursions.

she told us, would have a great many advantages; her pupils would thus make acquaintance with the different branches of industry, and these being explained to them by the workmen themselves would not only help them to form the very essential habit of being good listeners, but would also bring them into contact with the labouring classes. Charity also would find its part in this scheme, she declared, since the princes would learn to take an interest in the miseries of those with whom they came in contact, and to try to find the means of solacing them.

This announcement was received with shouts of applause.

With some difficulty, I obtained my mother's consent to make one of this party. She thought it would be only a waste of time for me.

The excursions soon began. The first one was to Maille, where we learned to make mustard and vinegar. Some of us, full of mischief, made fun of it, thereby putting the *gouvernante* into a bad temper.

The second visit was to a manufactory of pins. Madame de Genlis declared reproachfully that the princes said nothing at all, and forbade the young girls to monopolise the conversation.

It was about this time, in the year 1788, that the Maréchal de Biron died, the colonel-general of the French Guards.

The service at his funeral, in the evening, at Notre Dame was wonderfully fine; all Paris was there. The

brilliant illumination of the whole church, the great number of troops in full uniform, the orchestra of the Opéra, and the voices of the singers gave to this ceremony a festive air which made quite a sensation in Paris. Every one was talking of it. The rumours of it penetrated even to Bellechasse; the young people were all eagerness and excitement, I among the rest. They at length obtained permission to go, and my mother also consented to allow me to accompany them. I thought the service fine, but exceedingly dismal. The streets in front of the cathedral were so narrow that it was very difficult for the large carriage, with the six horses which the princes always used, to penetrate through the crowd.

Madame de Genlis told the Duc de Chartres that he must call out often and loudly to the coachman to take the greatest care not to injure any person in the crowd. He obeyed her, but very perfunctorily; his manner was so cold and indifferent that she lost patience at last, and said rather sharply: "Are you never going to learn how to speak to the people, Monseigneur? Are you always going to be so awkward? Will you never display a spark of spirit?"

Whereupon I said, at the risk of being scolded in my turn, "Oh, come, Monseigneur, it is so easy to have spirit!"

"Easier than it seems to be for you to hold your tongue!" was the sharp reply of the *gouvernante*. Every one laughed at this, not even excepting myself.

Madame de Genlis had added to the number of the pupils who shared her instructions with the princes, her niece, Henriette de Sercey (afterwards Madame de Finguerlin, mother of Madame de Fezensac), Herminie de \_\_\_\_\_, a relative of hers, and César Ducrest, her nephew. All that was wanting now, she said to us one day, was a little English girl who could play with them, and in this way teach her language to Mademoiselle and to the princes as well.

The Chevalier de Grave, the first equerry of the Duc d'Orléans, was just on the point of starting for England, and he was requested to find and bring back with him this marvel. He promised to do so, and kept his word, bringing with him, some time after, on his return from London, besides his horses, a charming little girl who did not understand a word of French. Madame de Genlis had promised to provide for the future of this child, on condition that she should never be asked to give her up. We showered caresses and bonbons upon her; we asked her her name - it was a very common one, Pamela; - but this was not enough. We wanted a family name as well, and we finally settled upon Seymour. The ambitious little creature wished to add to it the title of "lady." Every one was amused by this evidence of pride in a child of eight years, and when we played together we always called her "Milady."

Many years after, Pamela married Lord Edward Fitzgerald, in the very height of the Revolution. Pamela and her husband adopted the most democratic ideas.

VOL. L - 2

It was even said that she was married in a red liberty cap. Lord Edward had formed the extravagant project of succouring Ireland and of establishing a free government there. He found volunteers in the neighbouring countries, who under his command made a descent upon Ireland. He was captured, and, making a vigorous resistance, was wounded in the struggle, and died of his wound two days afterwards.

Lady Edward succeeded in making her escape. In her childhood and her early youth she had been good and charming: we will throw a veil over her later years.

The Revolution was approaching. People began to speak of their fears, and to foresee dangers which I was very far from comprehending.

The winter of 1789 was very cold; the streets were full of snow. At Bellechasse they were planning a sledging-party, and Mademoiselle proposed to give me a seat in her sledge, which was to be driven by the Duc d'Orléans, her father. The plan was to have a children's dinner at Mousseaux, with blind-man's-buff afterwards. I looked forward with great delight to this fête. Except for the indulgence of my father, who was perhaps a little too weak where I was concerned, I could not have gained the consent of my mother, who was not invited.

We had a delightful day. After dinner Madame de Genlis withdrew into the apartments of the château with the Duc d'Orléans, leaving us in the charge of the tutors, the masters, and various persons of the princes' household, among others the Marquis de La Valette, father of Madame de Juigné. Although he was young then, he constituted himself our mentor; and his perfect manners and air of distinction rendered him worthy to play the part. The Duc d'Orléans often intrusted the young princes to his care, and he frequently rode on horseback with them.

At the very height of our game of blind-man's-buff a chasseur came to announce the moment of departure, to the vexation of every one. We called a council, and it was decided that I should head a deputation, accompanied by M. de La Valette, to beg for an hour's grace from Madame de Genlis. There were a great many salons to traverse, but we turned our steps towards the one where we heard many voices. I was so frightened that when I entered the room and found myself in a group of men, I could not see Madame de Genlis anywhere. She had seen me, however. The Duc d'Orléans, perceiving my embarrassment, took me by the hand and led me up to her. I executed my commission very awkwardly, for her evident displeasure quite completed my confusion. She granted the favour I had come to ask, but very reluctantly. The only face I knew in the whole assembly was that of the Duc de Biron, whom I had sometimes seen calling on my mother. He spoke kindly to me, and tried to reassure me. At that moment he was talking earnestly with a stout and very ugly man who paid me a great many compliments. I saw him afterwards at Versailles, at a dinner at M. de Saint Priest's, a cousin of my mother, then minister to the King. I can recall his face now, which I thought excessively disagreeable, — it was M. de Mirabeau.

On the 10th of July a little comedy was enacted at St. Leu to celebrate the fête-day of Madame de Genlis, and we were urged to be present. My mother and I went with the elder Comtesse de Gontaut. Every one seemed agitated, and my mother grew very uneasy. The Duc d'Orléans, who was expected, did not come. During the evening some one told my mother in a low tone that fighting was going on at Paris. She insisted upon going home at once, as did also the Comtesse de Gontaut, who was very anxious about her son, the Marquis de St. Blancard, then captain of the French Guards. Madame de Genlis made light of their fears, but all her arguments failed to detain us. When we reached the Rue Royale, we found it very difficult to get into the house, the crowd was so great. The regiment of Berchiny hussars was keeping off the multitude, which was trying to get into the Tuileries. In the struggle a man was killed on the Pont Tournant. The tumult was not quieted till well on into the night. The French Guards began to join the insurgents, abandoned their barracks. and turned against their officers, who were obliged to fly. M. de St. Blancard, being pursued, took refuge with my mother at the very moment of her return from St. Leu.

The next day was horrible. We saw the French Guards rushing from the boulevards into the Rue

Royale, with crowds of people, shouting, dancing, and walking aim in arm with women disguised as nuns; men dressed like Capuchin monks were carrying off by force trembling women, and all were shouting and singing, "Les aristocrates à la lanterne," etc.

These brigands came from the Faubourg Saint Antoine, where they had already burned and plundered the Réveillon house.

This mob stopped in front of our house, and broke open the door of the Garde-Meuble belonging to the Crown, to find arms for themselves. After an hour spent in pillage, the priests, women, soldiers, and nuns all came out loaded with booty, and in a state of excitement and intoxication frightful to witness. We thought we were lost. My father, determined to defend us as long as possible, had barricaded the doors and windows. Three carriages were drawn up before the porte-cochère, which was defended by three of our men armed and almost beside themselves with rage and indignation, while my father stood at the head of the stairs with a pistol in each hand, having placed me behind him, determined to die in our defence. I never was so frightened in my life.

Two days after this, we went to Versailles with my father, who, notwithstanding his age, wished to offer his services to the King.

In order to give you some idea of the exasperation of the people at this time, I will mention that a chasseur wearing the livery of the Comte d'Artois, and

bringing a note for my mother, was attacked, beaten, and had nearly all his clothes torn off in the Place Louis XV.; he was able to bring only a fragment of the letter with which he was charged.

My mother went to Versailles the next day to ask for an explanation of this letter. The Comte d'Artois, knowing my father's excitable temperament and his devotion to the cause of royalty, and knowing also our anxiety about him, advised us to take a little journey to divert his mind, and calm a zeal which might lead to imprudence. This advice was taken. My mother mentioned it to one of her friends, Madame de Montesson, who was herself going away to spend some time in the beautiful château of Berny, which belonged to her. She proposed that my mother should accompany her thither, taking me with her, and that my father should come there to meet us on his way to the South, whither he had consented to repair.

Every one knows that Madame de Montesson had been privately married to the Duc d'Orléans, the father of Égalité. She was always treated like a princess, and had a beautiful house in the Rue Grange-Batelière; the Orléans livery and the arms of that royal branch were added to her own. She was very amiable, sweet, and good, and her house was always agreeable, as she gathered about her a select and brilliant social circle.

We left Paris in a carriage and pair, with an outrider

in livery going before, — a singular incognito, for when we got as far as St. Roch, the people surrounded us, stopped the carriage, and forced us to get out on the steps of the church, while they searched the carriage, hoping to discover treasures in it. After an hour of vain search they allowed us to resume our seats again, and return to the Hôtel de Montesson. I was greatly surprised and shocked to see among the crowd which was attacking us my old nurse, who lived on a pension which my mother allowed her, and whose ingratitude was such that she added, to the injuries we were undergoing, the gross insult of a gesture which I cannot describe.

After this attempt at departure, it was decided that we should prudently wait until the popular excitement should have subsided a little; and some time after we started in a berlin with our servants, lady's maids, etc., and arrived, without the smallest adventure, at the place of meeting appointed by my father, which was that of his birth.

There still stands near Nérac a large manor of ancient date, called the Château du Lys. This was my father's birthplace. At this time his elder brother was no longer living, but he had left a son, who in 1790 had twelve children, — eight sons and four daughters. Our arrival at the Lys was like a scene in the Middle Ages. They were expecting us. The peasants were drawn up in a line to receive us. Then came the eight sons of the lord of the manor, with their hats in their hands;

after them, and in the place of honour, eight soldiers who had followed my father through the Seven Years' War. We could see under their white hair the traces of their honourable scars.

The great carriage, having passed over the old bridge, crossed the broad moat and stopped beneath a gloomy archway. The women and the young girls were there, and the *châtelaine* with her children beside her.

My father's emotion had infected us also, and his first words brought tears to my mother's eyes and to my own. "Draw near, my old comrades," he said to the old soldiers; "I have come here to die beside you. I can do no more for our King!"

This château had a reputation for beauty in that part of the world, but I thought it very dismal when I first saw it. The six horses with the great berlin could not turn in the square court, shut in by the high towers, whose windows, small and far apart as they were, looked to me like those of a prison. I had never seen any château but that of Versailles, and no walls except those of Paris. But I soon became so accustomed to the ancient customs which were kept up in this old manor, and learned so greatly to appreciate the simplicity and goodness of this admirable family, that I grew very fond of them. I recovered my gaiety, and was so happy at the Lys that for a whole year the successive phases of the Revolution made only a fleeting impression upon me.

My father was greatly esteemed throughout the whole

province, and people flocked in from all sides to manifest their respect for his noble character. But, unhappily, neither these evidences of esteem, nor the touching care of my mother, nor my own tenderness sufficed to restore him. The wound to his heart had gone too deep. He trembled for his princes; their ever-increasing danger had produced an impression upon him which, to our infinite sorrow, proved fatal.

Before the Revolution my father, notwithstanding his age, had been strong and active. Since then he had failed perceptibly. Finally, he succumbed to a slight cold, and died at the age of seventy-two. I can still recall my feelings at this frightful misfortune, the first that had ever befallen me. What a cruel moment was that in which, borne by his old companions in arms, he was laid away in the chapel of the château, his last resting-place! I felt as if I should die. My mother was inconsolable. The whole family was in tears. The year passed sadly away for us all. My mother's health was greatly broken. They ordered baths for her, and the following spring we went to Bagnères de Bigorre, where the De Gontaut family were staying, who had urged my mother to join them.

The Marquise de Gontaut was greatly beloved by every one. She collected about her a large circle of friends. She was good, sweet, gentle, and very anxious to please her family, who adored her; she had an original and candid mind, and was a grande dame such as we no longer see. She accepted homage without being

proud of it, and never exacted it; it was consequently lavished upon her as if it were her due. At Bagnères they called her the "mother of the poor," and she was worthy of the name.

As for me. I loved her with all my heart and soul.

Among the visitors at the baths was the Duchesse de Fleury, a daughter of the Comte de Coigny. It would be impossible to find any one more fascinating than she was, both through her personal grace and her intellectual charms.

I was then about sixteen years old: it is the age for enthusiastic devotion, and that with which she inspired me was very great. She treated me as if I were quite grown up, and I was very proud of it.

It was during our sojourn at Bagnères' that the festival of the Federation took place at Paris on the 14th of July, — that fatal anniversary of the taking of the Bastille, — and was celebrated in the Champs de Mars with a military and religious pomp and a regal display which seemed intended chiefly for the triumph of M. de Lafayette. Although really appointed by the King, one would have thought his major-generalship had been conferred upon him by the Federation rather than by royalty.

Our correspondents in Paris, fearing the effects of all these troubles in the provinces, advised all those persons who had filled civil or military posts to leave the country as soon as possible. The Marquis de Gontaut, his brother, the Marquis de St. Blancard, the Marquis de La Valette, the Duc de Fleury, and several others therefore planned a little excursion into Spain. They urged us to join their party. The Duchesse de Fleury, her daughter, Madame Guibert, and several other ladies who were staying at the baths, accompanied us.

The French people have an inexhaustible fund of gaiety, which at this period had not been chilled by great misfortunes. Nothing could be more delightful than this sort of caravan crossing the mountains on horseback, on mules, and in litters. My mother and I rode the same mule; I, being the lighter, was placed on the side nearest the precipices; but I found it more enjoyable than terrifying.

We went to Barèges by the Tour-Malet. It was here that I enjoyed for the first time the spectacle of a storm beneath my feet, during which a bright sun seemed struggling with the lightning and thunder-clouds. We visited Cauterets and the waterfalls, the valley of Luz, and finally the magnificent amphitheatre of Gavarnie, commanded by the celebrated pass of Roland. It was here that we crossed the Pyrenees, and at the first Spanish town we took the carriages of the country.

At last we reached Pampeluña, just as a bull-fight was going on. I will spare you the description of it, my dear children; your sojourn in Spain has taught you to appreciate it.

I must confess that, like you, in spite of the horror I experienced at seeing it for the first time, I soon felt a great and indefinable interest in it. In spite of the pity

which one feels for the *toreadors* and the frightful condition of the horses, one ends by heartily entering into the noisy and barbarous delight which is excited by the magic of the spectacle and the success of the actors.

Our journey lasted three weeks, and we came back to Pau through Bayonne. It was there that the whole Gontaut family was established in the charming house that you know. My sister-in-law was never tired of the beautiful view of the mountains which she had in that delightful situation.

#### CHAPTER II.

Return to Paris and Bellechasse. — Emigration. — Arrival in Holland. — Departure for England. — My Marriage. — The Prince and Princesse de Léon in London. — Visit to Lady Edward Bentinck. — Lady Charlotte Greville. — St. Pancras. — Expedition against Quiberon. — The Duc de Choiseul and the Chevalier de Montmorency. — Birth of my Daughters. — The Duc de Biron.

TOWARDS the end of this year my mother was obliged to return to Paris on business connected with the settlement of my father's estate. She went with great reluctance. I had received several very kind letters from Mademoiselle d'Orléans, urging me to come back. I was greatly pleased at this, and was eager to see her again. But my mother displayed an extraordinary coldness and reserve towards the inmates of Bellechasse, the reason for which I was too young to understand. They always welcomed me so cordially there that I had naturally a great desire to go often; but I was not allowed to do so.

When we first returned to Paris, Mademoiselle had written to invite me to a very small dance. It was not easy to refuse every invitation, and my mother finally consented to take me to this ball; though it was so entirely against her inclination that she would not allow

me to make much of a toilette, intending to slip away as soon as she possibly could.

As we entered the pavilion of Bellechasse my mother saw the Duc d'Orléans at the head of the stairs conversing with some personage whose name I have forgotten, but the very sight of whom made an extremely painful impression upon my poor mother. We entered the salon. Madame de Genlis was there, her hair without powder, though it was still the fashion to wear it; she wore a most extraordinary costume, composed of the three revolutionary colours, and her face was greatly changed, and seemed to have entirely lost its habitual charm. Dancing was going on, and I am sorry to say the orchestra was playing the air, "Ah! ça ira," etc. They had made this horrible refrain, which was then being sung all over Paris, into a contra-dance. The Duc de Chartres asked me to dance, but my mother would not permit it. This refusal made a great sensation among those present, and my mother perceived it. "Oh, Josephine," she said to me, "you were so eager to come, and now I reproach myself for having been so weak as to yield to you."

The little princes perceived how disturbed I was at my mother's vexation, and they talked about it together in a low voice. My mother was suffering tortures. I perceived this, and urged her to plead indisposition and go home. She did so, and we left Bellechasse, never to return to it again.

We had hardly reached home when my mother took

counsel with her relatives and friends as to what had just occurred.

It was then that I first began to understand the evil results which this evening might have for my mother. She had not been able to conceal her indignation on account of that fatal contra-dance and the offensive remarks she had heard on the squeamishness of these aristocrats, — remarks which had caused her hasty departure.

My dear timid grandmother trembled for her daughter. She urged her to leave Paris as soon as possible. My mother then intrusted her property to M. Durvet, a banker of the court who was devoted to our family. She only took a small sum with her, hoping to be able to return very shortly, and we set out for Switzerland. We went afterwards to Aix-la-Chapelle, where we found a great number of our old acquaintances, among others the Comtesse Diane, sister-in-law of the Duchesse de Polignac. We learned that the Comte d'Artois was at Coblentz, where the Elector of Trèves had given him an asylum in the palace of Schaunbaryslust; that Monsieur was also expected there; and that they would be glad to have the French émigrés join them, in order to unite with the Prince de Condé, who was trying to collect an army of volunteers, of which he was to take command.

At the same time my mother received a message from the Comte de Provence which decided her to go to Coblentz.

I found our life there very agreeable. Young and old, all were equally full of hope and of illusions; the visits of the princes of the different countries, among others of the Duke of Brunswick and the Prince of Prussia, naturally created a good deal of gaiety. We met every week at the palace of the Elector.

It will be easy for me to give you some idea of the confidence we felt in the armies by which we were surrounded. In order to do so, I will quote a fragment from the Memoirs of Louis XVIII., who confesses to having shared this confidence as entirely and as foolishly as the rest of the *emigrés*.

The following is from a letter which the Prince received from Paris: —

"Everything is going on as well as possible; the declaration of war has saved you; one more strong effort, and you will complete the great work which has been begun. Within two months the allied armies will make it possible for you to finish the season at Brunoy," etc.

The Duke of Brunswick himself spoke of this expedition with incredible flippancy. "Monseigneur," he said, "I am sorry to say that we shall have absolutely no difficulties to overcome. I could have wished, for the general good, that the allies might encounter a little resistance, for the French ought to receive such a lesson as they will never forget."

Monsieur was offended by this speech, and alluding to the reverses of Brunswick under Louis XV., he replied: "Take care, Prince, that you do not fall into a trap

## DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT.

unawares; I am sure the French will fight; and you must remember that they have not always been beaten.

Shortly after this the Prussians attacked Thionville, on August 24, 1792, and were completely routed. Several other disastrous battles took place, among them that of Valmy. The campaign in Champagne was ended by the retreat of the army beyond the Rhine and into the Netherlands. The army of the Princes was disbanded, and all that remained was that portion commanded by the Prince de Condé.

I will return now to my personal affairs. I have tried to justify the illusions with which we were pleasing ourselves at Coblentz; they rested on the plans for the escape of the royal family, — which were discussed openly and imprudently. A trustworthy person, sent by M. Durvet to my mother, brought her a bit of tape which had been sewn inside a lining, on which these words were written: —

"Will you give your sanction to the loan of a part of the fortune which you placed in my hands? It will be returned to you by one whom you love, when you are reunited, which will be soon, I hope. Answer in the same manner."

"Yes, a hundred times, yes!" was my mother's reply.

But, alas! the arrest of the King at Varennes rendered this sacrifice useless. This portion of our fortune had been necessary to complete the amount desired by the royal family for carrying out the plan of escape; but it was seized at the moment of that criminal arrest. When we were at Bagnères and at Pau the preceding year, the subject of my marriage with M. de St. Blancard had been discussed. My mother, who was deeply attached to the family, had gladly given her consent, but wished to postpone the marriage until France should be restored to tranquillity.

M. de St. Blancard was at Coblentz, serving in the army of the Princes. He knew how devoted my mother was to the royal cause, and was noble enough to honour her for it.

When the army of the Princes began to move towards France by way of Thionville, women were permitted to follow it.

Every one took advantage of this permission. The roads were crowded with equipages, and the Parisian elegance, and the confidence of success which everyone felt, made the journey delightful. We all separated gaily, expecting to meet soon in Paris itself.

A certain young M. de Quinsonnas had a little treasure which he dared not expose to the dangers of war. He looked about him for some one to whom to intrust it. Every one seemed young and frivolous, until at last he met an old lady, the wife of the oldest cordon rouge.

"I could not find a better person," he said to himself, and he intrusted his precious purse to this venerable dame. The old lady vowed that she would never part with it, and would restore it to him at Paris.

After the defeat, he sought for the old lady, and at

last he found her. She started back when she saw him.

- "What!" she cried, "you are not dead?"
- "Oh, my purse!" he exclaimed in terror.
- "Oh, here is your purse!" replied the old lady, but there is very little left in it."

In the disasters which followed this period, I often heard people say, sometimes with a smile, "There is very little left in it."

We had now entered upon a new era of vicissitudes, of privations, and of sacrifices, which resignation to the will of God, and my love for my mother, alone gave me strength to endure.

When the armies began to retreat we were at Luxembourg, where the sound of the cannon at Thionville kept up our hopes. But the disorder of the retreat was horrible. We found ourselves surrounded by the troops which thronged the roads.

We were obliged to go at a snail's pace; the wounded soldiers mounted into the carriage and crowded the imperial. At the close of each of these wretched days we had to seek shelter for the night; then a barn or a pile of hay was a subject of dispute; and when a distant spire had given us some hope of shelter, it was hard to find, on reaching the gates of the town, that placards had been put up, announcing that "No Jews or *émigrés* are admitted here."

To give you some idea of our position, I will relate here a little episode which, for the moment, aroused all our French gaiety in the midst of the general gloom of this terrible journey.

A spacious barn, filled with clean straw, had given us hopes of a good night's rest. The Duchesse de Guiche, Mesdames de Poulpry, Delage, etc., together with my mother and myself, had lain down in rows along the wall. A chasseur of the Duchesse de Guiche, sword in hand, was stationed at the door as our guard.

In the middle of the night we were aroused from our slumbers by repeated knockings and by a woman's voice demanding to be let in. "Open the door!" she kept calling; "it is I!" The door was opened, and Madame de Calonne, wife of the Minister, entered in gorgeous array, powdered, puffed, and rouged, with long train, panier, and high-heeled shoes.

"Where are the apartments?" she exclaimed, as she looked round her in dismay. "Why, what is this? A hospital? Women lying here in the hay? an armed man? Hold, where are all my servants? Bring lights here quick! bring torches!"

The servants came running in. The barn was suddenly illuminated, and then her exclamations redoubled. "Where am I? What is this place? What is that hanging on the wall?"

At this question we all looked round, and then for the first time discovered twenty-four sheep hanging on the wall, skinned and dressed all ready for the next day's market. By this time we had recognised each other, and we began to laugh. She, poor woman, was only just at

the beginning of her troubles. It began to dawn upon her, however, from the position in which she found us, to what she might have to resign herself; and, like ourselves, she succeeded in meeting her fate with courage.

Amidst a thousand difficulties and privations of all kinds consequent upon this great movement of troops, we at last managed to reach Mayence. Here we rested for several days. As the Prussians intended to take another route, we hoped to have less difficulty in reaching Coblentz.

While we were still at Mayence, my mother found an opportunity to send letters to my grandmother, indicating those persons whom our business agents could trust to transmit to us the funds of which we were so greatly in need. But the French advanced so rapidly that we could not wait for the reply we so ardently desired. We were obliged to sell our diamonds, other jewels, carriages, etc., to those merciless Jews, who took every advantage of our situation.

The orders to evacuate the city being positive, we turned our faces towards Coblentz. We found this city in a state of great uproar, expecting the arrival of the French troops. The fortress of Ehrenbreitstein had already been attacked, and we were obliged to continue our flight. The danger was great; the shells thrown into the fortress were falling all around the light skiff by means of which we were trying to escape from this dangerous place. As soon as we could, we got ashore and hired some carts, and in this deplorable condition

we at last reached Rotterdam, hoping to find there letters from our relations. But what a cruel announcement was awaiting us! The death of the King! And the list of executions, in which we found the name of the brother of my grandmother, and also that of my mother's own brother!

When she read this, my mother had a nervous attack, followed by such excessive prostration that I feared for her life. What a frightful position we were in! Alone, cut off from all our friends, and winter approaching! And what a winter! There were already frightful inundations. We could not get out on the little canal which ran past our door, except through the window.

My mother was quite overwhelmed, and I felt almost crushed myself; but God in His goodness sustained me, and I felt that I must summon all my courage, in order to help and support my mother.

A merchant to whom a distinguished citizen of Coblentz had recommended us, often came to see us. I am sure he felt compassion for us. One day I told him how desirous I was of turning to some account the lessons I had received in my early youth. He had considerable taste, and he tried to direct mine, suggesting that I should paint on stone or on ivory. I took some lessons, and hoped I might be able to supply my mother and myself with the means of subsistence when our resources should be exhausted. I worked very hard, and looked forward without anxiety to the time when I might hope to be useful to my dear mother.

That fatal winter of '93 favoured the advance of the French troops as far even as Holland. The ice in the canals was so solid that the cannon and wagons could be taken across with ease, and the approach of the army created great consternation.

After the defeat of the army of the Princes, M. de St. Blancard was able to join us. His arrival was an unexpected happiness. He could imagine our position, and had come to do everything in his power to lessen its hardships. He thought it better for us in the existing condition of affairs to leave Holland, suggesting England as a more agreeable place of refuge. I was very anxious to go. He persuaded my mother to consent, and asked her permission to look out for a suitable lodging for us, to be ready as soon as she would let him know that it was convenient for her to move.

As soon as the spring came, I urged my mother to fulfil her promise, and at last we turned our backs upon that gloomy Holland.

When we arrived at Harwich, the first English word that I heard and understood made my heart beat with the hope of a better future. It was a good omen, for from that moment we began to experience the kindly and cordial hospitality of the English.

When we disembarked, we were met by agents of the Government, who asked my mother's name and position; and my father's rank proved to be a passport sufficient to procure for us the greatest consideration. What a difference between this noble reception and that to which

we had become so cruelly accustomed since our change of fortune! Is it strange that I should have formed that strong attachment to England for which I have sometimes been reproached? Gratitude, however, has always been one of my characteristics.

The heighbourhood of Golden Square, in which M. de St. Blancard had taken lodgings for us, is a rather gloomy quarter of the town, and I began to understand the feelings of Frenchmen who reach London on a Sunday. The profound silence, the absolute quiet in the streets, was a great surprise to us; and a foreigner coming to London for the first time is very apt to be attacked by a fit of the blues, which, however, is quickly dispelled the next morning by the lovely sunshine in Hyde Park.

M. de St. Blancard was devoted in his attentions to us. In the evenings he entertained us by describing life in London, and picturing the state of mind of our compatriots, whose pride was wounded by the assistance offered them, even by the Government. They were displeased at the differences made according to their rank in the army: the second-lieutenant wanted the allowance made to the general. Not understanding the customs of the country, and determined not to learn the language, they even went so far as to avoid walking on the sidewalks, preferring the middle of the street, though at the risk of being run over.

Even a common misfortune is not always conducive to harmony; this is an indisputable fact, though we were far from comprehending the unjust discontent of which we had just heard so bad an account. The asylum so nobly granted, the assistance offered as if only due to misfortune, had filled our hearts with admiration and gratitude for that England which, compared with the countries where we had suffered so much, seemed to us like a haven of refuge after the storm.

I was the first to propose that we should leave London,—at least for the present. When we called our little council, we were all of the same opinion. But where should we go? All places were equally strange to us. We took the map of England: M. de St. Blancard was struck with the name of Epsom, in the county of Surrey. He had heard the races there spoken of, and he thought he remembered that the home of a friend of his, Lord Edward Bentinck, was situated in that county.

M. de Gontaut proposed to go to Epsom, and he came back quite charmed. He had found a little house which he thought would satisfy us. So the Fates decided for Epsom. There he renewed his entreaties to me to fix the day for our marriage. My mother wished it, feeling that it would be a consolation in her troubles; but before giving her entire consent she wished to obtain that of the Princes. This was granted, with flattering and touching words of approval. They condescended to recall the fact that although bound by ties of friendship and relationship to persons who had permitted themselves to be carried away by democratic ideas, M. de St. Blancard had had the courage to follow

with us the path of honour. "And it will give us sincere pleasure," they added, "to see him united to the daughter of a man for whom we have always felt a strong attachment."

My marriage was celebrated as modestly as possible. The Bishop of Nantes and the Comte de Noé, my cousin, were my witnesses. The Duc de Grammont and Baron de Rolles, a Swiss officer, aide-de-camp of the Comte d'Artois, were those of M. de St. Blancard, who then took the name of Gontaut-Biron, leaving that of St. Blancard to the eldest son of the younger branch.

We were married at the Spanish Chapel by the same chaplain who several years before had privately married the Prince of Wales to Mrs. Fitz-Herbert.

There could be no question at such a time of gaieties and festivities. We started immediately for Epsom by the stage-coach, and there we established ourselves modestly in the pretty little cottage that M. de Gontaut had chosen for us. Our people had left us, and our whole establishment was reduced to a single servant. In a time of public calamity, personal privations are easy to bear; one would be ashamed to complain; poverty is nothing to blush for when the cause of it is honourable; the greatest humiliation would be in not knowing how to submit bravely to necessity.

Our house seemed very pleasant to us, situated as it was in a pretty street, only a few steps from the race-course, and surrounded by charming country-houses.

We learned afterwards that our advent made quite a sensation among the occupants of these charming houses: they were all very curious to see these French people who had escaped from the calamities which had overwhelmed their country. In the evenings they tried to get a peep at us through the blinds of our little salon. My mother's beautiful sad face seemed to possess a great interest for them; I, though so young, was always at work, and this touched them greatly. We had not yet made any new acquaintances, but M. de Gontaut, being less occupied than we were, went to London frequently. He met a great many French people there, and some old English friends, among whom were Lord Edward Bentinck and his family, who were desirous of doing everything in their power to render our exile less severe, and promised to come and see me at the time of the races.

I will relate to you here, my dear children, some details which will interest you with regard to the Prince and Princesse de Léon, your grandparents, who arrived in London at this period. Their salon became a general rendezvous for the best society; the English being as desirous as the French of being admitted there. The Prince of Wales, who was so handsome and elegant, was occasionally to be seen there; they were kept au courant of all the latest news by the ministers themselves, which your father brought to us in our solitude. The Princesse de Léon, daughter of the Duc de Montmorency, was remarkably beautiful; the Prince de Léon, after-

wards Prince and Duc de Rohan, was a perfect gentleman. His great name, which he bore with so much dignity and affability, his manners so full of grace, and his kindly spirit, made him a model for French nobles at a period when so much stress was laid upon conversational powers and the air of good society. They had several children then, — your uncle Auguste, Cardinal and Archbishop of Besançon, your father, now Duc de Rohan, and a pretty little girl called Léontine, who died in London.

Among our most intimate English friends were Lord Liverpool and the Earl of Bristol, who till the day of their death never ceased to be tenderly attached to your family.

The week of the races is in England, as in France, a time of great excitement; then the English lose that phlegmatic manner which usually characterises them. As the time of the races draws near, everything changes, every one grows animated, they are gay and eager, and make their bets with great excitement and vivacity. The weather was magnificent at Epsom, and every one seemed to have taken out a new lease of life.

M. de Gontaut had got tickets for us,—reserved seats in the chief box. His old and new friends came and welcomed me with frank kindness and cordiality. This set me more at ease than all the well-turned phrases of our good society in France. Their hand-clasp is much more cordial; it seems to come from the heart, and to give assurance of a warm and lasting friendship.

Lord and Lady Edward Bentinck had come expressly to invite us to visit them at their country-house, an invitation which we accepted with great pleasure. They introduced us to a great many persons who afterwards became intimate friends of mine. Lord Templeton, who was one of these new acquaintances, had just married a very agreeable young lady who afterwards never ceased to manifest for me a sincere friendship. Among the French people the only ones I can recall are the MM. de l'Aigle, Prince de La Tremouille, and Comte Boson and Comte Archambaut de Périgord, brothers of the Prince de Talleyrand, whose life is well The families in our neighbourhood, encouraged by these examples, asked to be introduced to us, among others a very estimable family, Mr. and Mrs. Lomax and their sister, who were very kind and attentive to us during our entire sojourn at Epsom. Fifteen years afterwards Mrs. Lomax's sister married our oldfriend Baron de Rolles.

According to our promise, we paid a visit at Mickle-field Green, Lord Edward Bentinck's charming country house. Lady Edward spoke French badly, but she was very original and amusing. She was passionately fond of anything that happened to take her fancy, and I had the good fortune to please her; so she praised me so highly as to cause me serious embarrassment. She declared she was only improving my English when she made use of droll expressions which caused a general smile. A great many people came to see us, among

others Lady Salisbury, Lady Essex, and two Ladies Capell, whom I thought very extraordinary. They arrived one day driving a phaeton and wearing large men's hats, which they had adorned with all the feathers of their magnificent poultry-yard.

Lord Clarendon and Lady Charlotte Villiers were intimate friends of Lord Edward. We used to see them constantly. They were neither of them married. Lord Clarendon was a descendant of the famous Hyde, Earl of Clarendon, whose daughter married King James II. Lord Clarendon lived in his beautiful castle like a veritable feudal lord, a Tory by inclination, cold and silent in manner, receiving the gentlemen of the county with an imposing ceremoniousness, and giving them great dinners, especially at Christmas time. He had two brothers, one John and the other George Villiers, who were both married.

An Admiral Forbes had twin daughters, who were so alike that you could not tell one from the other; both amiable and intelligent, not pretty, but agreeable in mind and in manner. One of them married John Villiers, and died without leaving any children. Heresister married the brother of the Marquis of Wellesley, who was afterwards Lord Mornington. The second brother, Mr. George Villiers, married an amiable woman, Miss Parker, sister of Lord Borington. We were united by a tender friendship, which, I hope, will resist the attacks of time and absence. Mr. George Villiers had several children. After his death, his eldest son suc-

ceeded to the title of Earl of Clarendon; he was a cabinet minister while still very young, minister plenipotentiary to Madrid, and Viceroy of Ireland. He is now Minister of Foreign Affairs. I always liked him even when he was a child, and I prophesied a great future for him. Lord Clarendon is wealthy, agreeable, and affectionate. I have a great friendship for him, and I hope he will accord to the old friend of his family a little of the interest he inspires in me.

It was at this time that those friendships began which will continue until the last day of my life, and which have made the happiness of a great portion of my existence.

Every one seemed to feel a genuine friendship for us; and when the time for our departure approached, they urged us to take up our abode in the neighbourhood of our new friends. There was a small house to let, at that time, not far from them. M. de Gontaut took it all the more willingly as the hunting season was coming on, and his old passion had revived with renewed ardour. He bought himself a small horse, and would not have missed a hunt for anything in the world. He learned that his nephew, Armand de Gontaut, was at Aix-la-Chapelle, that he had been very ill with small-pox, and had been nursed by the Duchesse de Richelieu, with whom he had left France. M. de Gontaut wrote, urging him to join us as soon as he could travel without danger.

The Duchesse de Richelieu had her two young

daughters with her. After the Restoration the elder married the Comte de Montcalm, the younger the Marquis de Jumilhac.

Madame de Montcalm, then in delicate health, went out very little, but collected about her many friends distinguished for their position or their intellect. Her salon recalled those of former times; people talked together pleasantly there, and never fell into disputes or discussions; they were amiable, with that kindly amiability which public calamities and the bitterness of party spirit have made so rare.

Madame de Jumilhac, more active than her sister, was fond of society, was greatly sought after, and had many true friends; although she was sometimes a little spiteful, people really liked her. She could be very amusing when she liked, and devoted to her friends when she chose to be.

Our nephew, Armand de Gontaut, afterwards Marquis de Biron, soon arrived, and seemed delighted to be able to be with us. He was then what he has always been, a man averse to society, never wishing to go out with us, and preferring his books to his neighbours. He knew English much better than we did, but he would never say a word. He had a good horse, and yet he walked a great deal.

M. de Gontaut took it into his head about this time that his wife ought to hunt. He undertook my education accordingly, and I thought at first I should die of fright. I got accustomed to it at last, however,

and I did even more, — I ended by finding it very amusing; and the horse which was useless to my nephew Armand became for me a source of great pleasure during the hunting-season.

My mother had taken advantage of our stay in Hertfordshire to go and make a visit at Mittau. There were several French families there, among them that of the Duchesse de Polignac, who had her sister-in-law with her, the Vicomtesse de Polastron, my mother's first cousin. I will tell you about her later, my dear children; you shall hear about her great trouble and her death, and you will feel compassion for her, for she suffered so much.

Lady Charlotte Villiers wished to introduce us to the daughters of the Duke of Portland, whose seat, Bulstrode, was not far from us. This family was greatly esteemed throughout the country, and I felt a strong desire to see Lady Charlotte Greville, Lady Mary, and her brothers, who were at Bulstrode at this time.

The Duke of Portland was prime minister; he was very greatly esteemed for his private virtues. He was of Dutch origin. His grandfather had helped to place William, Stadtholder of Holland, on the English throne. The Duke of Portland had a very imposing mien, but he set one at ease by his gracious kindliness and his exceeding courtesy.

Lady Charlotte was just married. She was very young, very graceful and fascinating; the word "charming" seemed made purposely for her. The impression

she produced upon me is still vivid. Fresh as the roses which she bestowed upon me, her black eyes and ebon hair made a delightful contrast to her white and transparent skin; she had a charming smile; she was not tall, nor was she short; she was perfect. I felt drawn towards her at once, and quite at my ease. She asked my opinion of her aunt, Lady Edward. I replied, "She amuses me sometimes, and astonishes me always."

She laughingly replied, "I might have known that."

We promised to meet often; and even now, when I am eighty years old, my heart beats with the hope of going to see her once more, if God will give me the strength for it.

M. Greville, who was older than Lady Charlotte, had been very handsome, and was so still at the time of his marriage. He was very witty, an excellent raconteur, and an admirable mimic. Unfortunately, sometimes in the midst of his most delightful moments, a sudden attack of dyspepsia would cloud over his charming mood, and then — But he was often very kind to me, and I was sorry when we were obliged to part.

Lady Mary, who was younger than Lady Charlotte, was full of freshness, without being exactly pretty. She was good, but cautious and timid, though devoted to her intimate friends. She admired her sister's charms, but could rarely be induced to accompany her into society. She was gentle and always agreeable, and I felt a sincere and tender friendship for her.

This year, which I spent in the county of Hertford, has left a very pleasant impression upon my mind.

My mother came back to London. We were to join her there and to take a little house, close by the Catholic church, which had been recommended to her. What a difference between this and the one we had just left! There was no view from this except the Catholic church-yard,—the last resting-place of our poor fellow countrymen. The dismal bell, and the tears that were shed on these modest tombs, often wrung our hearts.

Our resources were now nearly exhausted, and still there was no news from my grandmother. Seeing my mother so tortured by anxiety, I nearly lost my own courage for a time; but feeling it my duty to sustain and support my poor mother, I resolved to try to earn a few luxuries for our modest establishment by my own labours, and my gaiety returned. I remembered the plan I had formed at Rotterdam, the lessons I had taken, and I set to work. I painted little cupids conquering lions, tigers, and nymphs; happily, these little miniatures were very fashionable then, and my work was very successful. The Government, always ready to furnish the *emigres* with all possible means of helping themselves, and carefully avoiding anything that could wound their pride, had established a bazaar, where all could display their work, without giving their names, and fix their own price.

 M. de Gontaut followed my example; but cupids were not at all in his style. He painted caricatures which were greatly liked, and which amused himself even. My mother made little articles in tatting and worsted work, and the time passed very quickly. Our friends visited us constantly. Such fine carriages had never before been seen in that neighbourhood; for St. Pancras was a poor quarter, at least a mile from the fashionable part of London.

It would be difficult to give you a just idea of the proofs of interest which our new friends lavished upon us. I am sure they would have been delighted to find some way of assisting us; but notwithstanding our gratitude, they could not overcome our proper pride.

By the goodness of Providence, all the friends who were bestowed upon us were models of virtue, and charming in their relations with us as friends. In every case, their devotion has lasted through life, and even at this day I am the object of the most tender affection in the case of a friendship as warm now as it was in the days of our youth.

The disastrous expedition of Quiberon took place in July, 1795. Every one knows the deplorable result. Eighteen hundred *emigres*, fifteen hundred Chouans, the staff-officers, the Bishop of Dol, his brother, and his clergy, being made prisoners, were condemned to death by the National Convention, and executed near D'Auray, in a field which the veneration of the Bretons for these martyrs to fidelity has called the "Field of the Martyrs." King Louis XVIII. erected a monument to the memory of these noble victims, the

inhabitants of that country make pilgrimages thither, and the traveller stops there to pay his tribute of regret and admiration.

The English Government offered to Comte d'Artois the means for trying a second expedition on the coast of Brittany. King Louis XVIII. was informed of it at Venice, and announced to his brother that he would join him very soon. Comte d'Artois lest Southampton on St. Louis' day, accompanied by a multitude of *émigrés*, among whom, my children, were your grandsathers, MM. de Léon and de Gontaut. But, by a statility which seemed to pursue these would-be warriors, one month later the Île Dieu was evacuated, and Monsieur returned to England.

Meanwhile, two English ships, carrying a part of the regiment of Choiseul (commanded by the Duc de Choiseul-Stainville, grandfather of the Duchesse de Fitz-James, and great-grandfather of Marie de Biron), were shipwrecked on the coast of Calais. Among those shipwrecked, besides the Duc de Choiseul, were the Chevalier Thibaut de Montmorency (first husband of your aunt, the Duchesse de Montmorency), and the Marquis de Vibraye, who was one of the gentlemen of Madame la Dauphine during the last years of the Restoration. They were in peril of their lives during the storm, and the peril was not over when they reached the shore by swimming. There they found themselves at the mercy of their fellow-countrymen, now become their enemies. Hardly had they had time to repair

the disorder of their toilettes by putting on some garments they had borrowed, when they were arrested as émigrés taken with arms in their hands, and imprisoned at Calais. Transferred to Lille, they suffered all manner of privations, and all the petty humiliations which the ingenuity of their persecutors could invent. They left their prison in that city only to undergo a captivity of four years and two months at Ham, which ended in 1799. You will be able to understand what they suffered when I tell you that during all this time they were under sentence of death, which, as they knew, might be executed at any moment. They were snatched from their executioners only by the constant vigilance and zeal of their defenders, whose only hope lay in establishing the fact that their shipwreck was not a culpable attempt upon their country, but a misfortune deserving of compassion.

During the early years of the Restoration it became the duty of the Chevalier, afterwards Comte de Montmorency, aide-de-camp of the Duc d'Orléans, on a reception day at the Palais Royal, to present to the Prince General Pille, who had suggested handcuffing the shipwrecked prisoners on their way from Lille to Ham. The Comte de Montmorency, having announced the General, could not resist adding in a low tone: "Monseigneur, he is the man who wanted to handcuff me at Lille."

The year of our sojourn at St. Pancras having at length come to an end, we decided to give up this house

and our perpetual view of the churchyard. We therefore removed our little establishment to a gayer and more healthful quarter on the edge of a pretty meadow, open to the south, and not far from our friends.

After several months spent at Five-Field, Pimlico, I became the mother of my two little daughters, whom I brought into the world on the 9th of October, 1796. I nursed them both myself, our means not permitting us to have two nurses in our little establishment, and I felt courage enough to undertake this double task. Born at seven months and a half, their frail existence required my care day and night. When the dear children were asleep in my arms, I felt how great a blessing God had bestowed upon me, even while trembling for their lives. Whenever a ray of sunshine would permit, I would carry their little cradle out into the meadows. My friends came to see us every day; it seemed as if their interest and affection for me were only increased by the knowledge of my troubles.

When M. de Gontaut lest France he had sent full powers to his brother to collect his revenues, and asked him to try to find some means of sending him as much money as possible; but the strict laws of that time would not admit of it.

In 1793 the Duc de Biron was arrested (we had to deplore the services which he thought he ought to render to his country), and, hoping to save his life, asked the Marquis de Gontaut to procure for him a considerable sum, offering in exchange funds which he had deposited

in the Bank of England. Persuaded that this proposition could only be of service to us, my brother-in-law consented, and received the title to this sum, but could not get it conveyed to us, nor inform us of the fact. All communication with England was not only difficult, but dangerous. The Duc de Biron was guillotined on the 31st of December, 1793. We heard afterwards the only reason why my brother-in-law did not write to us. He was in prison together with my sister-in-law, and they remained there until the death of Robespierre, in July, 1794.

On the morning of that memorable day they heard the fact of their condemnation cried in the street, and, both praying to God, they awaited the moment when the fatal *charrette* should come for them. A friend of theirs, Madame Dubois de Lamotte, who was to inform them, by a concerted signal, of any important event, put a great placard out of the dormer window opposite their prison. On this they suddenly read the words: "Robespierre is dead;" and they knew they were saved.

## CHAPTER III.

My Journey to France. — Return to England. — Monsieur in Scotland. — Departure of my Mother for Paris, and our Return to Scotland. — Windsor and King George III. — Anecdotes of the Maréchal de Biron.

HAVE now reached, my dear children, a very interesting period of my life.

My mother and M. de Gontaut could not go to France, the names of both being inscribed on that fatal list of *emigrés*, and they lamented greatly having no safe method of procuring the funds made over to them by M. de Biron. To whom could they confide such a secret? Who would be willing to undertake a mission as delicate as it was dangerous? I must be that person, I said. I had thought it all over, and had decided to obtain their consent.

My little girls were very much stronger, and the physician who watched over them with friendly interest warned my husband that it was time for me to stop nursing them. It was evidently sapping my strength, although I would not acknowledge it. Josephine, the elder of my dear daughters, was then nine months old, and was weaned by the doctor's advice. Charlotte, who was more delicate, had a strong and excellent nurse.

I submitted as soon as I perceived that this sacrifice had become a duty.

"There is another duty which it will be sweet to me to perform," I said to M. de Gontaut, "that of trying to make myself useful to you and my mother. Let me go. I wish it; and I shall have the courage for it."

Touched by my devotion, M. de Gontaut made no more opposition, and my journey was decided upon.

The agents of the different countries were at that time carrying on a thriving business in passports, which they sold at a high price to persons who, like myself, desired to go to France. On my arrival at Dover one of these opportunities very soon offered itself, which the agents declared to M. de Gontaut was almost a miracle. A passport was delivered to him; they wrote out a description of me, giving me the name of Madame François, a shopkeeper going to France on business. The captain assured M. de Gontaut that the consul from Hamburg, Mr. Schimmelpenninck, knew the parents of Madame François, and would receive her cordially in case she should find it necessary to apply to him for assistance.

I was ready in a few moments, and my heart felt very heavy as I embraced my dear children. But I comforted myself with the hope that I might soon have it in my power to help all my dear ones.

When I went on board the small boat which was to take us across, I did not see a single person of my acquaintance. It is true, however, that I thought very little about it. One Englishman came and spoke to me; perceiving that I spoke both English and French, he asked me if I would not interpret for him. I promised him I would; and he was very grateful, as he was going to France on very important business.

Of course there was a great deal of uninteresting chattering going on, as usual on such a voyage; but one conversation that I heard I found very amusing. A very commonplace woman, fearing what might happen when she arrived at Calais, was bewailing herself for having such a well-known name, for having emigrated, so to speak, and having often been at Calais.

"Good heavens!" she said; "it is no joke for me to go back there. If I could only change my name, I should be glad enough!"

A lady who was lying down beside her eagerly offered to do her this favour.

"Let us change names, Madame," she said. "Mine is quite at your service. I beg you to tell me yours."

"Roussin, Madame; a very well known name, as you can perceive."

"Well known! Oh, no doubt," replied the other; but as I have never been in Calais, I shall be perfectly safe."

Madame Roussin was greatly delighted, and changed passports with the other, reading aloud that of Citoyenne Coigny.

"Couny, Couny! oh, that can't compromise me; but there is one difficulty. I have a habit of winking my eyes very fast, which is written down on my passport; and you do not do it."

"Oh, no matter," said the Marquise de Coigny; "I will blink too."

Another lady seemed very anxious to remain unnoticed, and I discovered afterwards who she was. I was mistaken for her, which put me in a very cruel position, as you will see.

The weather was good, the wind in our favour, and we arrived in good time. The boat was signalled to stop before she entered the harbour, and the commissioners came on board to take our passports, which they examined. They spoke very low as they asked me my name, and as I repeated the lesson I had learned by heart, I saw a scowl on the face of the commissioners. They went away, and the vessel drew into port; but they soon came back, accompanied by two soldiers. The passengers disembarked on the wharf, but they kept me to the last.

"Take your portmanteau," they said to me, very rudely.

I had great difficulty in dragging it after me as I descended a ladder to the wharf; there they marched me off between two soldiers, and I arrived at the office of the Comité de Salut Public.

The very name of this tribunal made me shudder; nothing could be more terrifying than the aspect of the men who filled the office and seemed to be judges. I shivered as I looked at them. They were busy making

out passports; I was standing between the two soldiers, and did not in the least comprehend why I was singled out for such an honour. At last one of the employés, who seemed to be at the head of affairs, as he wore a tricolored scarf and a Henri Quatre hat with feathers, said to me,—

"Approach, Citoyenne."

Then my examination began.

- "Who gave you this passport?"
- "My husband."
- "What is your name?"
- "Madame François, lace-merchant, going to Paris on business."
- "That may be, but where did this passport come from?"
  - "I do not know."
- "Give an account of yourself in a clear, audible voice."
- "I was at Dover, and I wished to start as soon as possible. My husband learned this very morning that a boat in the harbour was about to sail for Calais, the weather was good, all my preparations were soon made, and I started with the passport he gave me, without even opening it."
  - "What is your husband doing at Dover?"
  - "He is waiting for me."
- "Citoyenne, this is a very serious affair; you are suspected of being an *émigrée*."
- "I am too young for that; I could not be on any proscribed list."

"But it is said that you are a great lady, a rich *émigrée*, wife of a cordon bleu."

"I give you my word of honour that I am neither rich nor the wife of a cordon bleu. Look at my portmanteau; that is all my fortune," I added, with a smile.

They laughed, and the gentleman with the feathers repeated: "It is a very serious matter; you cannot be allowed to go; your passport is false, and the date is false; the person who is supposed to have signed this at Hamburg was at that time in Calais, as I can prove to you."

Madame Grandsire, who kept a hotel in the town, was sent for; she declared that the person in question had really lodged with her at the time the passport was dated. I thought of referring to the Hamburg consul at Paris, and assured them that he knew my family very well. But the only reply I got was the announcement that I was under arrest, under the surveillance of the Committee of Public Safety, and that they would appoint a guard who would be responsible for me.

"Oh, gentlemen, I entreat you to put me under the surveillance of Madame here." I said.

They consented to this, but on condition that I should have a bailiff lodging there at my expense, and that I should be put into a room with a judas."

"Oh," I exclaimed, "don't put me in a room with a judas, I beg of you! You may shut me up as much as you like, but not with a judas; the very word makes me shiver."

They now allowed me to withdraw, accompanied by Madame Grandsire and the sentinel. I was just leaving the room when the Englishman who had begged me to interpret for him informed me of the object of his voyage. It was Mr. Fulton (the inventor of the steamboat). He had been recommended to M. Barthélemy, then one of the directors of the French Republic. His name seemed to procure for him some consideration.

Madame Grandsire gave me a good room, showed some interest in me, and told me that she thought the commissioners had received an account of me before my arrival; but that she felt sure there must be some mistake, and she would do all she could to clear it up.

The judas which had so terrified me was a small opening through which the prisoners could be watched from the outside. The next day I learned through Madame Grandsire that the great lady, wife of the cordon bleu, was the Comtesse de Montboissier. This mistake enabled her to escape.

I passed three cruel weeks at Calais, being called up constantly before the tribunal, and questioned over and over again. I was very uneasy at receiving no news from the consul, and began to suspect that their evident malice had been carried so far as to intercept my letters or the answers. I related my troubles to my good hostess, who tried to help me as much as possible. She did succeed in obtaining some favours for me, — that of dining at the table d'hôte beside her, and of placing at the door of the hôtel a sentinel who was responsible

for me, instead of the Argus of the police, whose presence drove me nearly frantic.

Mr. Fulton had taken a genuine interest in me. They showed him some consideration on account of his reference to M. Barthélemy. Having discovered by some means or other that my condition was growing worse, and that they were planning to send me to Paris under arrest, he invented a hundred ways of assisting me to escape. The one which seemed to him the easiest and the simplest, he came in all haste to communicate to me. I will translate our conversation. He knocked at the door, and, looking through the little *judas*, saw me writing.

- " Madame François," he said, "listen to me."
- I listened.
- "You are in a very bad way, and I have come to save you."
- "A thousand thanks; but have the goodness to explain."
- "They are going to take you to Paris and put you in prison there, and once there you are lost. Now listen to what I have to say. Nothing could be easier than to save you from this danger; nothing could be more simple: marry me, do marry me."
  - "Oh, thank you; but I am married already."
- "Oh, what a pity, what a pity! I would make you rich. I am going to make my fortune in Paris. I have invented a steamboat, and I am going to set the whole world going. Besides, I have invented a way of blowing

up an enemy's fleet by means of submarine boats; nothing could be easier. And it will be quite as easy to save you; only say the word, and I will go and claim you. I will marry you, and that will be the end of it."

I thanked him as seriously as I could: His little plan seemed to him so simple, and he proposed it so kindly and heartily, that while I laughed I could not help feeling grateful to him. I begged him not to trouble himself any more about me, assuring him that Providence and my own good cause would be the means of saving me. He sighed, and departed.

That same day Madame Grandsire confirmed the statement Mr. Fulton had made. The president of the committee had at last appeared to take an interest in my situation; he confided to her that they were going to propose to send me under guard to Paris (on the pretext of facilitating my liberation), and he added that he would promise me to withhold his consent, because something was about to happen which might make some change in the aspect of affairs. This was the approaching arrival at Calais of the delegates from the English Government, going to Lille or Amiens for the conference preliminary to making peace.

Madame Grandsire told me their names, and I was overwhelmed with joy, for they were our intimate friends, Lord Malmesbury, Lord Granville, and Sir Henry Wellesley (afterwards Lord Cowley).

I had no doubt that as they passed through Dover they would have seen M. de Gontaut, who was sure

to have sent me a letter by them. Madame Grandsire told me that as soon as Lord Malmesbury arrived, I must write him a few lines, which she would undertake to transmit to him. She even carried her kindness so far as to do everything in her power to obtain for me an interview with him, but on condition that I should remain Madame François to every one, as well as to her. It was under this name, therefore, that I asked for a secret interview with Lord Malmesbury.

In a moment of folly he confided to his attachts that he was to have a rendezvous with a beautiful woman; but wishing to carry out the role of a discreet though favoured lover, he begged them to withdraw. They, on the contrary, vowed that they would conceal themselves, and hear everything.

Madame Grandsire, though feeling the imprudence into which her great kindness was plunging her, tried to keep everything as secret as possible. She muffled me up in the perruke, hat, and redingote of her husband, and I was a frightful object to behold. She gave me her arm, and we passed the sentry without attracting his attention.

Lord Malmesbury was, or believed himself to be, alone. I made my entrance into a large salon dimly lighted. Madame Grandsire, who had promised not to leave me, went forward and said,—

" My Lord, here is my prisoner."

He was certainly very far from expecting to see a

person of my singular aspect, and he retreated a few steps. The attachés burst out laughing, and came forward. Then I threw off my hat and wig, and holding out my hands to my friends, I asked them for news of my family: They had spent the night at Dover, but had neither seen nor heard anything of M. de Gontaut. What a cruel disappointment! Then all was explained. As soon as they recognized me, they told me how anxious they were on my account, and tried to think of some way by which they might assist me to escape. None of these plans meeting with my approbation, they proposed to conceal me in one of their carriages to get me out of the city.

"But then what would you do with me?" I inquired. I at length made them see that the only service which they could render me was to transmit a letter from me to Mr. Schimmelpenninck, since no one else could help me. To see him, to speak with him, was my only means of safety; and of that they finally became convinced.

Lord Malmesbury promised that immediately on his arrival at Lille he would carry out my wishes, and charged himself with a letter which I was to send to him by Madame Grandsire. We separated. I returned to my little room, and in a few days I had proof of the kind care of my friends. A letter came from the consul, and I was summoned before the committee, where I could already perceive a change in their manner towards me, —a certain respectfulness to which I was by

no means accustomed. They signed the order for my departure, only insisting upon the necessity for my being accompanied by the fatal guard until my humble person was given up to the hands of my rescuer, Mr. Schimmelpenninck.

Madame Grandsire, greatly delighted, helped me to make preparations for my departure. After we had promised not to lose sight of one another, she at length put me into the carriage, still accompanied by my guard, whose presence had not only become quite insupportable to me, but was also ruinous to my purse; this not a little increasing my anxiety as to my future fate.

The carriages of that period were called "coaches," and we were two days and one night on the road before reaching Paris. I was taken straight to the consul. After the usual formalities, I found myself tête-à-tête with the best and most compassionate of men. I was greatly agitated, and the weight on my conscience was very heavy. To deceive this good man was impossible for me. It would have been a comfort to me to say to him: "No, I am not what you think; I do not belong to the family whom you know. I am a poor woman who has come here to try and procure a better fate for her mother, her husband, her children. She is neither an impostor nor a stranger. Have pity upon her, for she would not deceive you for anything in the world."

He understood all I would say from these few words: "Oh, let me open my heart to you, and then I will say to you, 'Help me!'"

He seemed greatly touched, and soothed me by saying, --

"I will do all in my power for you; it is little, but it will be enough. I will give you a carte de sûreté. Go now; and if you need any assistance, come to me at any time. Remember that you have friends who are watching over you, and that I shall not lose sight of you; so have no more fear."

He advised me to go to the Hôtel des Diligences, and from there to write to my friends, which I did. I asked for the plainest room they had, as my means were quite exhausted. I did not dare to tell any one, as I hoped to get money and assistance from my relatives; but after paying for everything, I had only five francs left.

When I reached the hotel I wrote to my brother-inlaw that Josephine, now Madame François, had come to Paris on business, asking him, if it were possible, to come to the Hôtel des Diligences, No. 1, under the archway, as soon as he received this letter. I addressed the letter to Citoyen Gontaut, and asked the commissionnaire to return as soon as possible with the answer.

I had a long time to wait, and my consternation was great when he brought me back my letter open, and said,—

"They don't know you in that house, Citoyenne, most of them have gone to the Pyrenees, and the rest I don't know where. They gave me back the letter, and that is all."

"To whom did you give it?" I asked, choking with emotion.

"When I got to the door they sent me upstairs, and I gave it to a gentleman, who said when he had read it: 'I do not know this person, and I will give you back the letter.' He didn't seem pleased. Is n't there anything more I can do for you?"

I had written another letter to my grandmother, which I gave him. I entreated her to receive Josephine, — Madame François. I addressed it to the Rue Royale, that is, to the Rue de la Révolution, and then sat down to wait again, deeply agitated at the thought that after so much suffering I was about to see again my dear good grandmother, and the house where I had been so happy.

The messenger returned, and this time my heart was quite broken; for he held my letter in his hand, and throwing it down on the table, he said: "You are only making me ridiculous by giving me commissions like that! The old lady has n't been there for a long time. Most of the people in that house have been guillotined; and then after the *émigrés* left it, it was plundered, and it has been sold and resold, and now it is filled with people who do not know you. That is all the porter could tell me, and I want two francs for the two messages."

I gave them to him. I wanted to be alone. I shut my door, threw myself on my knees, and prayed to God for courage to sustain me in this desperate state of affairs. What would become of me? To whom should I apply? Who would have compassion on me? What could I do without any resources except my two francs?

Overwhelmed by the burden of these thoughts, and worn out by fatigue, I remained on my knees, with my head on my hands, leaning against my poor chair. Would any one believe it? In this position I went to sleep, and slept so soundly that it was night when I was awakened by a voice which at the first moment sounded like the voice of my husband. I listened, and heard these words: "It was certainly No. I, under the archway. Madame François; I cannot be mistaken."

I heard the porter's assurance that there was no Madame François in the house, and I opened the door, and by the light of the street-lamp I recognized my brother-in-law. I uttered a cry; but he signed to me to be careful, and began to talk about the husiness which had brought me here.

As soon as we were alone, he exclaimed: "What folly! What utter imprudence! You here alone! My brother evidently does not know what our position has been. Is he unaware of our imprisonment and condemnation to death? This visit would compromise us horribly if any one should discover who you are. You call yourself Madame François, and that is all very well; but what are you going to do? Where are you going?"

"I hoped to go to my grandmother; but I have only just received back the letter I sent to her. All trace of her seems to be lost."

"As for your grandmother," he replied, "you may

reassure yourself; she is living quietly at Fontainebleau. Now let us consider your position."

Then I explained to him the object of my journey, and related the great difficulties which I had encountered on the way. He became greatly interested in my story, and we tried together to think of the most simple method of getting me into the Hôtel de Gontaut. We agreed that it would be better for me to enter by the garden from the Boulevards; that after having seen my sister-in-law, Madame de Ganges, he would take me back to my hotel, would procure for me a carte de sâreté under my maiden name of Montaut, and would afterwards go to Montgermont to announce my arrival to my sister-in-law, the Marquise de Gontaut. His people, who had known me with my mother during our trip to the Pyrenees, would find me still passing under the name of Mademoiselle Montaut.

Two days later I set off in a small diligence, and arrived at Ponthierry, where my sister-in-law's carriage met me, and took me on to Montgermont. I enjoyed under this hospitable roof all the happiness which friendship and the support of my family could afford me.

I was very fond of my sister-in-law, and had often regretted our separation. She received me like a real sister. Alas! we neither of us had one. Our meeting now only bound us more closely together. How many questions we had to ask, how many things to tell! The two days we spent together passed too quickly by far, but I could not bear to delay my meeting with my

grandmother. I had written to her on my arrrival, and she was impatiently awaiting me. At last we met: it was indeed a happy moment. I found her greatly aged, and her eyes told of severe suffering. I tried to soften the memory of this by speaking of the probability of a speedy reunion with my mother. She had received no letters from her since those sent from Coblentz before the defeat of our army. She did not know of my marriage, or the birth of my children. She listened to my story with eagerness and emotion. We discussed her future; she did not like Fontainebleau, where she had suffered so much, and wished to return to Paris to settle down near some church or convent, which she hoped might be re-established.

During the ten days of our stay together, she summoned all her strength to make me understand the cruel sufferings she had endured. I admired her saintly resignation. She began her narrative from the time of our departure, beginning with the confiscations and arrest of our friends; the preparations for the flight of the royal family were known to her, their cruel arrest, their return to Paris, the frightful treatment to which they had been subjected, the captivity in the Temple, and the death of the King, and then the deathagony of the Queen and Madame Elisabeth. Many details of which we were ignorant filled my heart with sadness; my grandmother had known it all, and had witnessed nearly all of it. Then the arrest of her brother, of her son, snatched from her very arms! The

impossibility of learning their fate, of being reduced to the necessity of searching the funeral cars which carried the condemned to the scaffold, for those who were dear to her! Not to see them in the charrette was to inspire the unhappy mother with the hope that another day of life had been granted to them. At last the agonising moment came: she heard from a distance the familiar. dreaded sound of the car of death approaching; she shuddered, but looked eagerly for what she sought; she saw them, and uttered a frightful shriek! Here the poor mother was unable to go on, and her faithful companion told me that they heard, or thought they heard, in the Place Louis XV. the falling of the fatal knife which cut short the days of her brother and son. She did not go mad, but she thought she should die; and then, in the course of time, this angel of sweetness and resignation was able to find in prayer a solace for her woes.

My father's property, a part of which consisted of the house in the Rue Royale, had been confiscated; my grandmother was still occupying the house when it was seized. She left it, and found herself in the street, without knowing where to go, taking with her a picture of her daughter and a few poor things which her maid had been able to conceal about her. Some one took compassion on them, and conducted them to Fontainebleau.

"In the midst of this horrible and tragic period," she said, "I had one slight consolation in learning that M. Durvey had sent to the King, just before his departure,

a considerable sum of money which his devoted friends had placed at his disposal,"—a sum which included a part of my dowry, given with my mother's consent. The King replied; "I always knew her father's attachment to me, and I am deeply sensible of her mother's devotion." These sums, alas! did not avail to save our unhappy King.

My grandmother, continuing her recital, related to me the savage cruelty of the Jacobins; the courage of the women and young girls; how all France had become a prison, children and old men being alike condemned to death; the order, given publicly, to exterminate the Vendéans; and, finally, the unheard-of fanaticism which persecuted even Christianity! Since then no one had dared to utter the name of God, for whom the worship of the Goddess of Reason had been substituted. Then came Robespierre, whose reign, alas! is only too well known. At length he was put to death, on the 9th Thermidor, 1794.

"During all this time," continued my grandmother, "the *émigrés* in the armies of Condé had performed prodigies of useless valour; the conduct of the priests has been admirable beyond expression: they all preferred death to renouncing their faith; their enemies never succeeded in wearing out their patience (*désoler leur patience*, an expression of the time). But at length, my dear child," said my grandmother, "I can see some hope of a new era. France is beginning to weary of factions, and to feel the need of law and of a

ruler. I have received letters from a friend of your mother's who speaks of a young soldier who has gained a wonderful ascendancy over the army by his talents and his energy, and has wrought miracles in Italy. She speaks as if I ought to know him. Help me with your youthful memory, and tell me, my dear child, whether you remember a young officer who was a foreigner, and was sent to your father while he was at the military school?"

"Oh, I remember very well," I said, "and I can even tell you his history. When my father was building his house at the end of the Rue Royale, opposite the Garde-Meuble of the Crown, the Marquis de Tinbrune, Governor of the Military School, lent to my parents a large apartment, with a balcony looking on the Champs de Mars.<sup>1</sup>

"They were to occupy it until their own house was habitable; a friend of my father, of whom he often spoke, the Comte de Marbeuf, asked him to obtain permission for the son of one of his friends to be transferred as soon as possible from Brienne to the Military School of Paris. My father had some difficulty in managing the affair; but as soon as he had obtained the promise, he sent for the young man to come and see

At this period a very grand ceremony took place in the chapel of the Military School. His Royal Highness the Comte de Provence, Son of France, Grand Master of the Royal Order of St. Lazare, Jerusalem, Bethlehem, Nazareth, received with great pomp, as commanders of this order, my father, the Comte de Montaut, the Duc de la Chastre, and Chevalier the Vicomte d'Agoult. Later on, when Louis XVIIL was in Russia, he sent the grand ribbon of the Order of St. Lazare to the Emperor Paul L, who often wore it during the ceremonies.

my mother. I remember the day he first wore his uniform. My mother liked him very much, and had him to dinner every Sunday, telling him laughingly that he had a head (which, by the way, I considered very handsome). They permitted me to come to dessert, and I slipped in between him and my mother. One day I tried to draw his sword, whereupon he gave me a tap on the knuckles, saying,—

- "'That is not to be touched.'"
- "Do you remember his name?" inquired my grandmother.
  - "Oh, yes, very well. It was Napoleon Bonaparte."
  - "Then that is the man," she said.

The moment for leaving Fontainebleau had come. I accompanied my good grandmother to Paris, but the final separation grieved me greatly. I had already, although so young, encountered many trials in my way through life; but having borne them with resignation, they had not made me hard or bitter.

Until now, I had not been able to take any steps towards the furtherance of the object for which I had risked so much, and I was greatly disturbed at this. I reached Paris quite uncertain of any shelter, even for the first day, my brother-in-law having spoken in his letters only of the preparations he was making for the establishment of my grandmother. We were to meet at the Abbaye-aux-Bois. We arrived there. Everything was arranged according to my grandmother's wishes; her little cell was ready; she seemed quite satisfied, and

was grateful to my brother-in-law for his kindness. He arrived almost as soon as we did, and his first words set my doubts at rest. He brought me a letter from my sister-in-law, kindly and gracious as herself, asking me to occupy her apartment at the Hôtel de Gontaut, assuring me that if I were prudent I should be quite safe there under the name of Mademoiselle de Montaut. I promised my dear good grandmother that I would come and see her every day; then I went away with my brother to live in the fine old family mansion. The poor stranger was happy at being so tenderly welcomed, and in her heart thanked the divine Providence which seemed to watch over her.

I found also in Paris my sister-in-law De Ganges; she was very good and kind, and took pleasure in escorting me to the rooms which had been made ready for me. The next morning when I woke up, I thought I must still be dreaming; the principal apartment of this delightful house was superb, looking out on a pretty garden full of flowers, while this garden opened on the Boulevards. The bedroom, painted in arabesques of charming design; the gildings and mirrors without number, - all made it seem like an enchanted palace. I had a maid to wait upon me, and I said to myself, "If it is a dream, I wish it might last forever." But the memory of Dover and those dear ones who were awaiting me there, banished the nymphs and cupids from my thoughts, and I could only occupy myself with my serious affairs.

My brother-in-law made known to me the sad condition of my fortune and that of my mother, - a situation which my grandmother had already explained to me. The condition of M. de Gontaut's fortune was more satisfactory. There was a hope that the unsold property of the *émigrés* might be redeemed as soon as the names of the proprietors were effaced from that fatal list, and steps had already been taken in favour of M. de Gontaut. He afterwards explained to me the transactions which had taken place between the Duc de Biron and my husband, by which he received a sum in the English funds equivalent to an amount of ready money given M. de Biron in Paris. All the papers being ready, there remained nothing more for me to do in Paris but to pay a farewell visit to Mr. Schimmelpenninck, who had assured me that he would have a passport ready for me when I wished to depart.

I found this excellent man most obliging, and ready to serve me with the same discretion as before. I was very grateful to him, and thanked him warmly.

The friends in our circle had heard of my arrival, and now came to see me. They all gave me letters and commissions, which I was quite ready to undertake. I was glad to have it in my power to be useful to the poor exiles, and should have felt ashamed to refuse one of them. A little later, however, I felt that I had committed a great imprudence; if I had been stopped and searched at the moment of my departure, I should perhaps have been sent to prison or to Cayenne.

I was delighted to meet my old friends once more. The Mesdemoiselles d'Andlau were married, — one to M. d'Orglandes; the other to M. de Rosambo, grandson of M. de Malesherbes, that brave and noble defender of King Louis XVI. I met also the Duchesse de Richelieu and her daughters, and many others.

My brother-in-law took pleasure in showing Paris to his "little country cousin." One day, when we were crossing the Boulevards, I saw Mr. Fulton. He saw me too, and came to meet me.

"Dear me, dear me! Madame François!"

He seized both my hands, even the one that was resting on my brother's arm, shook them, and pressed them in his rough, frank American style.

"Dear me, Madame François, how glad I am to see you!"

My brother-in-law thought this very extraordinary, and said to him, —

"Monsieur, the person to whom you have the honour of speaking is Mademoiselle de Montaut."

"No, no, it is Madame François. She is married; she told me so at Calais. But what did you say? Mademoiselle What? Mademoiselle de Montaut."

He took out his tablets and wrote down Mademoiselle de Montaut, and put them back in his pocket. Then he immediately began on the subject with which his mind was filled.

"Monsieur, you see I have come to Paris for a sublime thing, — to blow up vessels in the air, to run boats under the rivers and by steam." Upon this announcement my brother thought he was absolutely mad; and, cutting short the conversation, he bowed to him, and we never saw him again.

The valuable documents which I was to take home to M. de Gontaut having been intrusted to me, I made all possible arrangements for transporting them safely, as well as the quantity of letters of which I had taken charge, and even a little money. I intended, after the family breakfast, to go and spend the rest of the last day of my stay in Paris with my grandmother; it was the 4th of September (18th Fructidor, 1797). My nephew, M. de La Valette, came and knocked at my door to ask if I had heard the cannon fired on the Pont Neuf as a signal. Perceiving that I did not understand him, he informed me of what was passing in Paris, - the Château des Tuileries surrounded, the sentinels removed, the guards disarmed, placards put up all over Paris, announcing the great royalist conspiracy of Pichegru; they were talking even in the streets of condemning to death all the returned émigrés.

"A universal terror," he said to me, "seems to have seized upon the city. My uncle charged me to warn you to make instant preparations for your departure; he has gone to find some means of conveyance for you, so you may start as soon as possible. They are talking of domiciliary visits, and you have not a moment to lose."

He lest me, and my brother-in-law returned; having found a courier who was just starting for Calais, he had taken a place for me with him. He told me that they were talking of arresting Pichegru and Barthélemy, both of whom were agents of Louis XVIII. He thought it a matter of the utmost importance that I should be saved from a domiciliary visit. I was ready to start in a moment.

As we left my room, we met the Marquise de Coigny, almost beside herself with terror; she had come in through the garden, and was half dead with fear. My brother-in-law told her that the Hôtel de Gontaut, being in such a conspicuous situation, was a bad hiding-place.

"Oh, no, it is perfect," she said. "Your sister-in-law is going out by the door, and every one will see her; while I came in by the window, and no one saw me."

So she got what she desired; they put her upon a very high shelf in a closet lighted only by a small window on the staircase, where some hours later she heard with a shudder the agents of the police inquiring for me. The servants all declared that Mademoiselle de Montaut had left Paris to return to the country, and Madame de Coigny got off with nothing worse than her fright.

But she ran another risk,—that of starving; my brother-in-law had concealed her so thoroughly that he forgot all about her, and she saw luncheon-time and dinner-time pass by without daring to make the slightest sign of distress; it was not until midnight that: he happened to remember her.

My brother-in-law took me to the coach-office, where everything was ready for departure; he put me into a post-chaise with only two wheels, drawn by two horses, with a postilion. At each relay the shafts flew up into the air, making our position excessively disagreeable. When I had taken my place beside the courier, I perceived, to my dismay, that he was dead drunk, and two pistols at his back completed my fright. I took advantage of his drunken sleep to put them outside of the door. Happily for me, at the first small town my fears were quieted by the arrival of two travelling-companions,—a very respectable man and woman,— and we reached Calais without any accident.

I hastened to the Hôtel Grandsire. My kind hostess was delighted to hear of the successful issue of my journey, and I told her what had happened in Paris. She informed me that, very fortunately for me, a packet-boat was just about to leave Calais; I hastened to take advantage of this opportunity, and it was with great joy that I started for Dover, where I could so easily forget all the vicissitudes of this dangerous journey.

The passage from Calais to Dover was smooth and short, and I could say to my mother and my husband: "My task is fulfilled; and I return joyfully to those who are dearest to me in this whole world."

My children knew me, and I blessed God as I pressed them once more to my heart. This was one of the happiest moments of my life. M. de Gontaut was greatly touched at learning that in the midst of so many dangers his brother had never lost sight of the interests he had intrusted to him; he would have rejoiced in the hope of a return and a reunion with his family, if it had not been for that 18th Fructidor, which brought with it the fear of fresh outbreaks.

To me fell the painful task of confirming the fears which my angelic mother already entertained with regard to the loss of our fortune. Her saintly resignation was not shaken, however, and she said as she embraced me: "The loss of fortune is easy to bear when the heart does not suffer."

The bracing sea air had been ordered for my children, and we decided to take a small house near Dover. By a happy chance, Mr. and Mrs. Villiers were established in the neighbourhood, at Deal Castle, which had been lent to them by Mr. Pitt. I found Mrs. Villiers just the same as ever, overflowing with gaiety and wit, and our intimacy grew into a strong affection.

Her salon at Deal was very agreeable; her sister and her friends visited her frequently; we made the acquaintance there of Mrs. Bouvraie, her sister, Mrs. Wilmot, Henry and Gerald Wellesley, the Duke of Grafton, Mr. Arbuthnot, etc.

Mr. Pitt, who was then prime minister, often spent his Saturdays and Sundays there, to forget politics, as he said. As his politics belong to history, I will only undertake to speak of himself; he was cold and silent, but he was an attentive listener, and was very fond of hearing us talk French.

Previous to my journey to France there had been but little communication between the two countries, so that the stories they made me relate to them possessed a peculiar interest. At first, Mr. Pitt's piercing eyes turned steadily upon me caused me some embarrassment; but I soon got accustomed to them. He would often ask me to read to him a few pages of "Télémaque;" he was enthusiastic over the discourses of Mentor. I never heard him speak a word of French, until one day, to my great astonishment, as he was driving me out in his phaeton, he repeated the tirades of his beloved Mentor, with a perfect French accent.

At a later period, I made the acquaintance of Mr. Sheridan at the house of Mrs. Bouvraie. He was very witty, no doubt, but I preferred the calmness and solidity of Mr. Pitt.

The London season having begun, we were cut off from this very agreeable circle of friends, and it was with great regret that we parted from them. We had found Dover also very agreeable; my mother liked it, and M. de Gontaut often met acquaintances and friends as they came and went between Dover and Calais. I remember, among others, MM. Alexandre and Bruno de Boisgelin, who spent several days with us, as well as many others.

The King, Louis XVIII., was then at Grodno; but he had a great desire to come to England. To this end he sent Monsieur thither to obtain permission for him to seek shelter in this kingdom. But the Emperor Paul having proposed that he should settle at Mittau, with the other members of the royal family, he felt that he could not refuse, although it was the desire of his heart to be as near to France as possible. Monsieur departed

for London; and the King for Russia, both hoping to meet again soon.

Scarcely had the Prince reached London when the furnishers of the army of Condé, whether rightly or wrongly, claimed from him a very large sum, which they declared was owing to them. Monsieur refused to pay this debt, having no knowledge of it; they threatened him with the law: a law-suit would have cost a large amount, which the Prince was unable to pay. The English minister gave him the sensible advice not to engage in interminable difficulties, but to go at once and secretly to the palace of Holyrood in Scotland, there to await a decision with regard to the matter.

This palace, privileged by law, is a sanctuary in which those who occupy it are secure from any legal proceedings which may be brought against them. The Prince Regent offered it to him, had it furnished, and tried in every possible way to soften the gloom of this beautiful palace; but they are right who say that "no prison is beautiful."

The palace of Holyrood, as well as the park, was spacious; the governor lodged there, and many Scottish families, who made an agreeable circle. Monsieur could not go beyond the park limits except on Sunday,— a day on which the law permits no arrests to be made.

The apartment set apart for Monsieur was that of the kings of Scotland. He established himself in it, accompanied only by Comte François Descars and the Chevalier de Puységur. As soon as it became known for

what reason Monsieur was obliged to remain in Scotland, many persons who were attached to him came there from Russia, from Germany, and from London. Among them were the Comte and Comtesse, the Vicomte and Vicomtesse de Vaudreuil, the Comte de Coigny, father of the pretty Duchesse de Fleury, the Baron de Rolles, Mesdames de Page, de Poulpry, the Duchesse de Guiche with her husband, and the Vicomtesse de Polastron, her aunt, Armand de Polignac, the Marquis de Polignac, and many others.

Just as we were thinking of leaving Dover, my husband received a kind and pressing letter from Monsieur, asking us to come and join him in his solitude. We decided to go at once. My mother went first, and we followed shortly after, M. de Gontaut driving a little phaeton, in which were bestowed my two daughters, my maid, and myself, with only one horse for us all; this is how we undertook that long journey from Dover to Edinburgh, which lasted a fortnight. Occasionally we would rest for a day, either to enjoy the sight of a fine park or a Catholic church. I thought the journey delightful. My dear children, you will call me an optimist, I am sure, satisfied with whatever comes. Well, I confess it; and it is a gift from Heaven for which I give thanks to God.

I must confess, however, that the arrival at Edinburgh was dismal enough. Holyrood House is situated in the very heart of the old town, the worst and most unhealthy quarter of Edinburgh. This palace, dark and gloomy

and guarded like a citadel, seemed to me like a prison.

Monsieur saw us arrive in the courtyard with our equipage, and came to meet us with the frank graciousness peculiar to him, thanking us for having undertaken this journey on his account. I was tempted to throw myself on my knees before him, so greatly was I touched by his calm and noble resignation. He said to me: "Your mother is awaiting you. I am not in my own house, and consequently cannot ask my friends to come to me; but I do ask them not to establish themselves very far away. That is your lodging, in the square; we have a little French colony there, and, by the grace of God, the days will pass." He asked my husband to come and dine with him whenever he liked; but having a very modest establishment, he only invited ladies to tea in the evening.

An arrival was an event, and all the greatest families of that noble Scotland hastened to greet us. I made it my duty, as it was also my pleasure, to attend the soirles of our Prince. The Duc de Berry arrived soon after we did, with several Frenchmen. He loved music, and we had a good deal of it. The Vicomtesse de Vaudreuil, who was a good musician, sang very agreeably. He took it into his head to have little comedies played,—the first for Monsieur's birthday, and then one for his fle-day. The Vicomtesse was quite ready to accept the principal parts, which she played delightfully. Pious as an angel, but indulgent as virtue itself, she was

ready for anything which would give pleasure to others. She passed through life reverenced by all with knew her, and not a shade of malice ever troubled for an instant the peace of that noble heart.

My mother lived with us in our house opposite the palace; on one side were the Duc and Duchesse de Guiche and Madame de Polastron; a little farther off, Madame de Poulpry, Madame de Lage, and the two Polignacs, etc.

Monsieur had a carriage which he lent to every one, reserving it for himself only on Sunday; then he was out from morning till night. He was invited everywhere, and every one was eager to welcome him. The good and excellent Scotch people looked upon a visit from him as an honour, a great festival.

Our little plays amused Monsieur as much as they did us; to my great misfortune, I always had a part which I never knew, for in all my life I never could learn anything by heart. I listened, I found out the subject of conversation, and then I rushed in headlong, which amused the public greatly, but plunged my interlocutor into despair.

The Duc de Berry did not remain very long at Edinburgh. The King, Louis XVIII., being very fond of him, wished to see him, and he rejoined the royal family at Mittau. His evenings there were passed more soberly.

The year passed away without any important event which has remained in my memory, though I must

make one exception. Monsieur wished for an almoner, and he consulted the Vicomtesse de Vaudreuil.

"I want," he said, "a pious and simple abbé, without any pretensions, who will dine with my first valet-dechambre, M. Belleville, who is one of the best of men. We will settle what his duties are to be; but he must never expect to act as my confessor, since for that important function I prefer a good Scotch Catholic who is a stranger to intrigues and ignorant of politics."

"I have found precisely what Monsieur desires," replied the Vicomtesse de Vaudreuil. "Two old Demoiselles de Boyne (sisters of the former Minister of the Marine, and aunts of the Dowager Comtesse de Bourbon-Busset) have with them a young priest who must be poor. He is well known to our family, and will be only too glad to take the position you offer him."

Monsieur begged the Vicomtesse to send for him. He was called Latil, and afterwards became a cardinal.

The upright and skilful men of the law employed by our Prince at length succeeded in setting at liberty the noble prisoner of Holyrood, as there was no proof sufficient to justify the demand for such enormous sums, and the suit was suspended.

Monsieur was thus enabled to go himself to express his thanks to the illustrious chiefs of the Scottish clans for the kindnesses which they had unceasingly lavished upon him during the year of his sojourn at Edinburgh, where he had won the admiration of all by the lofty patience with which he had borne his misfortunes.

Monsieur departed to establish himself in London, and the little circle of Holyrood prepared to follow him.

My mother had had news from her mother which permitted her to hope for a happier future; she received the confirmation of this hope in the announcement of the effacement of her name from the fatal list. She decided then to follow the little colony, and we separated, with mutual promises to meet again soon in London or Paris. Paris held a place very deep down in all our hearts, as hope is at the summit of the cross, as M. de Ravignan expresses it.

It is with the tenderest feelings of gratitude that I recall the repeated proofs of friendship which we have received in Scotland at different periods; time and absence did not in the least change the hearts of those who were devoted to us.

After the departure of our French society, M. de Gontaut consented to take for a year an apartment in the finest part of the new and beautiful town of Edinburgh.

We often went to Dalkeith, a fine place, where the Dowager-Duchess of Buccleugh received us with the benevolent grandeur of the *châtelaine* of the olden time. Her daughter-in-law, Lady Dalkeith, mother of the present Duke of Buccleugh, devoted herself to our entertainment.

I ought to remind you here, my dear children, of three sisters who became for me sisters in affection. You have heard me speak of them continually,—Lady Hampden, Lady Wedderburn, and Lady Hope; the tender affection of the two eldest for me ceased only with their lives, and the younger, Lady Hope, still deigns to preserve for me a warm friendship.

When Fate took me back to Scotland twenty-four years later, I found there the same affection, the same kindness; it is not given to every nation to keep alive in the heart the sacred fire of friendship.

It was now easy to get news from France in London. M. de Gontaut thought the time had come for us to make some effort towards re-establishing ourselves in France. Everything was said to be tranquil, and the *émigrés* were even hoping to recover something from the wreck of their fortunes. The First Consul, it was said, was trying to attach the clergy to himself, having already gained the army. M. de Gontaut thought it was his duty to think seriously of his children's future, and our departure was decided upon.

We arrived in London. Already our friends had formed for us a plan which seemed to us not only reasonable but agreeable, — that of establishing ourselves in the most fashionable quarter, which at the same time would be the most advantageous for ourselves, as in case of our absence we could let our lodging, and so recompense ourselves for the expenses to which the doctors condemned us by ordering for our children seabathing, the waters of Tunbridge Wells, etc.

We followed this sensible advice, and took a pretty little house near the Park, thus finding ourselves in the midst of that agreeable circle of friends whom we were so glad to meet again. We found there Mr. and Mrs. Villiers (now become Lord and Lady Clarendon by the death of their elder brother), my beloved Lady Charlotte Greville, etc. I will not repeat here the list of friends whom you already know, who had been so good as to remember us.

Established in London under that good star which never forsook us, we found ourselves petted there as we had been in Edinburgh, and we led a very pleasant life; the mornings were devoted to our children, and the evenings to our friends, whom we also sometimes visited in the country. I was very happy at Bulstrode, where the Duke of Portland was exceedingly kind to us. I often went to see Lady Templeton; and thus another year passed happily and peacefully away.

During one of my visits to Bulstrode, Miss Townsend, a friend of Lady Mary Bentinck, came to make her a visit; she talked a great deal about the court and the princesses, and told me that the Princess Mary wished to make my acquaintance. I wished very much to see Windsor. Miss Townsend, who was governess at the Castle, offered to receive us there, and the party was arranged; they were good enough to allow me to take my little daughters with me. Miss Upton accompanied us.

Princess Mary received us very kindly. When I

heard that the King of England was going to walk on the terrace, I expressed a great desire to see him. Princess Mary assured us that we could do so without infringing the rules of etiquette.

When George III. saw Miss Townsend, he came up to us, and asked me if I were any relation to the Maréchal Duc de Biron. I replied that he was my husband's uncle. He looked at my two little girls, saw that they were twins, and measured them with his cane; and all this with so much kindness and good nature that it banished all the stiffness pertaining to courts, and put me quite at my ease. He said to my children, "It is a pity, Mesdemoiselles, that, as you bear the name of Biron, you are not boys; the English nation ought to be very grateful to your family."

As he saw by my look of surprise that I knew no reason for this, he said to me, —

"At the time when the American Revolution broke out (by the way, one Republic is more than I care to know about; I do not wish to know two), Admiral Rodney was arrested in Paris for debt, and an article appeared in an English paper which was very insulting to your country, insinuating that as Admiral de Suffren was not in any respect the equal of Admiral Rodney, the French, fearing his talent, had taken this method of making him a prisoner. The Maréchal, indignant at this insult to France, went straight to Versailles to entreat Louis XVI. to permit him instantly to pay Admiral Rodney's creditors, and to give him the satis-

faction of being able to release the Admiral from his prison and to set him at liberty, and thus to prove to the English nation that Suffren was hoping and expecting to meet him, and that France was incapable of such baseness. The King not only approved of the step the Maréchal had taken, but said to him: 'I envy you for having had this noble thought; it is quite French, and worthy of you.' The Maréchal, having had no doubt of the King's assent, had already in his carriage the sum necessary to pay the Admiral's debts; furnished with the order of the King, he went himself to open the prison doors, and Lord Rodney, happy and grateful, took his departure. A short time after, he was at his post in the midst of his fleet and officers, who could not but admire the chivalry of this noble action."

Soon after our presentation, King George III. charged the Duke of Portland to make known to both Houses the incident which he had related to us, desiring that a pension should be granted for life to the nieces of the Maréchal de Biron, as a token of the gratitude of the nation. His Majesty's communication was received with great applause; the Duke reported this to the King, who told him to give us an account of this outburst of admiration, which was so honourable to our family. The Duke came to tell us this, still wearing his court dress just as he had left the council chamber, and took charge of a letter from me to the King.

At this moment I happen to recall an incident which will give you an idea of the munificence of the seigneurs of that period.

The Grand Duke and Grand Duchess of Russia, when they went to travel in foreign countries, took the name of the Comte and Comtesse du Nord. The Comte wishing to be present at a review of the regiment of French Guards one day, the Maréchal de Biron offered him his best horse, which the Comte declared was the best he had ever ridden. When he reached St. Petersburg, on his return, the Grand Duke found this same horse, with three chasseurs in the gala livery of the Maréchal, awaiting him. The first chasseur, hat in hand, was holding the bridle; the second, with knee to the ground, presented the stirrup; while the third held in his hand a most respectful letter of homage. Such was the politeness of those days.

It was in remembrance of this attention that the Emperor Paul I. of Russia, many years after, having learned that the nieces of the Maréchal de Biron were wandering about the Continent seeking a refuge, gave the order that one should be offered to us in St. Petersburg. We did not profit by it, however, for my mother only heard of it in England, and our friends there had already offered us consolation.

## CHAPTER IV.

Departure of M. de Gontaut for France. — Cheltenham and Wellington. — Madame de Polastron. — My Mother's Return to London. — Politeness of the Prince Regent. — Interview between Monsieur and Pitt. — Masquerade and Lady Hester Stanhope. — Mr. Fulton. — Education and Portrait of my Daughters.

to hope that he might be able to obtain the erasure of his name from the proscription list, and shortly after this hope was fulfilled. Having received the passports necessary for his journey, he left me with the friends who had never ceased to lavish upon us proofs of their affection, and who assured him that during his absence and that of my mother I should be most tenderly cared for.

Lady Templeton was planning a trip to Cheltenham, and I had promised to accompany her, as the doctors had ordered the waters of Tunbridge for Charlotte. (This second plan was to follow the first.) My devoted friend, Miss Upton, promised to join me there later, and to spend a part of the winter with me. Her mother, the Dowager Lady Templeton, held out the hope of coming herself, as well as Lord and Lady Bristol. As these journeys would greatly increase our expenses, we de-

cided to let our apartment in London until the return of my mother or of M. de Gontaut. This arrangement, which we made together, made him much more comfortable about leaving England, confiding all those who were dearest to him to the affection of our friends. After his departure, my children and I joined Lady Templeton at Cheltenham.

Lady Templeton possessed to perfection the art of making home charming; easy and gracious, she was delighted to have us with her, and looked forward with great pleasure to this quiet and peaceful life; for though very amiable, she was rather indolent, and talked very little.

We portioned out our hours for the day, in which music held a great part. Miss Upton had a delicious voice, and sang French and Italian songs like an artiste. I undertook to do the reading aloud, and we made ample provision of books. In the evenings, sitting quietly on the terrace of our pretty house in the moonlight, — my companions were very fond of this astre de mélancolie, — Miss Upton charmed us with her singing. We promised ourselves a great deal of this pleasure in our solitude à trois.

Miss Upton was very warm-hearted, and she was devoted to me. I was very grateful for this, and greatly touched by it; but it was not given to every one to be able to appreciate this really admirable woman. She detested society; and eager as she was to please those whom she liked, she took no pains to conceal her abso-

lute indifference to all the rest of mankind. In our solitude she was charming, witty, and piquante; but fond as I was of her, I could not but feel grieved at the dislike she showed to certain persons who were not in her set, and who tried to show me kindness. This was the shadow which sometimes clouded the brightness of our friendship. For instance, one day at breakfast I received a letter from Lady Mornington, the sister-in-law of the Marquis of Wellesley, recommending to my kind offices her brother-in-law, Arthur Wellesley, who was coming to Cheltenham to rest on the laurels he had been gaining in India. "He knows nobody," wrote Lady Mornington, "and it will be a charity if you will pay him some attention; so I trust him to your kindness and your friendship for me."

He was to arrive that very day; and in visiting me he would have the pleasure also of making the acquaintance of Lady Templeton and Miss Upton.

Nothing on earth would have induced me to fail in honouring this recommendation of my friend. I announced my intention of setting off at once to find this person, who was brother or brother-in-law to all the Wellesleys, of whom I was very fond. My companions, however, were very far from sharing my enthusiasm. Lady Templeton's indolence took alarm, and Miss Upton's jealousy awoke. They were both greatly disturbed at the idea of having this man, whom nobody knew, imposed upon them. "It would be a horrible bore," they said; and thereupon discord arose between us,

reminding me of the fable of my childhood: "Des poules vivaient en paix, un coq survint," etc.

Without listening to their grumbling, however, I set off for the pump-room to look for the new arrival. With great difficulty I at length succeeded in persuading Miss Upton to accompany me. I proceeded straight to the pump-room, where I went to look at the list of arrivals. I found the name of Wellesley, and read it aloud, so that Miss Upton could hear it; but she did not say a word. A stranger, standing beside me, was also reading the list; he put his finger upon a name, smiled, and looking at me, said, "Madame de Gontaut." Nothing could be more piquant: we had never met, and yet we knew each other at once.

Miss Upton would have been glad to slip away, but there was no escape for her. I set Mr. Wellesley at ease by proposing to introduce him to Lady Templeton, and I presented him to Miss Upton forthwith; but my disdainful companion would not open her lips. We set off on our way home; he offered me his arm and I accepted it, when all at once my garter dropped off and fell at Mr. Wellesley's feet. Fancy losing one's garter in a public street, in broad daylight, and in England of all places in the world! I must confess that I was covered with blushes. He picked it up, and with a gracious smile and an air of perfect breeding, said, "If ever there were occasion to say, 'Honni soit qui mal y pense,' this is it."

Miss Upton whispered in my ear, "How fortunate

that it was a new one!" I replied: "I should think so, indeed."

My introduction was made; Lady Templeton resigned herself, Miss Upton came round by degrees, and as for me, I did my best for the entertainment of our agreeable guest. After the first few minutes of awkwardness, Mr. Wellesley grew confidential, and informed me that he considered himself very fortunate to find at Cheltenham a lady of whom he had heard so much from all his family. Lady Templeton invited him to come and dine with us every day. Miss Upton sang, and he was charmed with her voice. I found his frankness and straightforwardness delightful. He told us about India, but he never spoke of his victories, of which all our letters were full; but he allowed us to question him, and the stories which we beguiled this man, who had gained so much distinction, into telling us, went straight to our hearts.

During one of our walks he confided to me a trouble which was disturbing him greatly; but I will give it in his own words:—

"In a few days I shall leave Cheltenham on account of a very grave matter which will decide my whole future life. When I was very young I became attached to a Miss Packenham, a very nice person, pretty and sweet, and we became engaged. We were both very young. I had an ardent desire to enter the army, and I was obliged to leave her, though we both cherished the hope of being one day reunited. Years passed, and

in the mean time Miss Packenham had the small-pox. She wrote to me that, remembering our promise, she must warn me that she had lost her beauty. It appeared that the small-pox, while destroying her beauty, had not deprived her of her memory." His manner of saying this was so peculiar and so like him that I could not help laughing. "But she has my promise, and my honour demands that I should keep it; it was rather fine of her, too, to write to me with so much simplicity and truth. So I shall start for Ireland at once; I have very little time to lose. Perhaps I shall come back this way, alone or with her."

He went, and they returned together, she in the carriage alone, and he on the box.

My protégé of Cheltenham became — the Duke of Wellington! My father's protégé at the École militaire was — the Emperor Napoleon!

After our stay at Cheltenham and a pleasant winter at Tunbridge with the family of Lord and Lady Bristol, the Dowager Lady Templeton, and my dear Sophie Upton, I went to make a visit at Bulstrode, where I always liked to stay with my dear Lady Charlotte Greville and her good sister, Lady Mary Bentinck. I was obliged to pass through London, and there I found a letter from my mother, who wrote despondingly with regard to her own health and the condition of her cousin in London. She urged me to come and take her place beside this poor cousin, whom she lamented not being able to nurse. I found her suffering and greatly changed, only the shadow of her former self.

The time has now come, my dear children, when it is necessary to tell you the whole truth concerning this poor Madame de Polastron, who has been sometimes severely judged, rarely pitied, and who has always been very unhappy. Do not judge her harshly, but hope, as I do, that the mercy of God will be granted to her who has suffered so much.

Louise de Lussan d'Esparbès lost her mother very shortly after her birth. The Comtesse d'Esparbès, with her husband's consent, confided to the care of my grandmother this child, for whose sake she regretted that her life should be cut short. The little Louise was received with tenderness, and was affectionately cared for by my mother, who was some years older than she. The Comte d'Esparbès, who was young and rather gay, was very glad to be relieved of the rôle of guardian to a young girl.

When Louise was twelve years old, it became necessary to put her into a convent for the period of her first communion, according to the custom of the time. M. d'Esparbès was consulted, and he gave his preference for the convent of Panthemont, saying that "this convent would be his choice, as every one whom he knew had been educated there." My grandmother felt that a less worldly retreat would have been better.

Louise, good, gentle, and timid, became the favourite pupil of the nuns at Panthemont. Although she was quite happy there, she looked back with regret to the days spent with my grandmother and my sweet mother. When Louise had reached her seventeenth year, M. d'Esparbès began to think about marrying his daughter, who was a good match, and who was already being talked of in society. The Duchesse de Polignac, gouvernante of the Children of France, had thought of her for her brother, the Vicomte de Polastron. She spoke of this marriage to M. d'Esparbès with such perfect grace and charm that he agreed without difficulty to everything the Duchesse said, even promising his daughter's consent.

It seems that at this period young girls never thought it possible that they should oppose themselves to their father's will, which once expressed was for them an accomplished fact.

It was agreed that the Vicomte de Polastron should be presented to Mademoiselle d'Esparbès by the Duchesse de Polignac, who came to the convent for the interview. Louise dared not raise her eyes to her suitor's face, and he, on his side, took very good care not to speak; so it was left for the Duchesse to say, with a charming smile: "Now that everything is settled, and the young people like each other, we must begin to make preparations for the marriage. It will take place at Versailles. I have obtained the position of lady-in-waiting to the Queen for my charming sister-in-law, with an apartment in the palace. We shall be always together; she shall be not only a sister to me, but a cherished child. I love to think that with us she cannot fail to be happy." M. d'Esparbès took very good care to express no doubt of this.

The Vicomte de Polastron, then Lieutenant-Colonel, was promoted to the rank of colonel, at the request of M. d'Esparbès. It was settled that he should take command of his new regiment on the day of his marriage, and should not return to Versailles until a year later. In those days, this was often the way young couples made each other's acquaintance.

My mother, who idolised Louise, promised that she would be with her as much as possible, that she would be present at her marriage and at her presentation at court. In short, she did her utmost to keep up her courage, for she had read that gentle spirit, and had seen that the splendours held out before her had not the power to dazzle her. The marriage was celebrated rather quietly, only a few persons being present. The Duchesse de Guiche, daughter of the Duchesse de Polignac, who was sweet, gay, charming, and very kindhearted, was full of attention for the young girl. M. de Polastron took his departure as soon as the ceremony was completed. He seemed to Louise rather simple, withdrawing into the background, and greatly occupied with his dibut before the regiment of which he was about to take command.

Then came the preparations for the presentation; Mesdemoiselles Bertin and Léonard were set to work. Vestris was summoned, and began his instructions. The young *débutante* must learn to enter and leave the room, to bow and to courtesy, to make a feint of kissing the hem of the Queen's robes.

"Let us suppose this is the place you are to occupy, Madame. When her Majesty approaches in order to embrace you, you must appear to be overwhelmed with gratitude, and must try to take her hand, which she will withdraw. Remember that all this must be accomplished with perfect grace, with your elbow well rounded. Remember that all eyes will be upon you, and that Vestris père is your master."

The Duchesse de Polignac, accompanied by her daughter, the Duchesse de Guiche, and my mother, presented the bride. The presentation took place on Sunday at noon, after the King's mass, in the large apartments, before the Princes, their households, and all the court. The Duchesse de Polignac and her daughter had never looked more beautiful, my mother never had been prettier. Louise, pale and trembling, ready to faint from sheer terror, had forgotten her gratitude, had forgotten to make her courtesy, to kiss the hem of the robe, — had forgotten everything, in short.

A murmur of admiration greeted the two duchesses; of the bride they spoke in whispers. The Queen approached to embrace her, but she remained motionless and awkward. Every one perceived it and remarked upon it, and she heard them. One person alone thought her timidity interesting, one person alone felt compassion for her. It was the Comte d'Artois. She perceived this at a glance, and would have given worlds to have been able to say, "Monseigneur, I am suffering,

and you alone understand it. Monseigneur, you were not so cruel as to laugh when I was ready to faint with terror and shame. Oh, may Heaven bless you for it!"

The following day, at the Duchesse de Polignac's, she was left to herself, for she had been a failure. The Comte d'Artois approached her, and spoke kindly to her. His gracious and encouraging words overwhelmed her too much to permit her to respond; and this was generally remarked, for nothing ever passes unobserved among courtiers.

Madame de Polastron was very agreeable, without being pretty; her figure was slender and supple, and her expression was mournful and touching. She was too timid to speak very loud; but her voice had a wonderful charm, and she expressed herself with simplicity and grace. She was neither humble nor arrogant, but was very retiring; and to know her it was necessary to make an effort to draw her out.

The Prince, who had felt compassion for her, sought her out and made this effort.

The Comte d'Artois was at that time the idol of that graceful and frivolous court; amiable, gay, and inconstant, he was the life and soul of it. Accustomed to easy conquests, he experienced in the presence of Madame de Polastron a new sentiment, the nature of which he did not understand; this sincere modesty inspired him with a certain respect, which he frankly avowed, and he even said, with a sweet smile, "You overawe me, Madame."

The sudden and entire change in the habits of the Comte d'Artois was commented upon by every one. He spent all his evenings in the apartments of the Duchesse de Polignac, and declared too openly that they were the happiest moments of his life. The Queen, delighted at seeing him oftener, told him how pleased she was; but it was not long before malevolence opened the sovereign's eyes. Speaking one day to Madame de Polastron of her apartment, she said: "You must take care, Louise; the gratings of the Duchesse de Navailles are no longer there."

The poor, innocent young thing did not understand what the Queen had said aloud, and what every one else repeated in whispers.

My mother loved her and watched over her, but her limited experience could not enlighten her, either with regard to the dangers or the sentiments of her cousin; married herself for several years, but entirely devoted to the cares of her family, she knew but little of the world, which she viewed only through the prison of her own innocence and purity.

My mother often met the Comte d'Artois at the Duchesse de Polignac's, and she had observed his regard for Louise; feeling that she merited it by her noble and simple conduct, she would have felt as though she were committing a sin if she had attached to this regard the slightest suspicion of gallantry.

M. de Polastron returned from his regiment, and another room was added to the apartment of his wife.

Far from being dazzled by the position at court of his sister, entirely insensible to the charms of his wife, he bitterly regretted his regiment, found himself bored at Versailles and even at Paris, and took no pains to conceal the fact. He was not liked, because he had the singular perversity of not trying to make himself agreeable; and thus passed the second year of Madame de Polastron's marriage.

She had a son, to whom Louis XVI. and the Queen stood as sponsors; they named him Louis. This great happiness reconciled Louise to life, which hitherto, as she said, had had but few charms for her.

Louise, growing more accustomed to the great world, gradually became less timid. She was always good and modest, and as she made more efforts to please, people recognised the improvement in her, and she was much more sought after. As the Comte d'Artois got into the habit of seeing her constantly, he became bolder; he ventured to make her understand that in order to obtain her approbation, no sacrifice would be too great for him, and so on, - in short, all the commonplace phrases of the man of gallantry were brought into play. Poor Louise, to whom this language was entirely new, was greatly touched by it; and perhaps the Prince himself meant it all in good faith. However that may have been. Louise believed in him. He ventured to write to her. Louise, greatly agitated, confided in my mother, who, terrified at this first step, induced her to send back the letter. Louise, who was as pure as an angel, opened her heart to her sister-in-law and to the Queen, who permitted her to establish herself at Paris, and to come to Versailles only for those days when she was in waiting. Her departure was a source of regret in the circle of her intimate friends, and was an event for the courtiers; and very soon all Paris was filled with the news that Madame de Polastron was exiled, and Monseigneur was in despair.

The Comte d'Artois was dejected and hurt by this removal which the Queen had sanctioned; the more obstacles he encountered, the more ardently he tried to overcome them. He took care to let Louise know that he would seize every opportunity to meet her, that even if he could not speak to her he would see her at any price.

My mother had a box at the Opéra, in the first tier above the stage. The Comte d'Artois knew her day for visiting the theatre. He left Versailles with the Chevalier de Crussol, went to Saint Cloud, where he left his carriage, taking a fiacre instead, and disguised himself in every possible way, with a huge powdered wig, an embroidered cravat, a redingote, and a three-cornered hat. He arrived at the Opéra. The play had begun; they went into the parterre, which at that time was very cheap, and had only standing-room. Their entrance made a great commotion, and they looked up and discovered Madame de Polastron and my mother. In spite of his great wig, the Comte d'Artois was recognised; people made way for him; they formed a circle

round him, and he found himself alone in the centre of the crowd with the Chevalier de Crussol. One forward person penetrated his incognito, and cried out, "Make room for Monseigneur!" The others laughed and applauded. There was nothing left for him to do but to throw aside hat and wig, to laugh, and make his escape. The French populace adores good nature; at that time the Princes were very popular, so they joined in the laugh, and the whole audience applauded. Louise fled into the back of the box and hid herself, overwhelmed with shame. My mother was furious.

Louise passed several years in imploring from Heaven peace for her weary spirit, and strength to resist all temptation that could disturb that peace. But evil times were approaching. Every one was rallying around the court; Louise returned thither also; it was not a time for gallantry now,—it was a time for alarm and foreboding.

Do not fear, my children, that you will find here a repetition of what I have already told you; I shall simply indicate the dates, which are indispensable in order to follow the thread of the facts as they recur to my memory.

It was now 1789, at the period when the States-General constituted themselves a National Assembly, and arrogated to themselves the possession of all powers. It is from this that the Revolution may be dated. The French, the faithful friends of the King, grouped themselves around the throne, of which even then only a

shadow remained. Every day brought a fresh misfortune. Presently the Bastille was taken, and on the sixth of October the royal family left Versailles and were carried into Paris. The Duchesse de Polignac and her family had been obliged to fly from the fury of the mob. Madame de Polastron joined the Queen, who commanded her to return to my mother, and advised her to join the Duchesse de Polignac as soon as she could manage to escape from France. M. de Polastron was with his regiment, thinking he might be useful there.

The alarm became general; people flocked to the frontier, hoping by the force of numbers to be able to save the King and France; it was thus that the emigration of all the nobility began.

Already the Comte d'Artois had proclaimed the Prince de Condé, whose name in itself was a rallying point for all, general-in-chief of the coalition of the nobles; the Ducs d'Angoulême, de Berry, de Bourbon, and d'Enghien were to serve under his orders. The courageous deeds of the army of Condé will be handed down to posterity.

Money was wanting, and the Princes could not obtain even that which was due to them; they had already sold their last diamonds; terror had seized upon all hearts, but self-devotion still existed. Louise was inspired with enthusiasm. To assist the Comte d'Artois became her sole hope, her one idea. Her grandfather was rich, and still in possession of her dowry. She went on her knees to him to induce him to give it to her, describing to him graphically the position of the Princes and the army. The good man gave her all he could, and borrowed also immense sums of the farmersgeneral, who were at that time still millionnaires. Louise, happy and hopeful, departed loaded with gold, with her son, her maid, and a faithful servant. After many difficulties and dangers, she at length succeeded in passing the frontier; but then she no longer knew where to turn her steps. She dared not make inquiries, and trembled at the thought of mentioning the man for whom she had never ceased to pray. At last she reached the army of Condé; then, in her happiness, she no longer thought of concealment - to find Monseigneur represented salvation to her. Poor Louise! What a sensation her arrival created! Every one flocked round her carriage, and recognised her. Monseigneur did not understand at once what had brought her, and questioned her; astonished at finding so much devotion, resolution, and courage in that timid soul, he was greatly touched, and overwhelmed with gratitude. But already he foresaw for her the consequences of her imprudence. He thanked her in the name of all for the assistance she had afforded them, and then, taking off his hat, he respectfully asked what her orders were. There was a profound silence; every one uncovered, following his example. Louise, who had grown calmer, perceived what was expected of her.

"To find some shelter," she said, — "a hut, a bed of straw, but far away and alone."

They gave her an escort, and she departed, with a heart full of gratitude for having been able to render a service to Monseigneur; but she soon had reason to fear that she had purchased this happiness at the price of eternal shame, for as she drove away she heard a name applied to her by the crowd to which public opinion gave only too much credence.

Poor unhappy Louise! Even while admiring the loftiness of her attachment, they believed that she had sacrificed her honour.

Madame de Polastron found her sister-in-law at Turin; they travelled together to Germany, where they separated. Madame de Polignac went to Russia, and the little colony of women turned in the direction of Coblentz, where we shall find them again.

After Coblentz, of which I have already spoken, we approached France. We heard the guns of Thionville, we found ourselves in the midst of a retreat, and we separated from the others, my mother and I to go into Holland, the rest of the colony to Mittau. It was there that the Duchesse de Polignac welcomed back her desolate family. Louis XVIII. and the Princes were at Mittau. After the death of the beautiful and unfortunate Duchesse de Polignac, the Princes went to Scotland. Louis XVIII. was not permitted to accompany his brother thither. He kept with him the Dauphin and the Dauphiness.

It was in Scotland, therefore, that my mother met her cousin again; but now she was sad and unhappy, for she felt that she was more than ever compromised. She shrank from observation; she was no longer the timid débutante, but a woman stained in her own eyes and in those of the world; but, alas! only through too great self-devotion. My mother was in despair; but sweet and loving as she was by nature, she felt compassion for her unhappy cousin, and devoted herself to her.

A year passed thus in Scotland, and after the departure of my mother for Paris, and that of Monsieur for London, I did not see my cousin again until two years later, on my return from Tunbridge. I was greatly shocked at finding her changed almost beyond recognition. The people about her did not seem to me to realise her condition; her incessant cough and the low fever hanging about her were only too wellknown symptoms. She was badly lodged, with Madame de Lage and Madame de Poulpry; but her little salon was nevertheless the rendezvous of the Prince's circle. He played whist there every evening with the Comte de Vaudreuil, the Maréchal de Vioménil, the Duc and Duchesse de Coigny, the Duc and Duchesse de Grammont and their daughters, and many other émigrés. The Duc de Berry often came there. Monsieur was then leading a life which suited him admirably. He exerted himself to make these soirles agreeable.

I had been hardly a week in London before I realised fully the condition of Madame de Polastron. I spoke

about her to her physician, who seemed to me rather indifferent. He was called Father Elisée. I wrote to my mother how anxious I felt, and she replied by urging me to watch over my poor cousin, and closed her letter by recommending to me not only her health, but more particularly the care for her soul. As my grand-mother was very ill, she could not possibly leave her.

I have often observed that the persons who are most attached to an invalid are generally the ones who are most blind to the patient's danger. No one would believe there was any danger for poor Louise; she never complained; she would not for the world have interfered with those evenings which Monsieur enjoyed so much. "And besides," they said, "where would she be any better off?" Monseigneur was blind; comparing each day with the previous one, he could see no difference. Her salon in the evening was stifling, her bedroom cold and badly situated, with a northern aspect.

I talked about these things constantly, and only succeeded in making myself a bore to every one; but I would not allow myself to be discouraged. I urged that another physician might be called in besides this father, who only ordered tisanes and hoped for spring weather. I did succeed in getting another and more spacious apartment, and I hoped for some improvement, in which every one joined me, for she was greatly beloved; but they all found it easier to make no change in their usual habits, for friendship is as selfish as love, and both are equally blind.

The slow fever increased, and I could see that Louise longed for my mother. I encouraged her to confide in me, and she did so at last. Thinking as I did that the treatment was not what it should be, I urged her to consult the physician of King George III. It was the one I had had for my children and who was said to be very skilful, Sir Henry Halford.

"I should like to try him," she said, "but it would make Monsieur uneasy. Besides, he is accustomed to this man, and nothing would be more disagreeable to him than to make a change; he will never consent to it." I assured Madame de Polastron that if I told Monsieur that my mother advised it, he would consent. I did so, and gained his consent.

Sir Henry was called in. He made a thorough examination of the poor invalid, questioned her, and seemed to be interested in her condition. She was greatly touched, and asked him to come often. He promised her that he would. He said to me as he was leaving the room, —

"I wish to speak to that gentleman downstairs; I must speak to some one about this poor patient of mine."

Monsieur was expecting him. Sir Henry asked me to remain during the interview, fearing that he might not speak French well enough to be understood, and then he said,—

"Monsieur, the patient whom I have just seen is in the last stage of consumption, and I greatly fear that it is too late to do anything for her; but if there is any one who is interested in this lady, I must say to him that there is not a day to be lost."

Monsieur turned deathly pale.

"Every one is interested in her," he said, greatly shocked. "Tell me what is to be done. Do anything in the world to save her!"

"In the first place, the Vicomtesse must be taken to the country and lodged near a stable for cows; and it must be done immediately, for she is already raising blood. And more than this, she must have perfect quiet, no agitation at all."

Sir Henry took upon himself to find such an establishment, and promised to come every day. He had seen and understood the anguish of "this good Monsieur," for whom he felt compassion. Sir Henry's words had cut him to the heart, and his eyes were opened at last. He understood all that poor Louise had suffered without a complaint or a single reproach. He was in despair, and I could not but pity him. It was agreed that he should not allow her to see how anxious he was until she was established at Brompton.

Then began for me a cruel task,—that of withdrawing Monsieur from his poor victim. I spoke of his honour; he understood me, and resigned himself.

I devoted myself to my work, doing my best not to startle Louise; and for the sake of my mother she at length consented to let me read her thoughts. I succeeded in soothing the poor troubled spirit, and gained what I ardently desired,—permission to admit to our

readings and conversations an ecclesiastic more enlightened than I, and one who would know how to point out to her the true remedy for the soul. I could see that she wished for this as much as I did, but that she feared to make Monsieur anxious. I promised to speak to him in the name of my mother, and soon I was able to announce to her that I had met with no opposition from him. Monsieur was willing that Madame de Polastron should see the Abbé de Latil, since she desired He was summoned. When he spoke to her of the Divine Goodness, she seemed to suffer less. Nothing could be more touching than these conversations of a compassionate ecclesiastic with a poor penitent returning submissively to the Heavenly Father. But he demanded one sacrifice of her,— that she should not see Monsieur again. She yielded, asking only that she might see him in the hour of death.

She had a favour to ask, she said. She confided this to the Abbé, who gave his consent.

M. de Latil considered it necessary to speak frankly to Monsieur concerning his relations with Madame de Polastron, and the scandal to which they had given rise. He did not ask for a public reparation, but he made him feel that it would be better for him to go away until that hour which was only too rapidly approaching. Monsieur understood the gravity of the present situation; he was suffering greatly, and he submitted to whatever M. de Latil thought fit to impose.

"A temporary absence," said the Abbé. "I entreat

Monsieur to go into the country. He shall see our poor penitent once more; she desires it herself, for she has one word to say to him, one favour to ask, but this can only be at the last hour."

The Abbé spoke peremptorily. Monseigneur, feeling that it was only right that he should bear it, consented to go, and to wait until he should be summoned by the Abbé.

The condition of the patient grew worse. Feeling that she was losing her strength, she asked M. de Latil to call in her friends, who had not ceased to show their interest in her, and her servants, who loved her.

In a low and trembling voice Madame de Polastron asked pardon of them all for the scandal she had caused, blaming herself in simple and touching words. She thanked her friends who had not turned away from her. Then - poor Louise! - she tried to say a word of tenderness to all, leaving to each a little souvenir, with an excuse for its want of value, for she possessed nothing. The Abbé announced that the supreme moment had come, and that, the sick woman being prepared for it, he was about to administer the last rites. All knelt beside the bed; the priest made a touching exhortation, and recited the prayers for the dying. She responded at the moment of the communion and of extreme unction with touching piety. She expressed to M. de Latil her gratitude for his goodness to her. Then they brought in her son, who was in college. She talked to him for some time, and

recommended him to the Duchesse de Coigny, whose mother, Madame d'Andlau, was formerly Mademoiselle de Polastron.

The invalid was exhausted by this time, and every one withdrew. Only the Abbé de Latil remained praying beside her.

The next morning Madame de Polastron was very ill, and Sir Henry ordered perfect quiet. She wished to see me, to talk to me of my mother, and they allowed me to see her. She was calm and tender, but she often grew drowsy.

Her agitation increased. Sir Henry announced that death was approaching, and the Abbé sent to summon Monsieur. He had returned to London, and was awaiting this summons in great anguish of mind.

They opened the doors of the salon. Monsieur did not venture to approach. I was beside her, holding her hand, and I could feel how she trembled. She saw Monsieur; he started forward. "Do not come nearer!" said the Abbé, in a firm tone. Monsieur dared not cross the threshold of that room.

Her agitation and restlessness increased. She raised her hands to heaven and said: "A favour, Monsieur, grant me one request: Give yourself to God, surrender yourself entirely to God!" He fell on his knees and said: "As God is my witness, I swear it!" She repeated again, "Entirely to God!"

Her head fell against my shoulder; that word was the last she uttered,—she had ceased to breathe. Monsieur raised his hands to heaven and uttered a horrible cry. They shut the doors, and we all fell on our knees and prayed.

They say that Monsieur's devoted friends took him back to that house in the country where he had spent that cruel week of exile which the Abbé Latil had imposed.<sup>1</sup>

After the sad scenes of which I have just told you, my dear children, I felt myself in need of repose. I sought it with my dear friends Lady Charlotte Greville and Lady Mary Bentinck, and with them my sad heart found rest and peace.

I was very happy at Bulstrode; this pleasant home was particularly attractive that year. Lady Charlotte

<sup>1</sup> This 1st of May, 1853, I read the "Histoire de la Restauration," a book as eloquent as it is interesting. In the second volume, pages 81 and 82, I find the life and death of Madame de Polastron described; and it pains me to see that the story is not exact, —a fact, however, which I can easily explain.

M. de Lamartine was still a child during Madame de Polastron's life, and could not have been more than ten or eleven years old at her death. Of those who were present at that time, there are still living only a woman of ninety, Madame de Poulpry [who died in 1854], and myself, an octogenarian, who, with all the infirmities of age, have the advantage of still being able to recall the past as one remembers in one's youth what has happened the day before. I declare that the story I have just written is true in every particular; but I ask of M. de Lamartine permission to copy the following passage, which is just, and as touching as it is true:

"The Comte d'Artois on his knees repeated this oath to her departed spirit, and he kept it during a long life till he went to his grave, although he was young, handsome, a prince, and a king."

Louis de Polastron, son of M. and Madame de Polastron, entered the army as soon as he was old enough. Lieutenant of an English regiment of cavalry, he was sent to Gibraltar, where he died that same year of yellow fever.

had given birth to a daughter who afterwards became the charming and lovely Lady Ellesmere. I received her in my arms at her birth. My dear daughters were happy also in this lovely place, where I spent a great part of the summer.

In the autumn my mother sent me the very sad tidings of my grandmother's death, but gave me, by way of consolation, the hope of having her with me again soon.

At the time when M. de Gontaut had been obliged to leave us, he had been informed that his presence was necessary to facilitate the removal of the sequestration from his estates in the south of France. His whole fortune then consisted only of the sum placed in the English Funds, and we felt it prudent to continue to practise the strictest economy in our small establishment.

The happy event at Windsor of which I have told you had trebled our income; and when I returned to London to await my mother's arrival, I was able to resume my house and live there, and with her I could not be otherwise than happy.

My mother wished to share with me the care of my daughters' education. Their lessons and their walks occupied our mornings; but in the evenings I could enjoy with a good conscience all the amusements which the society of our dear friends procured for me.

Lady Clarendon lived close by, and it was very rarely that she neglected to inquire if I could make use of her or her carriage in any way during the day. My Scot-tish friends, Lady Hampden, Lady Wedderburne, and Lady Hope, had just established themselves in London; Lord Somerville and his two sisters, Lady Mary and Lady Charlotte, Lord and Lady Templeton, Lord and Lady Bristol, and Miss Upton were all in London when I arrived. That year was a very pleasant one for me.

Every fashion becomes a sort of slavery to which one must submit, even in sensible England. At this time Mrs. Siddons and her brother, Mr. Kemble, were at the height of their fame, and Lady Mary, Miss Upton, and I became absolutely infatuated with them and their incomparable acting. I preferred the tragedies of Shakspeare to a ball; I danced badly, but I was a good listener. However, I often went to Lady Salisbury's assemblies; she was very kind to the French, to whom she had taken a great fancy. Monsieur could find a game of whist there always ready for him; the Prince Regent went there a great deal, and was very affable. I will give you an instance of his extreme courtesy and good-breeding.

One evening I was at Lady Salisbury's with Lady Clarendon, who wished to go for a moment to the house of her sister, Lady Maryborough; she said she would come back for me in a few minutes. Not wishing to keep her waiting, I went down into the vestibule. The Prince Regent came down, saw me, and asked if he could serve me in any way. I made a courtesy and excused myself. "If your carriage has not come yet,

pray take mine," he said, offering me his hand. I drew back, and said very respectfully, but with a negative gesture, "I will wait, Monseigneur, if you please."

"Oh, Madame," he said with a gracious smile, "if I venture to offer you my carriage, you may be sure I should get up behind."

At this moment a footman announced to me that Lady Clarendon's carriage was waiting for me; he made his own carriage draw back, and gave me his hand to assist me into mine, opening the door for me himself.

Very few sovereigns would have done this at all, and I know of none who would have done it so gracefully.

After having spent many years at Mittau and in Sweden, Louis XVIII. wished to be nearer Monsieur, and he asked for an asylum in England; as king, which the English ministry declared they could not grant. This matter was still undecided when suddenly it was announced that the King of France was in sight of Yarmouth.

Monsieur rushed to our house, and said: "Pray do me a service: ask Lord Clarendon at what hour Mr. Pitt goes to the council at Windsor, and if he starts from St. James."

I hastened to my friend's, where I found Mr. Pitt just leaving. I obtained the information I wanted, which I conveyed to Monsieur. He started off at once, went straight to the Park, where he waited a long time, till at last he saw the carriage so long looked for. The minister jumped into it and drove away. Monsieur

came up, and by virtue of his rank as Prince com manded the coachman to stop, opened the door, got in and ordered the postilion to go on.

The minister started up. "Monseigneur is going to Windsor?" he said, in alarm.

"No, but I must speak with you." And he added with a smile, "You have tried to avoid me; but I am sure we shall soon come to an understanding."

The interview was a long one. Monsieur, quite satis fied that the minister was well disposed towards him, a length stopped the carriage, and got out alone on the high road at a late hour and many miles from London Mr. Pitt was greatly disturbed at this, and that same evening he went to Monsieur's house to inform him that the Duke of Buckingham would lend to the *Comte d Lille* one of his mansions, which would be ready for his reception the next day, and that afterwards the King himself would decide as to the course he would take.

Monsieur went to Yarmouth to receive his brother accompanied by the Duc d'Orléans, the Comte de Beaujolais, the Prince de Condé, and the Duc de Bourbon. They tried to persuade the King to go to Scotland; but he refused, and the Duke of Buckingham offered him his estate of Goldenfield, in Essex, which he accepted.

The commander of the port had been ordered to pay all the honours to the King compatible with his incognito, and to permit him to do as he pleased.

Several months later the King leased the house

called Hartwell, which he occupied with the Duc and Duchesse d'Angoulême. Monsieur and the Princes continued to live in London and the neighbourhood, but they made frequent visits to Hartwell.

Lady Hampden's country-seat was not very far from Hartwell, and I often spent several months of the summer there, and during this time the King was so kind as to permit me to dine with him at Hartwell. I often carried to him the latest society news, and did my best to enliven this little court where I was received so kindly. The King liked occasionally to visit Lady Hampden's house, which was very remarkable and contained a fine library, which was placed at his disposal.

The name of Mr. Pitt recalls to my memory a little episode of no especial importance, but which I will relate to you nevertheless. I put down whatever happens to come into my head, without regard to the order of events. You wished it to be so, and I am keeping my word.

You must not judge hastily of customs which are foreign to you, my dear children. You must not compare and confound innocent masquerades in the salons of good society with those which are anything but infantile in Paris.

In England, people mask simply for amusement: ten or twenty women get together in a group; sometimes those who are capable of it try to sustain a character, while the others, as a rule, say nothing. There was a party of this sort in a magnificent garden splendidly

illuminated, belonging to a person of my acquaintance, whose name I cannot now recall. Every one was there: I went with Lady Clarendon, her sister, the Misses Somerville, etc. We disguised ourselves as fortunetellers. Mrs. Wilmot undertook a part which she would have sustained with great spirit, if it had not unfortunately occurred to some one to have a donkey, a veritable donkey with his pannier, in our group! It so happened that the music frightened the donkey, and he began to bray with such persistency that Mrs. Wilmot could not utter a single sentence. We were greeted with shouts of laughter, and nothing was left for us but to hide our mortification as best we might. But this was not all. Just as we were leaving, Mr. Pitt brought up to Mrs. Pole his niece, Lady Hester Stanhope, and begged her to act as chaperon, as it was the young lady's first appearance in society. This proved to be a matter of some difficulty, for Lady Hester seemed at first to be in a very bad temper. Her uncle's introduction seemed to displease her. However, there was nothing for her to do but to join us. She had on a costume which had nothing feminine about it but the mask. It was the first time I had seen her; she seemed to me very tall, very thin, very decided, very independent. When she heard our donkey speaking while we kept silent, she did not hesitate to say that we were more stupid than our ass.

Lady Clarendon, anxious to fulfil her duties as chaperon, was always running after her, but she could never

catch her. When she happened to come anywhere in our direction she would say to us, "Don't bother yourself about me, I am quite independent!" And Mrs. Wilmot, our fortune-teller, might have foretold her future from that one day.

After the death of Mr. Pitt, Lady Hester Stanhope could not bring herself to settle down quietly to a peaceful, commonplace existence. She left England, and established herself on one of the highest mountains of Lebanon, surrounded by slaves and all the luxury of life in the East. She was visited there by travellers who were curious to see her, but they were rarely admitted, especially English people. M. de Lamartine saw her at one time. She was then no longer young, but was still beautiful.

In order to get any idea of the position assumed by this extraordinary woman, you should read the admirable narrative written about her by M. de Lamartine, that great poet of our time, in his book entitled "Lectures pour Tous." I will not copy it, but I recommend you to read it.

One more little anecdote, my children, before I enter upon a narrative which, belonging as it does to the domain of history, may prove to be beyond my powers. Great historians have written about this period; some have treated it admirably, others unjustly, being blinded by prejudice, and my feeble pen could do justice to neither the one nor the other. I shall confine myself, therefore, to describing the part which I have so often

been called upon to play among the princes who memory I revere, and among those to whom I habeen devoted ever since their birth, and shall continut be to the day of my death.

But first let me speak here for the last time of n friend Mr. Fulton. One evening at the Opera, as was seated in the box of the Duke of Portland, wi Lady Mary Bentinck and many others, among the Lord Clarendon, Louis de La Tour du Pin, etc., I sa Mr. Fulton below me in the pit. I related his histo to my friends in a few words. Their curiosity becan greatly excited. He looked up at me. and they a begged me to bow to him graciously, in order to brit him to the box, where they could make acquaintanwith this man, who was already famous. My America encouraged by my bow, arose, darted forward, and a moment he was in the box; without ceremony as without embarrassment, he grasped my hand in cordi greeting. "Oh, what a pleasure to meet you her Mademoiselle Montot!" he cried. "I could hard believe my eyes."

M. de La Tour du Pin, with his sweet and gracion courtesy, said to him, "Monsieur is mistaken, for Madame is the Vicomtesse de Gontaut!" "Oh, de me! This is too much! She is always changing ho name! It is enough to drive one mad! But, as I se these gentlemen are in the secret; and if there is an joke about it I should like to laugh too."

His simple and kindly manner touched me, and

made him sit down beside me, telling him that in a friendly country I could explain to him the mystery of Paris, of Calais, and of London. "Oh, now I understand," he said, "and I congratulate your husband on having a wife who at one time was on the point of turning my head or of sending me to the devil!"

This speech amused my friends very much, and they all welcomed him. I introduced him to Lord Clarendon, thinking that he might be useful to him: Mr. Fulton was delighted with this. They saw a great deal of each other, and before leaving for America he came to thank me for having procured for him, through Lord Clarendon, access to ministers and men of science who could appreciate him, and who even made it possible for him to make a trial of his steamboat at Paris in 1802. But not finding enthusiasm equal to the greatness of his discoveries, he quitted Europe, rather mortified at this lack of interest.

It was this celebrated mechanician who alone discovered the immense power of steam. He constructed in America the first steamboat, which in 1807 successfully navigated the Hudson River. He died in 1815.

I have spoken at length of my friends, but not enough of my dear daughters. I never spent a day apart from them. Having educated them with the aid of my mother, I had the happiness, I may even say the credit, of procuring for them the best masters; and the most skilful physicians watched over their health. Naldi taught them music, Deshaies dancing; every year I

been called upon to play among the princes whose memory I revere, and among those to whom I have been devoted ever since their birth, and shall continue to be to the day of my death.

But first let me speak here for the last time of my friend Mr. Fulton. One evening at the Opera, as I was seated in the box of the Duke of Portland, with Lady Mary Bentinck and many others, among them Lord Clarendon, Louis de La Tour du Pin, etc., I saw Mr. Fulton below me in the pit. I related his history to my friends in a few words. Their curiosity became greatly excited. He looked up at me, and they all begged me to bow to him graciously, in order to bring him to the box, where they could make acquaintance with this man, who was already famous. My American, encouraged by my bow, arose, darted forward, and in a moment he was in the box; without ceremony and without embarrassment, he grasped my hand in cordial greeting. "Oh, what a pleasure to meet you here, Mademoiselle Montot!" he cried. "I could hardly believe my eyes."

M. de La Tour du Pin, with his sweet and gracious courtesy, said to him, "Monsieur is mistaken, for Madame is the Vicomtesse de Gontaut!" "Oh, dear me! This is too much! She is always changing her name! It is enough to drive one mad! But, as I see, these gentlemen are in the secret; and if there is any joke about it I should like to laugh too."

His simple and kindly manner touched me, and I

made him sit down beside me, telling him that in a friendly country I could explain to him the mystery of Paris, of Calais, and of London. "Oh, now I understand," he said, "and I congratulate your husband on having a wife who at one time was on the point of turning my head or of sending me to the devil!"

This speech amused my friends very much, and they all welcomed him. I introduced him to Lord Clarendon, thinking that he might be useful to him: Mr. Fulton was delighted with this. They saw a great deal of each other, and before leaving for America he came to thank me for having procured for him, through Lord Clarendon, access to ministers and men of science who could appreciate him, and who even made it possible for him to make a trial of his steamboat at Paris in 1802. But not finding enthusiasm equal to the greatness of his discoveries, he quitted Europe, rather mortified at this lack of interest.

It was this celebrated mechanician who alone discovered the immense power of steam. He constructed in America the first steamboat, which in 1807 successfully navigated the Hudson River. He died in 1815.

I have spoken at length of my friends, but not enough of my dear daughters. I never spent a day apart from them. Having educated them with the aid of my mother, I had the happiness, I may even say the credit, of procuring for them the best masters; and the most skilful physicians watched over their health. Nalditaught them music, Deshaies dancing; every year I

took them to the seaside or to a watering place, we they were accompanied by a drawing mistress, excellent method, while strengthening their constituons, of cultivating their natural talents without fatige. Charlotte even succeeded in painting landscapes in o and Josephine had a genuine talent for water-colou. An ecclesiastic of great merit spent two years in p paring them for their first communion, which they main a little church still existing in London, where principles and kings at different periods have prayed for France

It would be impossible for me to give any idea of thappiness and delight which my beloved daught have brought to me.

As for Josephine, if the heart could be painted, s would have been the most beautiful of all human cretures. Her whole life was one perfect self-sacrifice, her childhood for her mother and sister, in her marrilife for him whom she so deeply loved. Her death, I cruel death, gave me the only pang she ever caused in

Charlotte was an exquisite creature, pure as an ang fearing evil as one fears death, timid, shrinking, a modest. I cannot resist anticipating ten years. T admirable man whom God in His goodness gave to a dear daughter said to me one day, "Charlotte I only the tip of one foot on this earth."

I had an idea of having an angel sculptured, pois lightly on a terrestrial globe; I would have given h Charlotte's pretty profile, and then I should have h her portrait from head to foot.

At the close of 1813, I was still staying with Lord Bristol, and we followed together on the maps of the seat of war the progress of the allied armies, which marched on with gigantic strides. When I returned to London, I cannot describe the interest and excitement which prevailed; every day brought to us some new story of glory or disaster. It is useless to dwell on them here, for they are imprinted on every one's memory; but I shall never forget one day, when at Lady Clarendon's, in an assembly of distinguished foreigners, ministers and ambassadors of different sovereigns, I heard an eager discussion with regard to the partition of France as something probable, indispensable even. my country! I cannot express to you how I felt! Not a word of the Bourbons; that beloved name was spoken for the first time at Paris in the heart of France, -a name so thoroughly French that it seemed at last like the rainbow in the midst of the storm.

"The sword of Bonaparte brought foreigners to Paris; the sceptre of Louis XVIII. sent them away.

CHATEAUBRIAND."

## CHAPTER V.

1814. — M. de Blacas. — Events of 1814. — Entry of the Comte d'Artois into Paris. — Entry of Louis XVIII. into London, and Return to France. — My Arrival at Paris. — Portrait of Adèle de Gontaut. — The King at Paris. — Fernand de Chabot. — The Ministry. — Reception at the Tuileries and Audience of the King. — Death of my Mother. — Waterloo.

SOME time before the period which we have now reached, the faithful friend of Louis XVIII., the Comte d'Avaray, attacked with a fatal malady of the lungs, was obliged to leave him to go to Madeira: This separation was a great grief to the King, who possessed the rare virtue of gratitude. He never forgot that he owed his liberty, perhaps his life even, to Comte d'Avaray. M. d'Avaray had planned admirably the flight of the Prince, to whom he had devoted his life, from the palace of the Luxembourg to Mons.

Before leaving him to start for Madeira, he racked his memory for a man who might at the moment be employed as the private secretary of the King. He remembered then to have met in Germany a gentleman bravely bearing haversack and gun, marching with the crowd, cool and haughty, and holding aloof from intimacy with any one. M. d'Avaray was struck with his proud and dignified aspect, and he asked his name.

"Blacas d'Aulp," they told him, "a descendant of the ancient sovereigns of the South, and entirely without fortune. Nothing more is known of him than this,—that he has no friends, speaks very little, and has never deserved the slightest reproach." M. d'Avaray was introduced to him, found him intelligent, circumspect, and discreet; he recommended him to the King, who charged him with some commissions to foreign courts.

As he was about to start for Madeira, M. d'Avaray recalled this man and mentioned him to the King, who, thinking he might suit him, consented to have him looked up; he discovered that for several years M. de Blacas had been travelling in Italy, whither his tastes for classic research had drawn him. M. d'Avaray wrote to him to come to Hartwell to take his place as secretary to the King.

I happened to be at Hartwell on the day of M. de Blacas' arrival. The King admitted him; when we went to dine he was placed at table between the Duchesse de Narbonne and myself. Thinking his silence arose from timidity, we exerted ourselves to put him at his ease. When we returned to the salon, the King called the Duchesse de Narbonne to him and asked her opinion of the new arrival.

"He is superb," she said, laughing, "and admirably fitted for the place for which the King destines him: he is dumb, as a private secretary ought to be." The King frowned; by his expression we could all see that

the young man had made a good impression, and we could imagine his future.

His ambition satisfied, M. de Blacas recognised that still he lacked a home, — for he had not a relation in the world.

The Duc de Berry was strongly attached to the Comte de La Ferronnays, who had just married the eldest daughter of the Comtesse de Montsoreau; he spent a great deal of his life in the pleasant home of this family. The Comte de Blacas was admitted there; the young sister of Madame de La Ferronnays, who was gentle, timid, and good, seemed to please him, and to offer him the advantages which he sought. He was accepted, and they sent to Provence for the necessary papers.

During this time, the march of events proceeded. Bordeaux had declared for royalty on the 12th of March. We learned this through a letter from the Duke of Wellington to Lord Bathurst, Secretary of State and Minister of War. In imparting this information, he added:—

"Although I abstain from employing foreign influence in favour of the Royalist party, I think I can best serve it by leaving to this kingdom the honour of recognising its legitimate sovereign. I explained this to the Duc d'Angoulême, and I hope he will hereafter acknowledge the truth of what I have just told you."

My intimate acquaintance with the different members of the aristocracy of all countries, with ministers and ambassadors, furnished me with interesting and reliable details. I often had the pleasure of reporting them at Hartwell; the King received them graciously, but nothing ever transpired with regard to them. Louis XVIII. was prudent and circumspect. As these things were not told to me in confidence, I was at liberty to repeat them, and to give free vent to my own enthusiasm as I carried words of hope to the rendezvous at the house of the Duchesse de Coigny, where I was received with acclamation.

Pozzo di Borgo, a Corsican by origin, after having been Napoleon's friend in childhood, had become his mortal foe. Accompanying the English who were expelled from Corsica, he established himself in London, and became the friend of many friends of mine. Thus I often met him. He was afterwards aide-de-camp to the Emperor of Russia. Having kept up his connection with the English minister, his letters grew more and and more interesting. It was through him that we learned the most exact details with regard to the regency of Marie Louise, proposed by the Senate and opposed by the allied sovereigns, who were not satisfied with it.

"That is not enough for so many victories," they said; "we must have something more than that. The coalition of victorious sovereigns does not represent a war against the country which we have entered, — it is a crusade undertaken against the man who desired to invade every land and to destroy everything, even to the very

heart of empires. We must have more than a truce; there can be no solid treaty with such a man, whose victories are fatal to all countries. We must have a peace which shall content all parties."

"No regency," wrote Pozzo di Borgo, "no truce; we must destroy and wipe out all traces of this man."

Another letter from M. de Talleyrand, of which a copy was sent to us, spoke of chance as a believer would speak of Providence. "Chance," he said, "in revolutions offers itself as a solution in the future."

The Abbé de Montesquiou announced at Hartwell that the Senate had called to the throne of France Louis Stanislas Xavier, brother of the late King, and after him the other members of the Bourbon family, in the former order of succession.

The Princes felt that it was time for them to return to their country,—a magic word to their hearts. The Duc d'Angoulême started for Spain, and the Duc de Berry for Jersey, hoping to succeed in reaching Vendée, where the sacred fire of loyalty to the King still existed. The Comte d'Artois came one day to announce to my mother his immediate departure, and his desire to penetrate, through Lorraine, to the very heart of France. She, who was both pious, timid, and anxious about her beloved Prince, entreated him to wear through the dangers which might beset him a small gold cross containing a little bit of the true Cross. He accepted it with the sweet affectionate smile which was soon to attach to him so many hearts. "I will wear it," he said,

"but only in the hope that you will come to Paris to reclaim it." Alas! that was not to be for her.

The Prince de Talleyrand had caused a large apartment to be prepared in his hôtel for the Emperor of Russia, who consented to occupy it. Caulaincourt was coming there constantly, in the interests of Napoleon, while in the same hôtel MM. de Bruges, de Vitrolles, etc., were working ardently for the cause of Louis XVIII.

The treaty of Fontainebleau of the 11th of April was announced to us, the departure of Marie Louise to return to her father, and finally the definite resolution for the expulsion of Napoleon, and the gift which had been made to him of the island of Elba. Then four days without a single word! Our anxiety was extreme, when at length Lady Bathurst was so good as to send me a letter which her husband had just received. It ran thus:—

"Try to imagine, if you can, how Paris looks at this moment, as I write in this beautiful spring sunshine, in the midst of a dense crowd,—the allied armies dazzling in their gold and silver, Russians, Prussians, and Austrians, two hundred and fifty thousand men, thirty abreast, marching in through one of the magnificent gates of Louis XIV. on the Boulevards, with drums, music, flags; Cossacks calmly parading in the midst of this elegant throng, who receive them, not as conquerors, but as liberators; the streets, balconies, and windows crowded with people. As each sovereign passes, the women throw themselves at their feet, clasping their hands and crying: 'Long live our liberators! Down with the tyrant! Long live the Bourbons!'

"The women at the windows respond to these cries and

demonstrations by similar ones. The white cockade appears everywhere as if by magic, handkerchiefs and dresses even being torn up to serve as flags. Just now everything is white, emblematic of peace, of hope, — of glory, in short. Tell this to our friend; it will make her happy, and she will make it known in the proper quarter."

The Comte d'Artois, on leaving England, had gone in the direction of Nancy, thinking that by following the route and progress of the allied armies he might the more easily get into the capital. MM. de Vitrolles, de Bruges, and all the Royalists ardently desired his presence. The Senate, hearing of his arrival in France, proposed to bestow upon him the title of Lieutenant-General of the Kingdom. He made no response, but pursued his journey towards Paris, and at length reached Livry and the house of Comte Charles de Damas. As soon as the news of his arrival reached Paris, the whole population was in ecstasy. High officers, marshals of the Empire, the nobility, ancient and recent, historic names, and the National Guard of Paris on horseback and on foot, - all, with a single impulse, grouped themselves around the Prince, urging him to permit them to escort him to Paris. He consented at length, and set out, surrounded by this noble escort.

Nothing could be more animating than this improvised procession, guided by individual impulse. At the Porte St. Denis, as they entered on the Boulevards, the enthusiasm was extreme. Only one cry was heard: "Long live our Prince! Long live the French Prince!"

"Yes, my friends," he replied, "it is only one Frenchman the more."

He was, so to speak, swept along to Notre Dame, and then to the Tuileries, where the white flag was hoisted. The sovereigns were awaiting him there. The Emperor Alexander then left the Hôtel de Talleyrand, and established himself at the Elysée.

One day—a great day, which filled my heart with joy such as comes to us but rarely in a lifetime—I saw a little carriage, with four post-horses and a white cockade, driving rapidly up to the place where we held our meetings. I was in the street; I darted forward, and recognised the Comte de Montalembert.

"I have the King's promise," he said; "he will resist no longer; to-morrow he will be in London, and very soon in Paris, where they are expecting him."

The white cockade had been noticed on his entrance into London, and a crowd soon surrounded him. They questioned him, and he was almost carried to our salon, where he confirmed all our hopes. He had been sent by the Duc d'Angoulême from Bordeaux to Paris to the Comte d'Artois, who condescended to confide to him a glorious mission,—that which at length decided the King to leave Hartwell. He told us that the white flag was already hoisted, and the cockade was almost de rigueur.

Charged by Louis XVIII. to announce to the Prince Regent his arrival in London on the following day, his communication was received with sincere pleasure, and the news soon spread throughout the city. Hurrahs greeted M. de Montalembert's carriage, as he set out again for Paris. The crowd did not disperse from the streets in our quarter of the town, but clamoured for white cockades. We all set to work; our zeal and enthusiasm were so great that we threw the cockades out of the window. In a few hours, as if by magic, all the hats of men, women, and children, and all the carriages and diligences, were adorned with the white emblem, and even carried it to a distance.

The English people are generous; they are quick to adopt fresh ideas, and they are not inconstant. The noble and simple conduct of the French *emigrés* had gained the general esteem, and their clergy had won the veneration of all.

The Prince Regent wished to receive Louis XVIII. as a sovereign; but the latter asked to be allowed to stay at a modest hotel. He remained in London only one day, and then proceeded to Paris.

On the glorious day of Louis XVIII.'s entrance into London, the Prince Regent went to meet him, surrounded by the Princes his brothers, all on horseback, escorted by a brilliant body-guard. The whole city was decorated; the streets, the windows, even the trees in the Park and Piccadilly, making a veritable amphitheatre, were in gala attire. The King's calèche passed along in the midst of loud huzzahs. He was accompanied by the Duchesse d'Angoulême; the magnificent cortège accompanied him as far as the Hôtel de Crillon, where

I bowed over his hand; it was a command, and I obeyed.

The next morning, when my daughters woke, I told Josephine of the King's request and Lady Clarendon's offer; and I told Charlotte of the temporary sacrifice which we must both make. Poor Charlotte understood and sighed. Josephine, always unselfish, was grieved at leaving behind her sister, who was the object of her devoted love. It was a great and painful sacrifice for me to leave my mother and Charlotte. When M. de Gontaut, after his name had been erased from the proscription list of the *émigrés*, was recalled by his brother to claim what remained to him of his fortune in the South of France, his children were then eight years old; now they were sixteen. It would have given me great pride and happiness to have taken them both to their father.

The moment of separation was a very sad one: was it a presentiment. My mother held me close in her arms. "You who are going need courage," she said, "and we who remain need resignation."

The Prince Regent invited me to the *fête* which he was giving for the King, and had the great kindness to send one of his carriages for me. My friends took charge of my toilette, and hurriedly made up a dress with a long train, and then they adorned my head with a quantity of feathers (the prescribed court costume). Nothing could be finer than this reception; the great gallery of

Carlton House was dazzling with lights and gilding. The Prince Regent, who had very good taste and was always gracious, kindly, and affable, tried to show his respectful affection for the King of France, and his pleasure in seeing him in his own house, by delicate attentions which made this *fête* a delight to us all. The Prince had invited not only the Princes and Princesses of England, but had taken particular care to collect about the King the faithful *émigrés*, those illustrious names of France, who had afforded a distinguished example of self-devotion.

I had never seen the Prince so amiable; the King was very happy, and I must confess I was enchanted. It was in the midst of this *fête* that an interesting incident occurred.

The Duchesse d'Angoulême met the Duc d'Orléans again for the first time. They were in the embrasure of a window, and every one was looking at them. An expression of sadness and sweetness was engraved on the interesting features of the Princess, where might be read pardon and oblivion. Every one was affected.

This incident was not the only one of the evening. It was already late, and I was thinking of going home, when the Prince stopped me and said: "Wait a moment. The Comte de Blacas is engaged to marry Mademoiselle de Montsoreau; but the marriage has not yet taken place, as they have not been able to procure the necessary papers. By a remarkable coincidence they happened to arrive yesterday. The marriage then seemed impossible;

but would you believe it, Madame, the zeal of M. de La Ferronnays has worked wonders. The priest is ready, Mademoiselle is at the altar with the orange-blossoms in her hair, awaiting her bridegroom; they will be married at midnight, and will depart at eight in the morning and set sail for France with the King. I admire the French spirit and energy," said the Prince; "an Englishman would never have thought of such a thing."

At this moment, M. de Blacas, having taken leave of the King, approached the Prince Regent, who wished him much happiness; he replied only by a profound bow, followed M. de La Ferronnays, and left the room.

This episode, the rumour of which soon spread through the room, became the subject of general conversation.

On the 24th of April, 1814, I was at Lady Clarendon's door, where a post-chaise was waiting. A footman said to me, "My Lady is ill."

I went in, and she tried to reassure me. "It is only a headache," she said, "which a cup of tea (the universal remedy) will soon set right."

It was not so, however, for the physician who was called in declared it to be a fever, so that it was impossible for her to go. Then there was a great consultation. Lord Clarendon, after deciding the question, thought he ought to inform the King and thank him. I took charge of the message. It was noon, and I was obliged to set off at once. The King had already left Dover. When we arrived they told us that one yacht was still waiting.

We embarked; the whole harbour was gayly decorated, the wind was favourable, the sea was covered with ships and barks, everywhere there was music and gaiety. Calais was illuminated. How delightful it all was!

When we arrived we had to find a lodging; we hurried to the Hôtel Grandsire, but my old friend was no longer living. I tried to get my old room, and succeeded.

The crowd everywhere was immense. They showed me the place where the King was holding a reception, and we tried to reach it. In the streets they took us for princesses, because our dress, they said, was like that of the good Duchesse d'Angoulème. The enthusiasm was general and was very touching.

We at last succeeded in reaching the King, when I explained the cause of my delay, and gave him Lady Clarendon's regrets. His Majesty was surrounded by soldiers of all ranks, in uniforms of all colours. One general seemed to be extremely enthusiastic; it was General Maison, commanding the Army of the North at Lille. He had come, out of pure patriotism and without orders, to escort the King to Paris. They told us that he would have the command during the whole journey. I did not like him, he seemed to me rude. He tried to make us stand back, when an usher of the King's who recognised me said to him: "General, don't you know that this is one of the ladies of the court, the god-daughter of the King?" After that he was so excessively attentive as to embarrass me greatly.

Josephine, wishing to know who he was, said, "That man looks very common: is he a marshal?" "No, he is only a general who is putting on airs," replied a venerable Chevalier de St. Louis, who was weeping for joy, though modestly and in silence.

Scarcely were we delivered from the rudeness of General Maison, when, as we reached the salon of the King, a gentleman pushed us aside, though not rudely; but hearing my name, he let us pass, though we were only to fall into a fresh difficulty, for another gentleman, in gold braid, pushed us unmercifully. I looked at him and recognised him; he had once caused me great distress, which I had never forgotten. It was the day before my first communion; I was in retreat with the Sisters of Charity, and I went quietly with them to the old Church of the Madeleine. As I took my place (perhaps I may have mistaken the row), this man pushed me aside roughly. The nuns reproached me with having turned red with anger, and I had to go back and confess, so that I was in despair; and here at Calais, many years later, I met again my old enemy, the Duc de Ducas, more puffed up than ever. The restraints of etiquette had already begun.

The Prince Regent had accompanied the King to the ship on which he was to embark. His last step on English soil was imprinted on the rock, as well as his first step on the soil of France. I do not know whether this stone has survived the revolutions which followed this glorious entry.

They told us that the scene at Calais when Louis XVIII. arrived was very affecting; as soon as his figure was made out on the ship, the joy and enthusiasm knew no bounds. The Duchesse d'Angoulême was greatly agitated, and could not restrain her tears. She inspired profound respect.

On his arrival the King went at once to the church; there the scene was very touching, the happiness general and sincere.

When he had gone back to his apartments, and we had established ourselves in our little room, I found a transparency which the servant of the hotel told us was used according as the occasion required: one side displayed an N, surmounted by an eagle, while on the other were three *fleurs de lis* and "Vive le Roi!" This was the side that was illuminated on the 24th of April.

From Calais and all the neighbouring provinces throngs were constantly pouring in, gentlemen, bourgeois, women, and children, a whole nation whom the same joyous impulse had called together to greet the King so long expected and desired. On the 25th he set out for Paris, very slowly at first, because he wished every one to be able to approach him; then he would stop and speak a few touching words, which were responded to by benedictions.

The King permitted me to go in his train; with some. difficulty, I was able to procure a little post-chaise with two horses; they moved slowly, being constantly

brought to a halt by the authorities of each borough, triumphal arches, addresses by young girls, mayors, curés, etc.

The King stopped at Amiens; it was already late. As he passed my carriage, he looked at me and began to laugh.

"I suppose you think we are going too fast?" he said.

"Oh, Sire," I replied, with a sigh, "we shall never get there."

Whereupon he said very kindly: "Drive on; I will permit it, and I will see you again in Paris." I gladly obeyed.

At Amiens an aide-de-camp of Lord Stuart had given me a letter from Lady Maryborough, who had heard of my coming from her sister; she wrote to me to join her at Hôtel Rastadt, where she was staying. I arrived there the next morning. I knew that the Hôtel Gontaut was only a few steps off; and without losing a moment, without even stopping to take off my English capote, I hurried thither, and without waiting to be announced, I ran into the little salon, where I found all the family assembled. What an agitating scene it was for us all, and - I am glad to say it - what sincere pleasure it gave them to see me again! My heart beat so, I thought it would burst. My eyes fell first upon my sister-in-law, who held out her arms to me; they all surrounded me, except, alas! my poor husband, who was unable to move, for the gout. I thrust Josephine into

his arms, and he could scarcely believe his eyes. He looked round for the other daughter, but I told him that Charlotte, who was more delicate, would soon follow us with my mother, who would travel more quietly than we had done.

There had been two additions to this family circle during my absence, Armand's wife, the Comtesse de Biron, and Charles's wife, Adèle de Gontaut. I was introduced to them, and felt drawn at once to my two nieces. Several other persons, old friends of ours, were also present,—Comte Étienne de Durfort, the Prince de Chalais, etc. How much we had to tell, what a confusion there was of questions and answers, of hopes and expressions of amazement! We were all so happy to meet again after so many years of misfortune and of separation.

They tried to make room for me, — a rather difficult task with the two young families in the Hôtel de Gontaut. I offered to return for the nights to the Hôtel Rastadt, with Lady Maryborough, to which they consented, making the kind condition that I should spend my days with my family. My sister-in-law, who was always good and kind, kept expressing her pleasure that I had not allowed a day to pass before rejoining my family.

My husband, who was so young and active for his age, fond of society and welcome in it, — for he was very gay and agreeable, — was in despair at finding himself a prisoner at this interesting period; but he was obliged to resign himself to his fate, and to receive in his chim-

ney-corner the news and particulars which we were all eager to report to him.

As the King has not yet arrived, I have time to take my dear George on a little visit to the Hôtel de Gontaut. He is already acquainted with the Marquise, and she is not at all changed. Her pretty blond hair, the little spencer, the white skirt, are just the same; she is as ever the peacemaker, in the midst of a diversity of opinions; her very presence is soothing.

The Marquis de Gontaut is active, ardent, eager to hear and tell everything new, always thinking of others, especially of how to oblige them.

We have already spoken of his son, Armand de Biron, then married to Mademoiselle de Damas, and having two sons, the eldest of whom, Henri, was aged eleven or twelve. Madame de Biron appeared cold at first; but she was frank, kindly, and devoted when she found in others qualities to which she could become attached.

Charles de Gontaut had made us a visit in London (though I cannot recollect the exact date); he was very young then, and greatly sought after in Paris, they said. An innocent flirtation with Hortense Beauharnais (the daughter of Josephine, afterwards Empress) made his parents uneasy, as they thought him too young to think of marriage. It was for this reason that they thought it best to send him away for a time. We liked him very much; he possessed all his mother's fascinations, he was pleasant and gay, and was greatly liked in society. During his absence, the wife of the First Consul

## DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT.

arranged the marriage of Mademoiselle de Featherflas with Louis Bonaparte, her brother-in-law, who became King of Holland, and we had the happiness of were oning to our family Adèle de Chabot, daughter of the Duc de Rohan; her mother was Mademoiselle de Montmorency, - I have already spoken to you of them as Prince and Princesse de Léon.

Adèle was very young when she married Charles de Gontaut, and she made his life exquisitely happy. He knew how to appreciate her, and worshipped her as one would worship an angel. She was sweet, gentle, and kindly, and pleasing in every way with her charming face and her modest grace. In short, Adèle was the model whom I held up for my daughters to copy.

The slow approach of the King leaves me time to copy a letter from my darling Josephine, which I found after her death. She describes better than I can Adèle de Gontaut, at that time her sister-in-law.

"Adèle read to me one day some lines written by herself on the character of one of her friends, Madame Amédée Thayer, calling my attention to the lostiness of her views, to her thoughts, which were almost divine, her virtues, and her entire resignation to the will of God in all the circumstances of her life; my sister regarded this person as a saint, and she declared that she believed it would be impossible to find another who with the same advantages of face and figure (for she was very beautiful), of youth and of rank, would practise as much self-denial as she, display as much true and solid piety, as much devotion and resignation to the will of God. She forgot in saying this, my poor dear sister, that she herself was this second

saint whom it was impossible to find; she forgot that she shared the same sentiments that she regarded as sublime in others; but such is her modesty, so great is her perfection, that she sees only the good qualities of others, never her own. But I, who have known her for twenty-five years, who love her tenderly, who cherish her like a sister, I love to trace in these lines all that I think of her. I should like to have her character known to the world; I wish above all that it might be made known to young people, in order that they might see what piety and religious sentiments can accomplish.

"She is indulgent towards others, but severe towards herself, fulfilling all the duties of wife, mother, sister, friend, in all the smallest details, with the most scrupulous exactness. She never speaks ill of any one, and if anything unkind is said before her, she finds some excuse for the person attacked. She is good and gentle to all around her, never judging the conduct of others, and having always a pleasant smile for all who approach her."

I was very glad to meet once more the friends of my youth. Mademoiselle de Matignon, now Baroness de Montmorency, had not forgotten me, nor had Madame de Matignon her mother. I often met them now, and also Aménaïde and Henriette d'Andlau. Aménaïde had become Comtesse d'Orglande, and Henriette, Comtesse de Rosambeau. Then there were Madame de Jumilhac and Madame de Montcalm, and Mademoiselle d'Aussun, who was now Duchesse de la Force. I met again Madame de Valence, and I found at her house a circle quite new to me. They talked a great deal about the court, a court quite strange to my Legitimist ears. They were delighted to hear that the Queen was wonder-

fully well. A certain young and handsome M. de Lawœstine had just come from her; they all crowded round him to hear what he had to say about her. I racked my brain to think what sovereign's wife this queen could be. I even thought of the beautiful Queen of Russia, and I asked the question in a low tone of Madame de Valence, who replied aloud: "Why, it is Queen Hortense." I perceived that they were scandalised at my ignorance, and I frankly confessed it. even sacrificed my costume, which attracted a great deal of attention. They saw that the islander was goodnatured, and that made her popular. Encouraged by this to ask questions, they inquired gaily what could be the reason of the great quantity of gold pendants, which were the only ornaments of my black spencer and the cuffs on my sleeves. I explained that they were all the fashion in London, and that the Duke of Wellington had brought them to me from Spain.

"She is very proud of it," said Madame de Valence, laughing; "the Duke of Wellington is her hero, and I can quite understand it."

The King approached nearer and nearer, but very slowly. At length he arrived at St. Ouen, and stopped there for several days. A deputation, with M. de Talleyrand at the head, composed of all the several bodies of the State, was received by him there. In spite of all the advice which was showered upon the King, he would not take a single step, or utter a word which could be in any way interpreted into an engagement binding upon

him. Then, suddenly appeared the famous proclamation of St. Ouen, at the same moment with the announcement of his arrival in Paris on the following day; they were both immediately posted up in all quarters of the town. Copies were to be found in every salon. These were the opening words:—

"Louis XVIII., by the grace of God King of France and Navarre, to all to whom these presents may come, greeting, etc."

The rest of the proclamation promised a liberal constitution, and closed by convoking the Senate and the Legislative body for the 3d of May, in order to accept the Constitutional Charter which the King promised them. The effect of this declaration was prodigious; the people received it with acclamation, and there was a perfect revolution in favour of royalty. The King wisely profited by it by arriving the next day, the 3d, in Paris.

On the 3d of May, 1814, the sun shone brilliantly; the crowd was dense as far out as the gates of Paris, in the villages, in the suburbs, where all were awaiting the arrival of the King. At last he appeared, and the universal enthusiasm knew no bounds; every heart was moved with deep and sincere emotion on seeing him enter Paris once more. Eight white horses, with plumes of the same colour, proudly drew the carriage in which sat the venerable King; beside him was she whom he called his Antigone; on horseback, beside his carriage door, rode the Comte d'Artois, radiant

with happiness and grace, saluting the people like a man welcoming his friends; all the princes, marshals, and the *élite* of the nobility, the glory of our age, rode in the long and splendid procession. Nothing can give any adequate idea of this moment; one can feel enthusiasm, but it is impossible to describe it.

Shouts of delight announced the arrival of this precious calèche, the memory of which will never fade from my mind. That moment was one of those which one can never forget, — unclouded happiness, a hope which one did not dream could be disappointed.

The King perceived us at a window in the Rue St. Denis. He gave us a smile which only increased my emotion; I believe I sobbed and cried. Josephine enjoyed it all as I did, for our characters were very much alike. The rest of the day passed like those of all royal entries; the ceremony of the pardons at Notre Dame was very affecting,—the same crowd and excitement everywhere; then the arrival at the Tuileries, where the sovereigns were awaiting the King.

They told us that the Duchesse d'Angoulême, on entering the apartment prepared for her, had fainted. It was the one she had occupied with her august and unhappy parents.

A reflection of the royal welcome extended even to us, and all Paris greeted us with great kindness.

Dazzled and overcome with all we had been through, we returned to the Hôtel de Gontaut, pitying those who had not been able to witness it. They made us tell them everything, — the graciousness of the King, the interest aroused by the sight of the Duchesse d'Angoulême; and each one felt in his heart that at last he was permitted to dream of a happy future.

Lady Mornington and some other English friends of mine wished to participate in all the gaieties that were going on in Paris. We promised to meet in order to enjoy them and to traverse on foot this joyous Paris, where we were so glad to find ourselves again. We were to meet in the Rue Royale, at the house of Lord and Lady Burghersh. M. Fernand de Chabot was so kind as to act as escort to Josephine and myself. He would have liked better, I think, to leave us at the door, but I urged him to go in with us. He was too kind and polite to refuse.

We found there the chief officers of the allied armies, among whom were many friends of mine,—Lord and Lady Fitz-Roy Somerset, Lord Stuart, etc. I could hardly shake hands with them all. Amid all the uproar I noticed the icy calmness of M. de Chabot when I presented him to the English staff-officers, the cause of which I understood only when it was too late.

Lady Mornington, taking his silence for timidity, and wishing to encourage him, took his arm and declared that she would not leave him all the evening. We left the house surrounded by the brilliant staff, with Lady Mornington and Fernand always at the head. To make his entry into the Place Louis XV. thus was more than he could bear; however, the ever-increasing crowd gave

him the hope of escaping from the amiable attentions of Lady Mornington, which became more and more oppressive every moment. To spend the whole evening thus, he felt would be quite unbearable. A sudden surge of the crowd came to his assistance; he felt that he had not a moment to lose: he made one final effort, escaped from Lady Mornington's arm, and was seen no more. I saw the whole, but I said nothing, and I could not help laughing.

And just here, my children, I must pause a moment to relate to you some details of your father's early years which may be unknown to you.

At eighteen he possessed a noble face and a fine figure, and was remarkable for his energy and his skill in all manner of exercises; in short, every one said he was charming, and I can well believe it. About that time a costume ball was given, at which he appeared as Henry IV., - mantle, ruff, and all complete, His appearance created a sensation; the orchestra struck up spontaneously the Cantata of "Vive Henri IV." There was great applause; every one rose to their feet, saying, "Yes, it is Henry IV. in his youth!" His success was complete. Gérard, the famous painter, was present; struck by this perfect type of the good king, he asked your father to grant him the favour of sitting to him later, so that he might use his features for a picture which he was planning of the entry of Henry IV. into Paris. Gérard himself told me this.

This ball was greatly talked about in Paris. The rumour

of it reached the Tuileries, and presently Fouché, Minister of Police, sent for your father and told him that the Emperor had expressed a desire to have him enter the army.

"It will be hard for me to get my parents' consent," replied Fernand.

"Why, are you going to be a priest?"

From his reply Fouché perceived that such a destiny was little to his taste. The Emperor then sent officers' commissions to twenty young men of the first families of France, but Fernand was appointed to the school of cavalry at St. Germain.

Just at this time the marriage of his cousin, Mademoiselle de La Rochefoucauld, with Prince Aldobrandini Borghese took place at the Hôtel de La Rochesoucauld. Queen Hortense was there; she saw Fernand, and questioned him with regard to his future, asking if he had received his commission as officer. Upon his replying in the negative and confessing that he was not greatly charmed with the idea of going to the *Ecole*, she went straight to the Tuileries, and an hour later sent her chamberlain, Comte de Villeneuve, to inform him that he was appointed second lieutenant to the Fourth regiment of cuirassiers, under the command of his new cousin, Prince Aldobrandini. Certainly nothing could be more gracious than this prompt nomination, or than the appropriateness of the choice of regiments. He joined the regiment immediately, which was near Vienna at the close of the campaign of 1809; then he was quartered at Krems and Salzburg, came to Augsburg with his regiment, was detailed as escort to Marie Louise, was appointed second lieutenant and aide-de-camp to Comte de Narbonne (who was himself aide-de-camp to the Emperor), which placed Fernand in the position of ordnance officer to the Emperor, who from that time was exceedingly kind to him. It was at Wilna that he gave him his first mission, that of carrying to the Emperor of Russia the ultimatum of France. In 1812 he received the cross at Moscow, received ten lance wounds. lost all that he possessed, horses, effects, etc., was present at all the engagements, at the passage of the Beresina, at Torgau, where he had the grief of seeing his general, Comte de Narbonne, die in his arms. the beginning of 1814 he was charged with carrying the capitulation of Torgau to the Emperor; he followed him to Brienne in order to give it into his own hands, and reached the castle after great difficulties, only to find the Emperor no longer there. An aide-de-camp of Comte de Langeron, who had been commissioned to escort him as safeguard, had disappeared in the midst of the tumult. Fernand at length rejoined the Emperor in the battle-field, and there discharged his commission. The Emperor conversed with him under fire as coolly. as if in his own salon, and even asked him if he had heard the Bourbons spoken of, to which he replied in the negative. When people are fighting to the death, they say very little. Fernand was with the Emperor during a part of this campaign. Being in need of everythem everything,—the graciousness of the King, the interest aroused by the sight of the Duchesse d'Angoulême; and each one felt in his heart that at last he was permitted to dream of a happy future.

Lady Mornington and some other English friends of mine wished to participate in all the gaieties that were going on in Paris. We promised to meet in order to enjoy them and to traverse on foot this joyous Paris, where we were so glad to find ourselves again. We were to meet in the Rue Royale, at the house of Lord and Lady Burghersh. M. Fernand de Chabot was so kind as to act as escort to Josephine and myself. He would have liked better, I think, to leave us at the door, but I urged him to go in with us. He was too kind and polite to refuse.

We found there the chief officers of the allied armies, among whom were many friends of mine,—Lord and Lady Fitz-Roy Somerset, Lord Stuart, etc. I could hardly shake hands with them all. Amid all the uproar I noticed the icy calmness of M. de Chabot when I presented him to the English staff-officers, the cause of which I understood only when it was too late.

Lady Mornington, taking his silence for timidity, and wishing to encourage him, took his arm and declared that she would not leave him all the evening. We left the house surrounded by the brilliant staff, with Lady Mornington and Fernand always at the head. To make his entry into the Place Louis XV. thus was more than he could bear; however, the ever-increasing crowd gave

him the hope of escaping from the amiable attentions of Lady Mornington, which became more and more oppressive every moment. To spend the whole evening thus, he felt would be quite unbearable. A sudden surge of the crowd came to his assistance; he felt that he had not a moment to lose: he made one final effort, escaped from Lady Mornington's arm, and was seen no more. I saw the whole, but I said nothing, and I could not help laughing.

And just here, my children, I must pause a moment to relate to you some details of your father's early years which may be unknown to you.

At eighteen he possessed a noble face and a fine figure, and was remarkable for his energy and his skill in all manner of exercises; in short, every one said he was charming, and I can well believe it. About that time a costume ball was given, at which he appeared as Henry IV., - mantle, ruff, and all complete. His appearance created a sensation; the orchestra struck up spontaneously the Cantata of "Vive Henri IV." There was great applause; every one rose to their feet, saying, "Yes, it is Henry IV. in his youth!" His success was complete. Gérard, the famous painter, was present; struck by this perfect type of the good king, he asked your father to grant him the favour of sitting to him later, so that he might use his features for a picture which he was planning of the entry of Henry IV. into Paris. Gérard himself told me this.

This ball was greatly talked about in Paris. The rumour

of it reached the Tuileries, and presently Fouché, Minister of Police, sent for your father and told him that the Emperor had expressed a desire to have him enter the army.

"It will be hard for me to get my parents' consent," replied Fernand.

"Why, are you going to be a priest?"

From his reply Fouché perceived that such a destiny was little to his taste. The Emperor then sent officers' commissions to twenty young men of the first families of France, but Fernand was appointed to the school of cavalry at St. Germain.

Just at this time the marriage of his cousin, Mademoiselle de La Rochefoucauld, with Prince Aldobrandini Borghese took place at the Hôtel de La Rochefoucauld. Queen Hortense was there; she saw Fernand, and questioned him with regard to his future, asking if he had received his commission as officer. Upon his replying in the negative and confessing that he was not greatly charmed with the idea of going to the *École*, she went straight to the Tuileries, and an hour later sent her chamberlain, Comte de Villeneuve, to inform him that he was appointed second lieutenant to the Fourth regiment of cuirassiers, under the command of his new cousin, Prince Aldobrandini. Certainly nothing could be more gracious than this prompt nomination, or than the appropriateness of the choice of regiments. He joined the regiment immediately, which was near Vienna at the close of the campaign of 1809; then he was quartered at Krems and Salzburg, came to Augsburg with his regiment, was detailed as escort to Marie Louise, was appointed second lieutenant and aide-de-camp to Comte de Narbonne (who was himself aide-de-camp to the Emperor), which placed Fernand in the position of ordnance officer to the Emperor, who from that time was exceedingly kind to him. It was at Wilna that he gave him his first mission, that of carrying to the Emperor of Russia the ultimatum of France. In 1812 he received the cross at Moscow, received ten lance wounds. lost all that he possessed, horses, effects, etc., was present at all the engagements, at the passage of the Beresina, at Torgau, where he had the grief of seeing his general. Comte de Narbonne, die in his arms. the beginning of 1814 he was charged with carrying the capitulation of Torgau to the Emperor; he followed him to Brienne in order to give it into his own hands, and reached the castle after great difficulties, only to find the Emperor no longer there. An aide-de-camp of Comte de Langeron, who had been commissioned to escort him as safeguard, had disappeared in the midst of the tumult. Fernand at length rejoined the Emperor in the battle-field, and there discharged his commission. The Emperor conversed with him under fire as coolly. as if in his own salon, and even asked him if he had heard the Bourbons spoken of, to which he replied in the negative. When people are fighting to the death, they say very little. Fernand was with the Emperor during a part of this campaign. Being in need of everything and finding himself near the capital, he thought he would enter, in order to procure the necessary equipments; he found no difficulty, as it was the very moment when the allies were making their entrance into Paris.

Is it surprising that Fernand should have felt a chill come over him when I took him on a party of pleasure among these foreigners whom he had met before, but never except with sword in hand?

On the following day, the address of St. Ouen was greatly commented on and discussed, the word *liberal* having occasioned displeasure. The enthusiasm of the day before began to die out, and people began to whisper to one another. The King had been closeted part of the night with Prince de Talleyrand, and people were surprised, and were impatient to hear the result. I understood it all, and began to suffer. "What, are they finding fault with him already?"

"Have you never heard that word before?" asked a respectable magistrate. "Did they not find fault with him over there?"

"Fault-finding," I replied, "was unheard of in exile; one might have felt compassion, but one felt that it was more just to feel admiration."

This night-session, of which people had been whispering, became public during the day. The King had appointed a Chancellor, M. d'Ambray, an honourable name, though little known; the Abbé de Montesquiou, who had been commissioned, it was said, to carry to

Hartwell the messages from M. de Talleyrand during the occupation of the allied powers, was made Minister of Finance; two abbés presented by M. de Talleyrand were the occasion of witty remarks which I refrain from writing down; M. Beugnot, weak and frivolous, was not approved of for Minister of Police. The ministry for Foreign Affairs was placed in the hands of Prince de Talleyrand, which seemed comprehensible; and, finally, M. de Blacas was made Minister of the King's Household. Up to this time his very existence was unknown in France. I was the only one who knew him, so people came to me for information; and I repeated his history as we had heard it at Hartwell more than a hundred times, and that was all there was to say about him at that time.

In the midst of the acclamations the piercing eyes of the King had remarked that coldness was only kept in check by respect among the ranks of the Imperial Guard. They tried to hide it from him, but he perceived it nevertheless. From that moment he conceived the idea of surrounding the throne with a military household, composed of body-guards, gendarmes of the guard, grey and black musketeers, light-horse Swiss guards, different official ranks being given to each soldier, court-privileges in hunting, in the royal residences, etc.

The opposition which the King had expected did not deter him, as he hoped to conciliate all parties by appointing as chiefs of this noble body marshals, gene-

rals of the army of the Empire, and great names of the ancient *régime* and of the new monarchy. As soon as this plan was formed, he announced it, feeling persuaded that the novelty and brilliancy of this *corps* d'élite could not fail to please the Parisians.

Hardly was the King established at the Tuileries, when every one rushed thither, and all who presented themselves were received. Two soirles were given to ladies; the crowd at the first reception was enormous. I was horribly impatient to see the King and Princes again, but I had discretion enough to wait for the second day.

The brilliant cares of the toilette occupied every one in society. I had thought my dress very elegant in London; I wore it again at the Tuileries, only without feathers, and every one took me for a foreigner. The ladies all rushed towards the door opening into the throne-room. I was amused, myself, looking on at a scene so novel to me, when a very amiable person came up to me and said: "If you wait there so patiently, you will never get in; if you don't push your way in, you will be left out. Follow me, and I will give you a sight of the King and Princes."

I followed her; by dint of elbowing the person in front of her, the lady managed to make some progress; at each courtesy she turned round to me and said; "Courtesy!" But I was so overcome with emotion that she could not get much out of me.

As soon as the Princes saw me they held out their

hands; I asked for an audience of the King, who granted it for the following day.

When I reached the Tuileries the next morning, some of the old servants told me that his Majesty was expecting me; I was received in his cabinet. He overwhelmed me with kindness, made me tell him all about my meeting with my family, and told me that he had not yet seen M. de Gontaut, but that he had recognised his brother in the crowd, close to him. Recalling the fact that I had asked for an audience, he wished to know the cause. Then, like a child who has learned her lesson, I began to relate my history, going back to the period of the first titles in France. He stopped me, and being much better informed on the subject than I was, he gaily continued the story until he came to the last Maréchal de Biron, who died in 1788, leaving two brothers, one, the Abbé Duc, the other Duc de Gontaut. father of the Duc de Lauzun, who became Duc de Biron after the death of the Maréchal. There he stopped, and said sadly, "Don't let us speak of that; let us think rather of your long line of noble ancestors." At this point I ventured to interrupt him, begging that he would permit me to hope that during his reign this long succession would not be interrupted now. He said firmly that in future the title of Duc would be transmissible only in the direct line, but that he should establish two chambers, one of peers and one of deputies, and that he would not forget my desire to be useful to my family. There was nothing left for me to do

but thank him for the hope he had permitted me to indulge on behalf of my brother-in-law, now become the head of the family.

Preparations were being made for great festivities, in which ambassadors and ministers took part. The Bois de Boulogne was the bivouac of the English, St.-Cloud the camp of the Austrians, where Prince Schwarzenberg gave a ball which the French Princes attended. We were invited; my sister-in-law gave Josephine a charming ball-dress trimmed with lilies. She looked lovely, and was very happy when we started off for this ball. It was her first appearance in society; she was engaged to dance as soon as she appeared. At this moment the Duc de Berry came up to me and said, "My father is looking for you."

He gave me his arm and we found the Comte d'Artois, who sat down beside me at a window. The Duc de Berry stood up beside us. The kindly but preoccupied manner of the Princes made me feel anxious, but I did not dare to ask any questions. I had one of those intuitions which rarely deceive us.

- "I wanted to ask if you had heard from London lately," said the Comte d'Artois, at length.
  - "I have not heard lately, I do not know why," I said.
- "I wish to explain to you that your mother has scarlet fever; and you know how she has always dreaded it. Her friend, Madame de Manciny, carried it to her from the bed of a sick friend. She is seriously ill, but she has excellent care. Your friends there are doing

everything possible for her and Charlotte. I thought I ought to tell you, for I know you will wish to start at once."

I trembled so that Monsieur saw how this news had overwhelmed me; but he did not detain me. He continued: "When I left London, your dear mother gave me this little cross; I have kept my promise religiously, and have worn it until now, It will protect you as it has protected me."

These last words gave me a ray of hope. Did he say this in his kindness, to give me strength to keep up until I could reach the bedside of my beloved mother?

At this moment Josephine rejoined me, learned the cause of my anxiety, and was as eager to start as I was.

"I foresaw this prompt resolution," added Monsieur, "and one of my carriages is waiting for you; it will take you to Paris."

An aide-de-camp accompanied us. I found my carriage, and in a short time I was set down at the Hôtel Rastadt, where our preparations were quickly made. We then drove to the Hôtel de Gontaut. M. de Gontaut, who was still ill, was awakened; I told him of my mother's illness, and he was much grieved at not being able to go with us.

The bells of the post-chaise now announced that everything was ready, and we started alone, Josephine and I. I had left with my mother the excellent person who had taken care of her for years, as well as of my daughters and myself. All our friends knew and appre-

ciated Sarah's good qualities, and in my cruel anxiety the thought of Sarah was a great comfort to me.

During the journey Josephine looked after everything and shared my grief; that sad night and a whole day passed before we reached Calais. It was already dark and the weather was frightful; it was out of the question to cross, they told us. During that night and all the next day the equinoctial storm continued to rage. The sea was very rough, not a ship or a bark was in sight; it was impossible to start, and a third night passed without hope of improvement. Suspense like this was very trying.

I might be able to start. I had the misery of knowing that during the night a despatch boat belonging to the English government had been able to cross, though with great danger and difficulty. They had feared I should not have courage to make the attempt, and they had not informed me of it. A part of this day passed before we could leave the harbour, and the crossing was very tedious. We did not reach Dover until five o'clock in the morning. The public coach was waiting, and we started at once for London. I was in a perfect fever at the delay.

We said nothing; it is impossible to talk when one is suffering tortures of anxiety; we clasped each other's hands, and could feel how they trembled as we approached that house where happiness or the most cruel grief awaited us.

## DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT.

"My mother!" I cried, "oh, to think of losing mother! Oh, why did I ever leave her!"

At last we came in sight of our house; all the windows were shut except that of my mother's room, which was wide open. I knew too well what had happened.

Josephine darted out, knocked at the door, and learned that my mother had been dead for three days. Bursting into tears, she took me in her arms, and spoke to me of Charlotte, who was expecting us, and entreated me to get into the carriage again. I did so. The woman of the house directed us to Lady Templeton's. It was there that we learned all the particulars of our misfortune; it was there our beloved Charlotte had been welcomed by her friends, whose tender care had replaced mine. Miss Upton, Lady Hampden, and all our friends had never left either my mother or Charlotte; they had taken charge of everything, had given her every comfort. The consolations of religion had been lavished upon my poor mother by the venerable Abbé Chaumon. She had wanted for nothing; she had heard of the arrival of her beloved Princes in Paris, which was the desire of her heart. Her prayers were answered. "I want nothing more," she said, "except to die in my daughter's arms."

When misfortunes come, the Christian bows to the will of God. In sending the affliction, God also gives us strength to bear it. I have had experience of this, alas!

As Charlotte's health, which had been strengthened by the last winter spent at Tunbridge, no longer caused me anxiety, I yielded to the entreaties of my family, and decided to return to France. With this intention I began my preparations for the journey. It was the brilliant season in London, and I found there all my former circle, and my daughters found their friends. They were especially intimate with the Ladies Paget, daughters of Lady Uxbridge (the elder is now Lady Richmond, the younger, Lady Sidney). These charming young ladies as well as my daughters were very fond of music; I think I said that Naldi was their music-master.

He had a charming daughter of sixteen or seventeen; her talent even at that age was very remarkable. One rarely heard her play, as her father did not wish her to appear in public until later; but he promised to bring. her to me one evening. Every one was eager to hear her, and the day was appointed, when there was a rumour that Napoleon had landed at Cannes. Every one thought it perfect nonsense, and I found it very hard to believe, as I had just received a letter from the Duc de Berry, describing a party given by him, beginning with a hunt in the Bois de Boulogne, then a breakfast, dinner, and a small ball in his pretty mansion, Bagatelle. Some of my family had been present, and he had the kindness to say that nothing was wanting but my presence. A letter from Lady Bagot described the same fête, and the balls and gaieties of Paris.

The rumour of this landing, at first received with indifference, began to assume an air of probability; then we heard from sources that left no room for doubt that Napoleon was approaching with wonderful rapidity. Everywhere preparations were made for defence: Monsieur stated for Lyons; the Duc d'Orléans, carrying out the mission with which he had been charged, was also en route; but scarcely had he reached Lyons, when he was seized with a prophetic fear of the rapid progress of events, and he obtained Monsieur's authority for his return to Paris.

Monsieur, feeling anxious concerning the attitude that might be assumed by Ney in this crisis, immediately sent to him Comte de Bourbon-Busset, who had served for many years under the Maréchal, in order to sound him and to warn him of the defection of Colonel Labédoyère, as well as of Bonaparte's rapid march upon Lyons. This general officer left at once by post-chaise for Besancon, the headquarters of the Sixth Military Division, which the Maréchal commanded. At three o'clock in the morning General Bourbon-Busset entered the chamber of his former chief, and waked him out of a sound sleep. At the first word the Maréchal jumped out of bed, ran to his bell without stopping to put on any clothes, called up General Bourmont, his chief of staff, hurriedly dictated to him the order to place instantly his regiments of light cavalry in marching order, and to put under arms successively all the troops under his command, and direct them upon

Lons-le-Saunier. M. de Bourbon-Busset, though delighted with this decision and the promptness of this resolution, still thought he ought to remind the Maréchal of the defection of Labédoyère, and to remark upon the danger of bringing the new corps too lightly into contact with those who had just changed their flag. But the Maréchal, drawing himself up proudly, replied: "Do you think, Bourbon-Busset, because you see me in my night-clothes, that therefore I am going back to bed? No, I most certainly am not; I shall march at the head of my advance-guard; I am, as you know, a tolerably good shot; I will load and fire the first cartridge, I will give the first sword-thrust; and we will see if for the first time in my life French soldiers under my command will refuse to follow and obey me."

You know, my dear children, your uncle's love of military glory, and now his blood glowed in his veins, and his enthusiasm for Ney reached the highest pitch of enthusiasm; for how could he possibly believe that on the very next day the bravest of the brave would prove so easily accessible to such a fatal and odious treason?

I had everything to fear for our country, for the King, for our own family; already I was thinking of providing for them a refuge which my friends, who were always ready to oblige me, offered. I implored M. de Gontaut to join us; days passed without bringing any reply; it is painful to hear absolutely nothing of those who are dear to us. At length the Duc de Rohan

arrived in London, and brought me tidings which nearly broke my heart,—our relatives already on their way to the South; the King fled; a succession of misfortunes which must naturally follow; Europe shaken to its foundations; perhaps a civil war, a second invasion!

You, of course, know more about this period, my dear George, than I did at that time, so it is useless to speak of what I feared.

At the time of the Duc de Rohan's departure, the King was just leaving the Tuileries, directing his course towards Belgium, surrounded by his civil and military household. Charles de Gontaut, who belonged to this corps d'armée, wished to accompany the King, and Adèle went with him.

Nothing could be more interesting than the stories told us by the Duc de Rohan; he knew how to soothe our fears, and to give us hope by his own courage. I have seldom met a man who was so good and so attractive. Eager to rejoin the King, he left us only too soon, but we could not keep him.

A letter from Adèle informed me that her husband had been taken ill at Ypres, and had been obliged to remain there. The Comtesse Thibaud de Montmorency, her aunt, received them at the house of the Marquis d'Harchies, who was her father, and they were most tenderly cared for.

A few days later the Princes arrived there, and were received with most affecting homage, lavished upon them by the *châtelain* and his amiable daughter, who found means of soothing the first shock of these untoward events. Some years after, the Comte d'Artois, in telling me of the noble reception he met with from the Marquis d'Harchies, said, "I can never forget nor cease to be grateful for the attentions which they showered upon me."

While the King, the Princes, the ministers, and ambassadors are travelling towards Brussels, I shall have time to say a word of that excellent aunt whom you have learned to appreciate as she deserves. I did not know her then; later, I shall speak of the time when I saw her frequently, and, knowing every action of her life, grew to love her fondly; and to know her once was to love her forever.

"Nothing lasts in this world!" I must insist upon two exceptions to this sad truth, — maternal love and gratitude. As to public interest, nothing is more fickle. One gets horribly frightened, but one is as easily reassured. They were already talking of the gaieties of Brussels; people even said jestingly that the army was dancing. My daughters' young friends thought it was time now to claim the promise which had been given of hearing Mademoiselle Naldi. Three months of mourning is a long time for young people; they all joined in urging it upon me, and I had the weakness to consent to give the famous little concert. Mademoiselle Naldi was listened to with delight, as well as Sor, my daughters' teacher of the guitar. It was in the midst of these

sweet sounds that the rumour spread through London of a great victory, that of Waterloo.

Presently there came a note from Lady Uxbridge, asking that her daughters might be sent home; an aidede-camp of the Minister of War came to give Lord Maryborough a note from his brother, the Duke of Wellington, which said, as I remember: "Fitz-Roy had an arm taken off at the end of a most desperate struggle: Lady Fitz-Roy is at Brussels with him; send his mother as soon as possible. We have immense losses to deplore. Lord Uxbridge has had his thigh amputated on the field of battle; it was the very last gun that was fired that wounded him, alas!" Lady Augusta Paget fainted; Lord and Lady Maryborough rushed out of the house and hurried to the War Department. Many others followed them.

The list of the dead and wounded was read amid tears and sobs.

The effect in London of this memorable battle, which ended a whole war, was wonderful. The people were intoxicated with joy, the streets and squares resounded with the name of Wellington.

How many times in the course of a half century have we witnessed public rejoicings, in all countries, expressed in all languages, and the popular amusements and brilliant illuminations which are the emblems of it! But what has perhaps never before been known, is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The pen falls from my hand when I attempt to describe this period. As a Frenchwoman, I was profoundly affected by it.

sincere modesty of the conqueror who was the object of all this adulation. I have read many letters from the Duke of Wellington to his friends, in which he spoke simply and almost naïvely of his emotions during thirteen hours of the desperate battle of Waterloo, his doubts of the victory at the moment of Blücher's appearance; he spoke with justice and even with admiration of the valour of the French, which he had learned to appreciate during the war in Spain; but what he could not account for was the time wasted, and the position Napoleon occupied, sheltered from danger.

What is really remarkable is the justice and modesty of the two generals, who, when they met, held out their arms, each giving to the other the credit and honour of the victory.

Afterwards, when Blücher came to London he was surrounded and nearly suffocated by the crowd, who in their enthusiasm tried to grasp his hands, so that at last he said playfully that he would be obliged to have some extra ones made.

A friend and admirer of Wellington happened to find himself at Waterloo, in the *melle* of that memorable day. He took notes, drew up plans, and wrote a description, which he sent to the Duke, expecting to receive warm thanks and gratitude for this arduous toil. This is the Duke's reply:—

"You must allow me, my friend, to discourage you in this undertaking, for, believe me, at such a moment one may recall small isolated details (even all, let us say, if that is possible),

the consequence of which is victory or defeat. But the precise order, the proper succession of events, in a word, all that would give them any real value, no one can possibly put together; and, moreover, the faults and mistakes of some officers may perhaps have given to others an opportunity of distinguishing themselves. You cannot praise one without showing severity towards others. It is better, perhaps, to keep silence than to tell everything.

"That convulsive anxiety, that theatrical melancholy which you describe with such eloquence, would simply have led our heroes to a mad-house, instead of conducting them on the road to glory.

"Believe me, my friend, this victory is fine enough in itself to console us perfectly for any checks already received; let us then be content, and leave to history the task of awarding the credit of it."

VOL. I. - 12

## CHAPTER VI.

The White Flag. — Death of the Princesse de Léon.— Marriag the Duc de Berry. — Marriage of Josephine. — M. de Bourbon Busset. — I am appointed Lady-in-Waiting. — Marriage of Charlotte. — Madame de Meffray (Suzette de La Tour). — Mrs. Brown.

AFTER a hundred days of agitation and uncertainty, the King, seeing that there was a prospect of his speedy return to France, gave a mission to Comte de Bourbon-Busset, who, passing through Ypres, stopped there for a short time at the house of the Marquis d'Harchies, where he found his friends the Comte and Comtesse Charles de Gontaut, and the Comtesse Thibaud de Montmorency, whose acquaintance he was very glad to make. Carried away by the enthusiasm of these ladies for the cause which he had nearest his heart, he confided to them his mission, which he declared would have an immense chance of success, if they would consent to embroider immediately the first white flag which should renew the miracles wrought by the white plume of Henri IV. Their joyous exclamations were unanimous, and conveyed to the General their consent to his proposition. From this moment nothing was heard but discussions concerning white silk embroidery and gold fringe. At length, at daybreak a

little company, composed of about twenty officers of all ranks, MM. de Bourmont, the Duc de Castries, the Prince de Solre, MM. Sosthène de La Rochefoucauld, de Castéja, Colonel Clouette, M. de Dampierre, and other volunteers, mounted gaily on horseback and rode off towards the frontiers of France, which they crossed in a few minutes, making their first halt at Armentières. They quickly sounded the temper of the country, and hoisted their splendid flag. There was great excitement in the little province; thirty young men came immediately and ranged themselves about it, and they marched, without loss of a moment, towards ---. The company increased as they proceeded, and on leaving this little town they found themselves three hundred strong. They marched on with ever-increasing numbers to St. Venant and Béthune, a strong place, where the inhabitants received them with acclamation, and furnished them with the arms necessary to equip two regiments, which being rapidly formed, and aided by a tolerable artillery, laid siege to Arras.

This town, which was much stronger than was necessary to resist so feeble an attack, defended itself for two days merely as a matter of form, and opened its gates on the third. It was not so with the citadel, which was occupied by a regiment of volunteers composed of rabid Imperialists, who made a spirited resistance, and capitulated only at the end of a fortnight, with a very bad grace.

Then they proceeded to form, by royal command, two

regiments chosen from the volunteers who had conducted this campaign with so much enthusiasm. These two regiments were destined to form a part of the Guard; the first of them, commanded by M. de Faraincourt, carried this white flag before Louis XVIII., and later bore it in the campaign led by the Duc d'Angoulème into Spain under the walls of Cadiz.

It is with humility, but with courage, my children, that I persevere in the fulfilment of my promise; my story would be more interesting if my talents were such — weak woman that I am! — as to permit me to touch upon grave and important questions. But I have been obliged to confine myself to writing of what I have myself seen or heard from reliable sources, which accounts for the gaps you may perhaps have remarked; as, for instance, the sojourn of the King at Ghent, his triumphal progress to Paris, the mad enthusiasm of the populace, the disbanding of the Army of the Loire, the occupation of France by foreigners, etc.

Perhaps, my children, the particulars of a great family misfortune may not be known to you, and I will relate them here.

The Prince de Léon, eldest son of your grandfather, the Duc de Rohan, had married in 1809 Mademoiselle de Sérent, daughter of the Comte de Sérent, who died at Quiberon.

On the 10th of January, 1814, Madame de Léon, as she was going out to dine with the Dowager Duchesse d'Orléans, went towards the fireplace to read a letter. Her dress took fire, and, enveloped in flames, she rushed into the chamber of her husband, who was ill in bed. What a horrible spectacle! These few moments decided her fate; the next morning she was dead. What hours of horrible suffering, borne with angelic sweetness, opened to her the gates of heaven! Cherished by both her families, and admired by every one, Madame de Léon was universally regretted.

The Princesse de Léon was a granddaughter of the Duc de Sérent, governor of the Ducs d'Angoulême and de Berry.

I have now reached the period when, yielding to the urgent entreaties of our family, we left forever the hospitable country where every mark of a constant friendship had been lavished upon us for years. The passage was short; M. de Gontaut was waiting for us at the Hôtel de Rastadt, where I had formerly stayed. We found there also our relations and friends.

The Duc de Berry, always gracious and kindly, came to make us a visit, as well as the Duke of Wellington, who "was determined," he said, "to give to my daughters their first ball." It was an old promise, made in their childhood. The Duc de Berry wished to be there, and appointed the day. Nothing could be more flattering than the welcome which my daughters and I received in society.

Our establishment was ready for us in a few days; a small apartment in the Rue de la Paix, at the corner of the garden belonging to the Hôtel de Gontaut, made

my daughters not only comfortable but happy, as they found another sister in Adèle; and thus we passed a pleasant and happy year.

I was sent for one day to the Tuileries, by Monsieur. He was so kind as to announce to me that the marriage of the Duc de Berry to the Princess Caroline of Naples had just been decided upon, and he was eager to inform me that I had been appointed one of the ladies to receive the Princess at Marseilles and accompany her to Paris. I was deeply grateful to the royal family for selecting me from among the large number of applicants for such a post, owing it as I did to my love for and devotion to the court.

My position was about to be changed; my daughters still needed me, and the thought of leaving them for an indefinite period made me feel anxious. I spoke to my sister-in-law, who understood my anxiety, and did her best to set my mind at rest by assuring me that from the day of my departure my daughters should occupy a small room close to hers; and my two nieces promised to fill my place as much as possible. With my mind at rest on this subject, I occupied myself with my preparations,—court train, mantillas, etc.; all new details for me.

I had to take leave of the King and the Princes before my departure. The Duchesse d'Angoulème condescended to explain to me the particulars of the formation of the Duchesse de Berry's household, which she thought ought to be established on the plan of her own: six ladies-in-waiting, two of whom would be on duty for a week. She told me that the Comtesse de Bouillé had just been appointed one, and was to go with me. I did not know her. "She is a pretty American, wife of one of the best men in the world," she said to me; "perhaps you may find her amusing. But the one I wish to speak of to you above all is the Maréchale Oudinot, Duchesse de Reggio, who has been appointed lady of honour, who has a charming face, a great deal of tact, and is as fascinating as she is good and beautiful. I am sure you will like her; it is an excellent choice, and I am sure will meet with universal approval. I have no doubt that the Duchesse de Berry will know how to appreciate her. She is to leave after you; with Madame de La Ferronnays, a lady-in-waiting whom you have already known for a long time. Their mission, like yours, is to go to Marseilles and to wait there for the arrival of the Princess. The Comtesse d'Hautefort and the Marquise de Béthisy, the Comtesse de Lauriston and the Comtesse de Gourgues, are to be posted at different places on the route, and will accompany the Princess to Fontainebleau, where she will be received by the King."

When I reached home I found all my preparations finished. The travelling-carriage and the two outriders in the royal livery attracted the attention of the passersby, and very soon we were surrounded by a crowd.

A lady was already seated in the carriage. She seemed to me rather pretty, but she had on a great deal of rouge and a bright yellow dress. I knew it must be the American I had heard about.

After the last parting words had been spoken, with all sorts of advice and hopes of soon meeting again, I tore myself away from my children, from my husband, my relations and friends, and in another moment we were off on the road to Marseilles.

My companion seemed to be rather taciturn, and • responded coldly to the advances which it is customary to make at the beginning of a long journey. At length she broke silence by saying: "Will you tell me, Madame, why, as I got into this carriage before you did, I was told to sit on the left, and remain there?"

I replied as graciously as possible that it was perhaps a respect which was paid to my venerable age. My maid observed to me in English that the lady did not seem satisfied. I asked Madame de Bouillé if she spoke English; whereupon she replied, "I only speak American."

This original response seemed to occasion her great amusement. I judged from it, what afterwards I became certain of, that she could speak English as well as I; but she was curious, and wished to surprise the confidences which my maid was disposed to make to me.

As we drew nearer the South, the royalist enthusiasm grew more demonstrative; the shouts of "Long live the Duchesse de Berry!" were heard everywhere. Madame de Bouillé was delighted at this, and put herself in full view of the public, saying, with naïve complacency, "Let us make them happy."

Having learned from some of the King's people who accompanied us that this same carriage had carried Napoleon from Waterloo to Paris only a short time before, a throng of reflections surged up in my mind. They had even told me, by way of passing the time, that they could point out mysterious hiding-places, where the Emperor concealed his treasures, despatches, etc. To relieve the tedium of the journey, I amused myself with finding out these hiding-places; and perceiving one of these knobs before me, I unfortunately pressed it, when suddenly a plank was thrown up which carried me with it. I found myself lying stretched out on a hard, narrow, prickly mattress; and I tossed about all one night on the great Emperor's bed of misery, because I could not find the secret which would deliver me from my uncomfortable position, and I did not dare to stop the escort who accompanied us.

The Duc d'Havrey, who was the King's representative, accompanied by officers of the King's household, bodyguards, etc., kept always several hours ahead of us; he received at each city the noisy honours due to his embassy,—at his arrival and departure salutes from cannon, bells, and addresses; he had everywhere receptions, honours, and fatigue.

The Baron de Damas, who commanded at Marseilles, received us with great politeness and distinction; and so did his mother, who graciously assisted him in doing the honours of Marseilles. Our pleasure in having reached the end of our journey was soon clouded. A despatch

sent to the Baron de Damas announced to him that a sort of plague, which was ravaging one of the cities in the kingdom of Naples, had delayed the departure of the Princess. When he read the despatch, I saw an expression of dismay depicted on his countenance, which increased as he realised the extent of our numbers. I heard him say in a low tone to his mother, "How shall we amuse them?" I could not help laughing. Something had to be done; and the best way was to treat it as a joke, which set us all at our ease. The fine courtly manners of the old school, of which the Duc d'Havrey was a model, and the gracious sweetness of the Duchesse de Reggio, comforted our host, and the difficulties vanished. As we were treated with great kindness and courtesy by the inhabitants of the city and the country, this period of waiting, which we had so much dreaded, passed off quickly.

The Neapolitan royal family were at Palermo, when the Comte de Blacas was charged by Louis XVIII. to convey his request for an alliance between the Princess Caroline, daughter of the King of the Two Sicilies, and his nephew, the Duc de Berry. The proposal was accepted.

The royal family could not leave Palermo at once, as the epidemic still raged; and it was not until April, 1816, that the Princess Caroline, accompanied by her father and by the Hereditary Princess, came to Naples, where the marriage took place by proxy. The Prince de Salerne, the Duc de Berry's uncle, represented him in this ceremony.

The departure for Marseilles was decided upon; but by an excess of prudence, which caused a good deal of grumbling among ourselves, the Sanitary Commission declared that before making her entry into Marseilles the Princess and her suite must submit to a quarantine of ten days at the Lazaretto. We had to submit, however, and make known this fact at Naples.

Towards the middle of May, Princess Caroline left Naples, accompanied by the Comtesse de La Tour, her governess, by the Prince de San Nicandro, ambassador extraordinary and commissioner appointed by the King of Naples to escort the Princess and the two witnesses to the marriage by proxy,—the Prince de Ruffo-Scilla, and General de La Tour, aide-de-camp to the King.

The Princess embarked with her suite in a Neapolitan frigate, convoyed by a ship and a corvette of the same nation. This squadron was preceded by a light French vessel commanded by Comte Baptiste de Villeneuve-Bargemont, who was charged to give notice of the arrival of the Princess, which was announced by a salute of a hundred guns from the fort at Marseilles, which made our hearts beat faster, but renewed our regrets at being still kept from her for ten days, although so near.

In an instant the harbour of Marseilles was covered with shallops, barks, flowers, white flags, etc.; the crowd hurried forward to the prescribed limit, which no one was allowed to pass. We, more dignified, tried to make out the Princess from a distance; she saw us, we were sure, by the cordial signals which she made to

us. We followed her with our eyes and with our hearts until she entered the Lazaretto. Then we returned to the Préfecture, where we looked for Madame de La Ferronnays, whom we had not been able to find. To our great astonishment, we learned that she had started off alone the moment the arrival of Madame was signalled, to shut herself up in the Lazaretto. The Duc d'Havrey and the Duchesse de Reggio had not heard of it and seemed surprised, but said nothing; so I asked no questions.

After the arrival of Madame in quarantine, she sent for us to come to her; we saw her through a grating in a little parlour where we went every day. Madame seemed to us gracious, agreeable, good, kindly, and gay; and in short we were all charmed with her. The great sweetness of the Duchesse de Reggio pleased her at once; Madame de Bouillé astonished her. Madame had heard from the Duc d'Havrey of the sacrifice I had made in leaving my daughters to come to meet her, and she was always talking about it. Wishing to learn what interested each one of the persons who were to be about her in future, she had had everything explained to her, and with her royal memory she forgot nothing, which made us think her very amiable.

We saw that Madame de La Ferronnays had joined Madame de La Tour and all the persons who had just come from Naples, and we concluded, though without having any certain information of it, that she would be obliged to remain in quarantine as long as Madame

was detained there, whom they all tried to amuse by various pleasure-parties, such as fishing, jousting, military music, etc. She seemed quite touched by this, and did not apparently find the time intolerably long.

At this point of my narrative I find myself suffering greatly from violent spasms of the heart and weakness of vision. I have been expressly forbidden to write, and I should be discouraged if my desire to please you were not stronger than my reason. They tell me that it is impossible for me to continue my undertaking, as, owing to the rapid flow of my ideas, I have never been able to dictate; so that it is the impossible that I am going to attempt, in order to fulfil my promise. I have taken for my secretary the young and gentle sister of my faithful Maria; and as I give up my pen to her, I ask you, my children, to redouble your indulgence for the poor blind suffering octogenarian who can see only with her heart, and I resume my story.

The joyous salutes of the guns in the fortress announced to the city that Madame was about to appear among us. We waited for her at the harbour, and we mingled with the persons of her suite, to whom we were at length permitted to offer our cordial welcome.

The crowd was immense, the acclamations uproarious, and joy reigned in all hearts.

Madame proceeded to the Hôtel de Ville over a road strewn with flowers. In the great hall we found the Marquis de Rochemore, master of ceremonies, who pointed out each person's seat. We were placed in

the portion allotted to France. After the signature of the official documents, there was a touching scene. The persons who had accompanied Madame perceiving that the moment of parting with her had come, all fell on their knees, kissing with respect and emotion the hands which she held out to them. The Duc d'Havrey announced to Madame that France claimed her; we were presented by the lady-of-honour, whom she embraced. . Madame de La Ferronnays, lady-in-waiting. was charged with presenting to the Princess her trousseau and the magnificent corbeille given by the King. Then she explained to her a custom to which Madame was obliged to submit, - that of changing all her garments and putting on those offered her by France. She appeared again perfectly resplendent, and was generally admired. The civil and military authorities were presented to her; they thought her charming, very gracious to them all. She appeared to be happy, and quite satisfied with the respectful attention with which she was surrounded, and which followed her as she proceeded from the Hôtel de Ville to the Préfecture.

She found there young girls of the first families of Marseilles, who brought her the customary presents. On that same day there was a grand dinner, a reception, fireworks, and an illumination; on those following, balls, concerts, plays, etc.

Madame desired to make a pilgrimage to Notre Dame de la Garde. She went on foot, wishing, as she said, that her first step might be taken in going to pray for the prosperity of France. She was followed not only by the persons of her suite, but one might almost say by all the inhabitants of the city.

When she left Marseilles, Madame spent two days at Toulon visiting the harbour and its sights; then, making her way towards Paris, she made a sojourn in each of the principal cities, greeted everywhere with enthusiasm and festivities.

The festival of the Fête-Dieu, which I remember perfectly, because it was so strange and new to me, dates back to the time of King René, who in 1448, after his misfortunes, which are too well known to be repeated here, withdrew to Aix, the city he most liked. He there instituted the famous procession which I am about to describe to you. This festival was intended to represent the triumph of the Christian religion over idolatry, by the introduction of allegorical personages, bringing in the pagan gods, whom the presence of the Saviour drives back into hell.

At the head of the procession came Mercury, the goddess of Night, and Pluto, surrounded by a multitude of demons, Diana, Cupid, Venus, and Mars, all marching in single file; then came lepers, guards, dancers, and drums.

Following the mythological divinities came biblical personages,—the Queen of Sheba going to visit Solomon; Moses, with the tables of the Law in his hand, making great efforts to bring back to the worship of the true God the Jews, who mocked him by dancing round a

golden calf made of pasteboard. After the Jews came the apostles, with the traitor Judas at their head, carrying his bag in his hand, in which were the thirty pieces of silver, the price of his treachery. As a punishment for his infamy, all the apostles struck him on the head with pieces of wood. The Abbé of Youth, the King of the Basoche, the Prince of Love, preceded the canopy of the Holy Sacrament, followed by a crowd of priests in various costumes. Death finally closed the procession. The bells of all the churches were ringing throughout the duration of the procession.

The reception that Madame met with at Lyons was one of the most remarkable; the festivities were magnificent. Madame stayed there three days. There we found Madame d'Hautefort and Madame de Béthisy. When she reached Nemours, Madame de Lauriston and Madame de Gourgues were presented to her. She received there gracious letters from the Duc de Berry, from the Princes, and from the King himself, who told her that he was so eager to see her that he was starting for Fontainebleau in order to be nearer to her. Madame went into retreat for two days at Nemours.

I have now come to that great day which had been so long dreaded by our timid Princess. When she turned into the road leading to Fontainebleau, it was already thronged with persons eager to render homage to her. Nothing could be more magnificent and impressive than the scene which met our eyes. In the circle in the Forest of Fontainebleau was placed a gorgeous tent,

resplendent with gold, which was perfectly dazzling in the sunshine; ladies in full toilette and white plumes surrounded the King, who came forward as soon as the carriage of the Princess came in sight. Madame, who was very much agitated, went forward quickly, threw herself on her'knees, kissed his hands, and said a few words which seemed to please him; he raised her, pressed her to his heart, and presented her to the Dauphiness, who embraced her. At this moment the Duc de Berry came forward; the King joined their hands, and said a few pleasant words, and then they looked at each other. What a moment when one tries to imagine what one's whole future life may be like! He seemed to be pleased with her, for I heard him say in a low voice to Madame de La Ferronnays, "I am sure I shall love her." It was very affecting when Monsieur held out his arms to his young daughter-in-law and she implored his protection, which he promised should be hers in full measure.

Monseigneur, perceiving the timidity of the Princess, spoke very kindly to her, which reassured her. The Princes returned to the château, and the festivities began.

I was very glad to find at Fontainebleau Madame de Biron, who brought me news of my daughters.

Every evening the Duc de Berry was obliged to leave Fontainebleau, as custom did not permit him to sleep under the same roof with the Princess. Madame seemed to be pleased with Monseigneur; she told me she thought him even handsomer than his portrait, which he had sent her at Naples.

After a short stay the royal family left Fontainebleau, the King and the Princes together in one carriage, with ours behind. The crowd was immense, especially as we drew near Paris. The Marshals and all the great men of the kingdom were there to escort the King's carriage.

The farther we advanced on the Boulevards, the more frequent were the decorations with white flags. I must say it was a fine sight. The Princess was astonished and dazzled, but it was no more than I expected.

The Boulevards seemed to me interminable, for only one thought occupied my mind, — the moment when I should see that garden of the Hôtel de Gontaut where my daughters were waiting for me. We were almost there at last, when an aide-de-camp of the King stopped our carriage and ordered us to hasten to the Tuileries and to wait there to receive the Princess. I must confess that I felt at this all the impatience of a spoiled child. We had to turn round and gallop as fast as our six horses would carry us through the Rue de l'Echelle, to which I took a violent dislike from that moment; and I am glad, even now, in 1854, to see the destruction of it.

When we reached the Tuileries there was a grand reception, at which Madame was present.

At last I was set free for a moment, and I had the happiness of finding myself with those who were so dear to me. The most tender care had been lavished on my daughters. There is really a strong family affection existing among us,— a precious but rare commodity, which I have gratefully enjoyed since my return home.

The next day the marriage of the Duchesse de Berry took place at Notre Dame. All Paris assisted at this august royal ceremony: a brilliant procession, an immense crowd, a fatiguing morning; then the return to the Tuileries, in the midst of acclamations, a reception and dinner.

A gala dinner is a very fatiguing ceremony. There has not been one for several years now, and I do not believe any one regrets it. I will describe this one, then, perhaps the last, which took place on the wedding-day of the Duchesse de Berry.

Persons who had not been presented at court were permitted to view the tables by passing along an estrade in the gallery of Diana.

At the royal table were the King and the royal Princes and Princesses; the Princes of the blood were not admitted there. The Duc de Bourbon, Grand Master of France, whose duty it was to preside over the dinner, excused himself under various pretexts, and Prince de Talleyrand, the Grand Chamberlain, took his place. The Comte de Cossé, first maître d'hôtel, preceded the King as he conducted him to the table. During dinner, every time the King wished to drink, the cup-bearer proclaimed the fact in a loud voice (according to etiquette).

The first gentlemen of the bedchamber, the aides-decamp, etc., and the Princesses' ladies-in-waiting in full dress were all standing up, the Duchesses alone having tabourets.

I must confess that the coup d'ail of this State dinner

was beautiful and imposing; but I also must whisper in your ear that nothing could be more wearisome for the persons who were obliged to stand through it in the intolerable heat and amid the crash of a huge orchestra.

After three days spent in magnificent festivals of all kinds, the Duc and Duchesse de Berry established themselves at the Elysée, already pleasing themselves with the idea of the tranquil happiness they were about to enjoy.

My daughters at this time were eighteen years old,—a period at which it is usual, the early education being completed, to begin to think of the pleasures and amusements of society. It was not so with us, however; my dear daughters understood that a second finishing education would contribute to the happiness of all their future lives, so they resigned themselves, had good masters, and went on working.

A portion of my family went that same year to spend the summer at the baths in the Pyrenees; my husband accompanied them, and also Charles and Adèle. They made me promise to look after their brother Fernand, who, being greatly depressed by the death of his father and the departure of his mother for the South, required all the care a friend could bestow; and I promised my dear Adèle to do all I could for him.

A short time after the return of Louis XVIII., the Duc de Rohan began his service as first gentleman of the bedchamber to the King; and having established himself at the Tuileries, assembled around him the best society and all that Paris could offer of amusements of every sort. A short illness carried him off suddenly. His death was regarded as a public misfortune, on account of his amiable and conciliatory character, and his position about the King. During his illness Fernand never left him, and his devotion to his father and his deep grief for his loss made me very fond of him. He came to us; I took care of him, and he was deeply grateful; he often spent his evenings with us, and he liked to take us about and show us Paris, of which we knew so little. His elder brother, the Prince de Léon, often came to play and sing with my daughters. When he sang with Charlotte, he imitated perfectly her English accent, which greatly amused us all.

My daughters were fond of sketching from nature. The Duc de Berry allowed them to make sketches of the pretty views at Bagatelle, and Fernand went with us. That day, which I remember distinctly, changed the whole course of life for Josephine. During a walk which I took with him, he talked to me a great deal about my daughters, praising them both highly, but Josephine in particular, dwelling on her amiable and solid qualities, and finished by asking for her hand. I was very much pleased. I was very fond of Fernand, and his proposal could not fail to give me pleasure; but after I had expressed this, I felt that I must urge him to consider his own position and ours. He was not rich, and Josephine was still less so. He knew this; but he still persisted, and made me promise to intercede for

him with M. de Gontaut, and we agreed that he should not speak to Josephine till we had received her father's reply. This was favourable, and expressed his paternal affection, his kindly feeling for Fernand, and his confidence in my prudence and my maternal love; and a short time after he returned to Paris with the rest of our family.

The Duc de Berry, who had never forgotten the proofs of attachment Fernand had given him, was very fond of him, and approved of this marriage entirely. "Fernand, although so young, is already a colonel," he said, "my first aide-de-camp, a gentleman of honour, and by his own position and that of his family he can aspire to anything; therefore the smallness of his fortune at present, it seems to me, ought not to be an obstacle."

I no longer concealed from my daughter what had been occupying my mind for so long, and I was glad to see that she was happy in the prospect of this marriage.

Some time after this, two marriages took place in our family, on the same day and before the same altar,—that of Fernand de Chabot, then Prince de Léon, with Josephine, and that of Mademoiselle de Chabot with the Marquis de Lambertye. On this occasion their aunt, the Duchesse de La Rochefoucauld, afterwards Marquise de Castellane, gave a splendid *fête* in her beautiful house in the Rue de l'Arcade.

The day when my beloved daughter left me to live in the house of her mother-in-law, the Duchesse de Rohan, was a very cruel one for me. After fifteen months of a happy, agreeable, and tranquil life, the Duchesse de Berry gave birth to a daughter; no doubt a prince would have been more welcome, but the little Princess was soon beloved. She died a few days after her birth, however, which was a great grief to Monseigneur and Madame.

The Bishop of Amiens, almoner of the Duc de Berry, the Duchesse de Lévis, mother of the actual Duc, and myself were appointed to accompany the funeral procession of the young Princess. It started at midnight, proceeding very slowly, escorted by body-guards and lighted by torches; the church was empty, and the royal tomb open. This young offshoot of the royal race was laid at the foot of Louis XVI.'s tomb. The darkness of the night and the profound silence, broken only by the sound of footsteps and the clinking of arms, was very depressing.

The Duchesse d'Angoulême had me summoned the next morning to give her the particulars of this sad night. I told her that I prayed beside the coffin which enclosed the precious remains of the martyred King, and even touched it. She took my hand and pressed it to her heart. She wept, and I was deeply moved.

That same day, M. Papillon de La Ferté, steward of the King's private purse, by the King's orders called upon Madame de Montsoreau, the *gouvernante*, to send back the layette; but she, not having any orders to that effect from the Duc de Berry, refused to give it up. On the evening of that same day the demand was repeated,

and again refused. Madame de Montsoreau met Monseigneur, but perceiving his sadness at the death of his child, did not venture to speak on the subject of the layette. Two refusals of Madame de Montsoreau to obey the King's orders seemed to the steward almost a crime of lèse-majesté. He hurried off to report this to Monseigneur, met him in the Champs Elysées returning from Bagatelle, and complained bitterly of the gouvernante. Monseigneur, who knew nothing about the matter, was indignant, and in this state of mind reached the Elysée, and unfortunately found there M. de La Ferronnays, and accused his mother-in-law of an ignoble motive. M. de La Ferroinays could not put up with this, and was carried away by his indignation to the point of disrespect to the Prince, who seized two swords, and offered one to M. de La Ferronnays. He refused it, saying, "A gentleman cannot fight with one of the heirs to the throne, but he can leave him;" and then left the room.

The Duc de Berry sprang into the carriage he had just left, and went in all haste to assure the King that such disobedience to his commands could only come from a misunderstanding for which he was not to blame. The King understood and comforted him, and they talked together for a long time. On the Duc's return to the Elysée, he learned that M. and Madame de La Ferronnays and their children and M. and Madame de Montsoreau had already left the palace.

This hot temper, quick as lightning to flash out, was

## DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT:

the one defect of Monseigneur's character; but being very warm-hearted, affectionate, and just, he was always ready to repair a hundredfold the wrong inflicted by his want of reflection. He felt that his friend was revenging himself upon him by this action, posing before France as the victim to the cruelty of a prince, and it cut him to the heart.

Monseigneur had rightly judged of the effect this step would have on the public mind. The people saw only a family ruined; one friend offered to M. de La Ferronnays his wife's dowry, another sent him her diamond bracelets.

The next day Madame sent for me. I found her in bed, suffering very much. She told me how distressed Monseigneur felt. "Go to him," she said, "and comfort him; he needs a calm and sincere friend like you to talk with. In his present state of mind you can say anything to him."

I went to find him; he was walking alone in one of the gloomiest avenues in the garden.

"You see how unhappy I am," he said. "I could not have believed it! They have all left me, all of them, without a single regret! Without even telling me! and while I was away too! Oh, it is horrible!"

I ventured to question him gently, and he replied to me frankly: "I will begin by confessing that I was too impetuous; it is owing to my unhappy temper. But what obstinacy! To resist the positive orders of the King, twice repeated, without informing me of it! To wish to keep that wretched layette,—it was base! it was infamous!"

Here I interrupted him quickly. "It was only a little awkwardness," I said; "I do not in the least believe she wished to keep it; but Madame de Montsoreau is timid. You know, Monseigneur, one must have as much indulgence for feeble and irresolute characters as for hot-blooded ones. Anger, alas! crushes and bruises; but you should look at the intention. When the heart is right, the intentions are pure. You know this, Monseigneur, for your heart has never led you astray."

Here he stopped me, and said: "Madame de La Ferronnays has already displeased the King by shutting herself up in the Lazaretto without orders from me. I never could understand her taking such a step."

"If Monseigneur will permit me, I think I can clear up this point by relating a conversation I had at Marseilles with the Duc d'Havrey. 'At court,' he said to me, 'awkwardness or clumsiness ought to be carefully avoided. It puts a weapon into the hands of envious persons, and ought to be scrupulously guarded against.' It was Madame de La Ferronnays' intention to take this opportunity to bring to the knowledge of the Princess Monseigneur's noble qualities of mind and heart, and to teach her to love him even before seeing him. Her zeal carried her away; she did not stop to reflect upon the impropriety of taking such a step without consulting either the Duchesse de Reggio or Monsei-

gneur. It was not a deliberately planned proceeding, but merely a sudden impulse of kindliness; and then, being naturally timid, she took no steps to repair what Maréchal Oudinot, Duc de Reggio, considered an insult, and of which he complained to the King."

Monseigneur listened calmly to this explanation, and seemed to understand it; and before leaving him, I felt sure that his kind heart would point out the way not only to console, but also to be of use now and in the future to this family whom he had so long loved.

M. de La Ferronnays was appointed ambassador to Russia that same year. This path opened to him by our poor Prince was pursued after the latter's death. He became ambassador to Russia; in 1828 Minister for Foreign Affairs, succeeding Baron de Damas, then governor of the Duc de Bordeaux; in 1829 ambassador to Rome: he died there in 1841.

The year which followed this temporary trouble at the Elysée has left on my mind only the general impression of peace and tranquillity.

The Duchesse de Berry, in order to occupy her mornings, had engaged masters, surrounded herself with ladies who were attached to her, and allowed me to bring Charlotte with me. She often gave little balls and concerts, to which all the Orléans family were invited. Monsieur, the Dauphin, and the Dauphiness were always present, and seemed to enjoy them. The Duc de Berry was very amiable on these occasions.

I had received many proposals of marriage for Char-

lotte, with regard to which she was now of an age to be consulted. It was then that Adèle spoke to me of the Comte de Bourbon-Busset, whom every one seemed to like, and whom I did not know at all. Charlotte had met him at Adèle's, and said to me, "I do not feel afraid of him."

I spoke of the matter to the Duc de Berry, who said, "He is my cousin, and nothing would please me better; but as I cannot exactly trace the relationship, the King will be delighted to do it for you. There is nothing he likes better than genealogy."

That same evening when I accompanied the Duchesse de Berry to the Tuileries, Monseigneur asked the King to explain to me the relationship between the Bourbon-Bussets and the reigning branch of the royal family.

"The closest relationship," replied the King, with a smile; "for instance, they were sons of the same father. But that is a long time ago, and you must go back to the Bishop of Liège, who descended from the sixth son of Saint Louis. You must not be scandalised at the idea of a married bishop.

"Liège was an ecclesiastical principality, the ruler of which must of necessity be a bishop. Louis de Bourbon was only eighteen when it became vacant, but he obtained it through the influence of his name and on the express condition of taking orders when he should come of age; but finding his vocation in an entirely opposite direction to this, he married Catherine d'Egmont, daughter of the Duke of Gueldres, without

having obtained the consent of his brother, Jean II., Duc de Bourbon, or of the King, Louis XI., who would not recognise the marriage. Notwithstanding, it was consummated, and three children were born in the space of several years anterior to 1466,—a period at which, tormented by the armed revolts of his subjects, the Liégois, and the representations of his family, Louis at length consented to take orders,—a tardy and useless resolution, since, being again forced to fight against constant sedition, he was assassinated on the bridge of Liège, in 1482, by William de La Marck.

"It was not until long after his death that his children, by command of the King, were recognised as true and legitimate descendants of this royal house of Bourbon, and issue of a lawful marriage, authorised to bear the arms, the livery, as well as the many honours of the said house in all their integrity, without, however, being able to change the division which had already been made of the Duchy of Bourbon."

The King added, "As to his military career, Maréchal Soult, under whose orders he served for a long time, could tell you about that."

I saw the Maréchal soon afterwards. "He goes to battle," he said, "as one would go to a ball; it is his life, his element. During the war in Spain, one unfortunate day, I was observing the disposition of the English army, lorgnette in hand. Bourbon-Busset warned me to move away: it was his duty to defend the passage of a bridge which the English were trying to cross. He

had his brother with him, and about twenty-five chasseurs. I continued my observations; Bourbon-Busset reiterated his advice, and perceiving that I was in danger of being killed or captured, he threw himself upon the enemy with the few men whom he commanded, fought desperately, had two horses killed under him, was wounded, taken prisoner, and carried to the tent of Marshal Beresford, who treated him with great respect, even conversing with him upon the position of the two armies, and sent him under a good escort to Lisbon.

"He was shut up with the galley-slaves, among whom he found some French officers and soldiers, who, more fortunate than he, were transferred to England as prisoners of war. For him they reserved the fatal honour of imprisonment in the fortress of Sétubal, a small seaport, whence he succeeded in escaping with a surgeon and one of his soldiers, by sliding down a cord tied on to their sheets upon the terrace, from which he descended by the same means to the sea at low tide, and from there reached the deserts of Alentejo, where they wandered about for five days. Exhausted with hunger and fatigue, they found themselves only three miles from the French army, when they were recaptured, and conducted to the house of the Inquisition.

"M. de Bourbon-Busset, during the long wars with Spain, had heard some horrible particulars concerning the Inquisition; and as soon as he heard the order given to take him there, he perceived the gravity of the situation. When he entered this frightful place, the opening of the door gave light enough to show him a long vaulted dungeon. He reflected that this was probably only a passage which must have an outlet somewhere and as he would never give up trying to gain his freedom, he felt that he must succeed in finding it. They showed him a small pallet, a jug of water, a piece o bread, and told him this would be renewed every twenty-four hours. They shut the door of his cell; he heard them shoot the bolt, and found himself in abso lute darkness. He did not lose a moment in trying to find some outlet, but he could discover nothing; ther he felt along the walls with his hands to find the extreme end of what he believed to be a subterranear gallery, and finally used his feet to discover what i was like on the ground. He soon perceived that this passage descended rather abruptly; he kept on, and sud denly found his feet bathed in very cold water. stopped, found a rather heavy stone, which he threv before him, and he could judge by the sound as it fel that he was on the brink of a gulf. He saw that he must renounce this means of escape, and return to the point he had started from. This was a frightfu moment, but he was a Christian, and he said to himself 'There is hope in God.'

"The Spaniards having claimed him from the Portu guese government, he was re-conducted, under a strong guard, to the fort of the Corogne, and afterwards put of a pontoon among the convicts, who became enthusias

tically attached to him. He found some French soldiers there also, prisoners like himself.

"Having had some communication with an English merchant captain who promised to set him free if he would give him the little money he had left, he imprudently did so. The signal agreed upon was a lantern hung out on the side of the ship. As soon as he saw it. he threw himself into the sea, and swam about for a long time. As the light seemed always to recede, he at length began to feel anxious; he redoubled his efforts, and then the light disappeared altogether. He saw that he had been betrayed, and that now his only chance was to try to reach the pontoon again; after an hour and a half of continued effort, he at length reached it, but so exhausted that after having caught the cord by which he had descended, he kept it in his hand, but for a long time had not strength enough to attempt to climb up. Finally he succeeded in getting back again just before daybreak.

"The idea of regaining his freedom and of rejoining the army became so fixed in his mind that he could not give it up. He made another attempt, promised, but this time did not pay, the price of his liberty in advance. This last attempt was a complete success; he got away easily, and was received on board the ship which awaited him, by the good and honourable captain who commanded it, and who carried him to England, where he was obliged to declare himself a prisoner of war, and went honourably to his prison at Reading. Monsieur

had him set at liberty and offered him the command of a foreign regiment in the pay of England. But, French to the backbone as he was, he could not accept. Monsieur approved his loyalty, and understood that he felt bound by his oath to return to his regiment."

As he ended, the Maréchal apologised for the length of his narrative, of which, however, his affection and esteem for Comte Bourbon-Busset would not permit him to omit a single fact.

This story was told to me more than thirty years ago, and yet I remember every word the Maréchal said; and in order to give you the full particulars of the very interesting career of my son-in-law, whom I have learned not only to appreciate, but to love, I am going, contrary to all rules of eloquence, to turn back to the beginning of his history.

You will think perhaps that I am in my dotage; this is not true; but as I am telling this story to my two children, I must claim your indulgence.

The father and mother of Comte de Bourbon-Busset were obliged to emigrate at the time of the Revolution of '91, leaving two children to the care of their grandfather, who died on the 17th of January, 1793, having made a will giving the estate of Busset to his grandchildren, and the usufruct of this property to their father. The Republic, having seized for its own uses this right of usufruct, sold the furniture of the château and took possession of the land. These poor children being thus left alone, the friends or relatives of the family engaged

Chevalier Duprat as tutor for them; but this very worthy gentleman had hardly reached Busset when he was arrested by the order of the Committee of Public Safety, and taken to Paris, where he was immediately condemned to death, without a trial. The two young Bourbon-Bussets, abandoned for the second time, were taken to Cusset, where a deputy named Forestier seized them and carried them in chains from prison to prison until they reached Paris. They arrived there after the session of the Committee had closed, and they were left alone, shut up for twenty-four hours, without any food except a piece of bread which was given them by the compassionate gendarme who had brought them there.

The Committee having condemned them to be transported and to be sent in a ship from Nantes, they were in the mean while taken to the prison of the Luxembourg. The monsters who had charge of them said:

"We are bringing you two little Capets whose name is Bourbon."

The Vicomte de Bourbon-Busset, the uncle of these two children, was in the prison at that time. When he heard the name he was struck by it, and going up to the poor children, he began to ask them questions. But misfortune teaches prudence even to children, and they scarcely dared reply to the questions which were asked of them. However, he at length succeeded in gaining the confidence of the elder, and he said to him, gently: "Give me some proof of the truth of what you are saying, and you will have no cause to regret it."

"I have an uncle in Paris," replied the boy, "whose name is Vicomte de Bourbon-Busset; he gave me a watch which I am very fond of, and I managed to save it."

The poor child drew the watch out from under his coat, where he had hidden it next his heart.

His uncle held out his arms, and from that moment the boy knew he was saved; since he had an uncle, he was no longer alone. The Vicomte de Bourbon-Busset, saved by the death of Robespierre, watched over his nephews with the tenderest care. As soon as their prison doors were opened, he placed them at the College of Effiat. Afterwards the estate of Busset was restored to Francis; he established himself there with his brother, and received his parents there when they returned from exile. They lived on this estate honoured and happy until the end.

The noble blood which flowed in his veins could not submit to a tame country life in those stirring times; he entered the army, and went through all the campaigns, all the wars, and he is now on the high road to glory and honour.

My life at court had given me the sad conviction that there is no such thing as universal approbation; but as Comte de Bourbon-Busset seemed to have attained to it as nearly as possible, I hoped that his marriage with Charlotte would be for her happiness. M. de Gontaut consented to it and all our family approved, and then I mentioned it to the King and the Princes. As

the Duc de Berry was away hunting that day, I wrote to tell him the news, in which I was sure he would feel interested, reminding him that he had been the first to suggest it; and then I added that though I rejoiced for my child's sake, yet I was very sad at the thought of being left alone for the first time in my life.

I will give here Monseigneur's reply: -

"I am delighted to hear that Charlotte is about to become my cousin; and as for you, my dear good friend, you shall not be left alone. Come and live with us; we will offer you the place of lady-in-waiting, which, as you know, has been vacant for a year. You would live at the Élysée; my wife will await your reply with impatience. Come and give it to us yourself."

I hurried off at once, but I was far from expecting that when Monseigneur and Madame had heard my reply gratefully accepting their kind offer, they would add to their kindness by thanking me. I was quite overcome, and they were glad to see me so happy. How could I help loving princes who were so thoughtful of my comfort!

They gaily showed me over the apartment which was destined for me, above that of Madame. The view of the Champs Elysées was superb, and very lively. It was the same apartment which the little King of Rome had occupied; and everywhere there were evidences of the tender care with which he had been surrounded: the panels were padded to the height of a child of six or seven years, and the whole apartment was hung with

green silk, which was still fresh and beautiful, and afforded a pleasant light for the eyes. This evidence of human forethought which had been brought to nought by the Divine will gave us food for thought, and for a moment even my Princess was a little pensive. Then she cried: "Come, let us think of the happy future. I am merry, and I wish to enjoy it. Your apartment is charming and spacious; you have three salons, and you shall give balls for me, which will be a hundred times more amusing than ours, for you have not our obligations. Come, promise me that you will give balls, won't you?"

As I was very willing to do so, I was about to assent, when Monseigneur said sadly, "Ah, Caroline, you think of nothing but amusing yourself."

"Well, why should n't I?" she replied. "I am so young!" And stamping her foot, with a smile, and putting her pretty hand over his mouth, she said: "Now, don't talk to me of the time when I shall be a widow; I cannot bear it."

Monseigneur smiled sadly. "I know I am wrong," he said, "but the idea haunts me; I have been thinking a great deal of your widowhood lately."

"What an extraordinary pleasantry!" said Madame; and taking me by the arm, she drew me out of the apartment, and he followed us.

The joke about the widowhood had been often repeated, although Madame could not endure it. We sometimes talked about it privately, but could not understand it. M. de Nantouillet had remarked it, and feared that Monseigneur had received some anonymous threats. Sometime after, finding Monseigneur alone in the salon, he called me into his cabinet, and showed me an open letter. "Look at this," he said; "I am sure this paper is poisoned. Don't touch it; when I opened it I had a horrible sensation. The letter is insignificant, and gives no clue to the sender; it is merely a request for aid, without either name or address."

I entreated him to tell M. Decazes of it. I do not know whether he did so, but he begged me to keep it secret, as he did not wish to disturb Madame.

During the ordinary preparations for the marriage, M. de Bourbon-Busset and Charlotte saw a great deal of each other, and grew more attached every day. I had learned to esteem him before; now I learned to love him.

I used to regret having only two daughters; but having been so happy as to find in my sons-in-law the tenderness of sons of my own, I felt I could thank Providence, for now I lacked nothing.

The evening before the wedding we had a brilliant party at the Hôtel de Gontaut; an actor, whose name I have forgotten, had a great success: but a poor mother who is parting from her daughter is far too sad to be amused by such things.

Charlotte lived at the Hôtel de Gontaut for several days; then, M. de Bourbon-Busset having been appointed to inspect the troops in the South of France,

they were obliged to depart. Charlotte's timidity took fright; but recognising the obligations of her position, she did the honours for soldiers of all ranks and of all ages, and found them all very kind and courteous. Her husband, knowing what this duty must cost her, was very grateful to her, and hastened to tell me of it.

Josephine had accompanied her mother-in-law, the Duchesse de Rohan, to Roche-Guyon; and as soon as Charlotte left Paris, all my family, and with them M. de Gontaut, having departed for the waters in the Pyrenees, I established myself at the Elysée. As my income was doubled, I had a carriage all to myself, and an establishment on a suitable, though economical, scale. I gave little balls as often as Madame wished it; and as she paid the expenses, they were very elegant, which pleased Monseigneur. It was at this time that a superb costume ball was given at the Elysée.

As my duties were shared by the Duchesse de Reggio, they were both honourable and agreeable; we were obliged, each in our turn, to accompany Madame on Sundays when she went to visit the King, and when she went to church, and to do the honours at receptions,—in the morning to men, and in the evening to ladies. The necessity of presenting each one by name was a perfect torture for me, as I never could remember names. It was an evil for which there was no remedy. The Princes were aware of this defect of mine, and they were greatly amused by it. I will give you an instance.

The marriage of M. de Bourbon-Busset having been

arranged, he went, in accordance with etiquette, to thank the King and Princes for giving their consent to it.

M. de Bourbon-Busset was there on the first day of my attendance as lady-in-waiting. He entered the room.

I saw him, and I said, pointing him out to Madame, "That is he."

She was wicked enough to insist upon my telling her his name.

"It is the same as your own," I replied.

"Oh, it is Caroline, then?" she replied; and calling to Monseigneur, she told him of my embarrassment. The amusement was general, and they often repeated this incident.

I ought to mention here also that Madame was always so kind, whenever she saw me hesitate, as to tell me in a low voice the names of the persons who were approaching, for I was also so unfortunate as to be short-sighted.

A good memory is a royal quality; our Princes never forgot a friend, and they could remember every face and every name.

Madame and Monseigneur were very fond of the play, and they often went, having boxes at all the theatres. They were always kind about giving me the use of the vacant ones to dispose of among my foreign friends who during long years of exile had never ceased to show their friendship for me.

During the summer Madame and Monseigneur often dined in the garden of the Elysée; and when they

knew that I was alone, they sent for me to join them. Nothing could be more charming and friendly than . these dinners à trois.

The memory of that year, which passed without a cloud, is very sweet; but the following one was marred by the death of a pretty little girl of my dear Josephine's. It is a cruel blow for a poor mother, the death of a first child. My daughter's grief awoke a painful echo in my heart.

The Duchesse de Berry became enceinte, and we had no more balls, only a few concerts and small parties; and then suddenly one night they came for me in all haste. Madame was ill; the Duchesse d'Orléans had sent her a watermelon, of which Madame had eaten a great deal, and her pains were attributed to this. Monseigneur told me to call the Duchesse d'Angoulême; she came, and was absolutely perfect, caring for Madame as if she had been her own daughter; and after several hours the Duchesse de Berry was delivered of a son. Her pregnancy had lasted only six months and a half; the child was alive, being perfectly well formed. The Bishop of Amiens baptised him two hours before his death.

Monseigneur was in despair at this accident. Did he foresee that the death of this child would be the signal for his own?

Complete tranquillity succeeded to the agitation of the period I have just described. Madame was obliged to take great care of herself. I will take advantage of this moment of repose to speak of our Princess's young companion, Suzette de La Tour, tracing the genealogy of her family and that of her mother. Her father, Comte de La Tour en Woëvre, of a noble family of Lorraine, emigrated with his relatives, and was brought up in Italy by his maternal grandfather, Comte de Richecourt; he married his cousin, Mademoiselle d'Heillimer, daughter of Comte d'Heillimer, Baron of the Holy Empire, etc. Comte de La Tour was afterwards lieutenant-general, aide-de-camp to the King of Naples, vice-admiral, gentleman of the bed-chamber, grand cross of St. Stephen, of St. Lazare of France, etc.

Madame de La Tour at her marriage was appointed lady-in-waiting to the Queen, then governess at the birth of the Princess Caroline. She had many children, among them Suzette, whom I am going to introduce to you.

When the Duchesse de Berry was about leaving Italy, she obtained Madame de La Tour's consent to her daughter Suzette's accompanying her; and when Madame de La Tour was obliged to return to Italy, she prevailed upon her to leave with her this friend of her childhood. Madame de La Tour consented, confiding in Madame's friendship; and she entreated me to watch over her daughter, which I promised to do with all my heart. She said to me when she went away: "I do not give her up, but I trust her to the tender care of the best of mothers."

Madame de La Tour's friends in Paris advised that

Suzette should be placed in a pension of high repute, which would make her feel easier about her during her absence. I often went to see her, and my daughters were sincerely attached to her. The Duchesse de Berry lavished the most tender care upon her, and all the court felt an interest in her.

At length she reached an age when it was time to think of her marriage. General Montéléger, aide-decamp of the Duc de Berry, spoke to me of one of his friends. "My friend is a perfect treasure for honour and uprightness," he said to me, "and he has thought of Mademoiselle de La Tour from childhood. He is Comte de Meffray, the son of an ancient and noble family of Dauphiny, and is allied to the best families in France. He is personally very agreeable, is very amiable in character, and —I mention after all what the world considers before all—he has a fortune which leaves nothing to be desired."

I was charmed with this description. I spoke of the matter to Monseigneur and Madame, who shared my opinion and begged me to arrange the affair. The young couple first saw each other at the Hôtel de Gontaut, and then at my house, where they met often and were mutually pleased. Madame took the deepest interest in Suzette; we reported everything to her, and everything having been settled, the marriage was decided upon; it took place in the chapel of the Elysée, in the presence of Monseigneur and Madame, who represented the parents of Madame de Meffray.

When I was appointed lady-in-waiting, Madame de Meffray was appointed to the place I had formerly occupied. She then appeared in society, and I carefully watched her; but my dear Suzette never had a fault or an act to conceal. Her life was a model one for young women. She was only seventeen, young, witty, and pretty; she was greatly admired and courted, but the breath of slander never touched her.

As I made no fixed plan when I undertook the narrative which you begged me to write, I have put down what I remember just as it happens to come into my mind, and I shall continue to write thus, although I sometimes find myself, as at present, compelled to call up the past in order to explain what is coming.

The Duc de Berry, kind-hearted, amiable, intellectual, and cultivated, was fond of art and patronised it greatly. In his early youth, like the good Henri IV., he loved a noble Corisande de Grammont, whom he greatly desired to marry. Louis XVIII. opposed it, and he was obliged to submit. All this took place in Germany. Some years later, the Duc and Duchesse de Guiche came to London, and established themselves there with their children. Mademoiselle Corisande de Grammont married Lord Ulseston, afterwards Earl of Tankerville.

Having very simple tastes, the Duc de Berry led a quiet life in London, dining every day with Monsieur, frequently spending his evenings with him at the house of the Duchesse de Coigny, with other *emigres*; he did not care much for the assemblies, where, however, he

was much sought after. His greatest pleasure was the opera, — "a rather expensive taste for a prince who is an *émigré*," he said to me one evening. He made this avowal with so much grace that I repeated it, and all my friends hastened to shower upon him tickets admitting him to their boxes. The Duc de Berry appreciated this attention, and often came to say so to us. He enjoyed it all the more since Madame — made her *début* that year.

Monseigneur, sharing the general enthusiasm, never missed one of her appearances. From the box of the Duke of Portland, where I often went with his daughters, we enjoyed his pleasure; but not far from us we noticed a very distinguished person whom every one was looking at, but whom no one knew. She was very beautiful, but extremely pale, and well, though simply, dressed. We were greatly amused at the curiosity she seemed to inspire in our compatriots, all the more so as she seemed to be perfectly indifferent to it. A young man named La Chastre one day offered her a programme, which she refused. M. de Clermont Lodève, with more audacity, offered her a bouquet, whereupon she froze him with a glance of magnificent disdain. On this occasion we observed that Monseigneur looked grave and cold, apparently thinking it bad taste to annoy the young woman. M. de Clermont, who persisted in his attentions and his curiosity, told us at length that he had succeeded in finding out her history. "Where she lives they call her Mrs. Brown," he said. "She lives

near the Park, where she walks out every day with her child, a little boy about six or seven, upon whom she lavishes maternal cares. They say she is good, charitable, and kindly, but very reserved." We could not learn anything more from M. de Clermont, who seemed to grow mysterious all at once, and we forgot the whole matter.

This happened about the time of the wars with Russia and Spain. Several years afterwards, I learned that Madame de Montsoreau and Vicomte d'Agoult had become sponsors for a little girl, to whom they gave the name of Charlotte. Two years later, the Duchesse de Coigny became godmother to another little girl named Louise. The Duc de Berry, they said, seemed to be interested in these children. The two godmothers were discreet, and the curious public could draw but one conclusion. Society became accustomed, and so did my daughters and I, to seeing them sometimes at the houses of the Duchesse de Coigny and Madame de Montsoreau. They were taken good care of, they had a governess who taught them French, and they spoke English with their mother.

Society in all countries often occupies itself too much with what is called the gossip of the salons, but also it quickly forgets it again,—at least unless some incident recalls it to mind, when the past is explained and understood in a moment.

Among the festivities which took place to celebrate the King's return to Paris, that of the opera was the first, the finest, and most brilliant, each box being brilliantly lighted; the King's box was perfectly dazzling, and also three on each side of it, in which were ladies in full court costume; I was in one of these boxes. One box alone in the second row opposite me was empty, and my attention was drawn to it for this reason. I saw a woman enter it enveloped in a lace veil which left only her face visible, — a pale, beautiful face which instantly recalled that of the silent lady of the opera in London. She remained standing, and with the light falling upon her she was very conspicuous. At the moment when the King's party entered every one rose, with their eyes fixed on the royal box. A gentleman of the King's household came forward and announced in a loud voice, "The King!"

The Duc de Berry appeared; all the Princes followed him, each one ranging himself so as to make a place for the King.

At this moment of profound silence we heard the sound of a heavy fall in the opposite box; the white lady had disappeared. The King entered; all eyes were turned towards him, and the cries of "Vive le Roi!" were unanimous. I wondered what could have happened to the lady, whom I saw carried out fainting, and who appeared no more. I saw that Monseigneur had perceived her; he said a few words to M. de Clermont, who disappeared.

The opera was "Œdipus." A very affecting part was

the well-known air where Œdipus addresses Antigone, beginning with these words, "She has lavished upon me her affection and her care." The King put out his hand to the Duchesse d'Angoulême, who kissed it; and everybody shouted, "Vive le Roi! Vive la Duchesse d'Angoulême!" with an enthusiasm difficult to describe.

During the entracte between the two pieces, M. de Clermont came to pay me a call. I spoke to him of the episode of the empty box; he seemed to me rather excited; he told me in a very low tone that Mrs. Brown had arrived from London an hour before the opera began, and that Monseigneur had sent her the ticket for the box, advising her to get there as soon as possible. The Duc de Berry, having been in the island of Jersey. had not seen her for a long time, and the surprise he had prepared for her might have killed her. Mrs. Brown, having led a very retired life, was entirely ignorant of Monseigneur's exalted rank, and on learning it so suddenly, its brilliancy, far from dazzling her, only made her understand the immense gulf between herself and him, which it would be impossible for her ever to cross.

Madame, having often regretted not having been able at Palermo to accomplish herself in the various arts, wished to profit by her retirement by taking lessons. Monseigneur was very fond of music, and therefore she wished to be a musician; he had a splendid gallery of pictures, and she wished to be able to appreciate

them; he liked occupation of all kinds, and she kept herself occupied, and thus spent some very agreeable hours, having even added to her graver studies lessons in making artificial flowers, presided over by the famous Batton, who taught to ladies and to the young persons of his establishment the art of copying Nature. Her mornings passed gayly; Monseigneur often shared them, and Madame always considered this the happiest time of her life. Then she became ill, and was pronounced enceinte. This time all precautions were redoubled; the remembrance of the precious infant lost through imprudence still weighed on Monseigneur's mind. The affair of the watermelon was brought up; Madame maintained that this fruit could not be unwholesome for a Neapolitan; that she was sure the accident was caused entirely by a drive, followed by a long ceremonial at the inauguration of the statue of Henri IV, on the Pont Neuf. Therefore drives were forbidden, and she was even obliged to walk to the dinners at the Tuileries, leaning on her husband's arm.

Monsieur and the Duc and Duchesse d'Angoulème often came to the Elysée to play a game of loto, which Madame thought rather dull; she asked me to begin again to give concerts in my apartments occasionally, and to have écarté, which was then just coming into fashion.

Charlotte came back from the South, and after occasioning us the greatest anxiety, a pair of very delicate vol. 1 — 15

## 226 MEMOIRS OF THE DUCHESSE DE GONTAUT.

twins were born before their time. We hardly dared to hope that they would live; but they not only lived, but grew up and had children of their own, and are now very strong and well, and form the happiness of their mother, and the pride and joy of their father.

END OF VOL L



# A List of Books Published by CHATTO

214, Piccadilly, London, W.

ABOUT.—THE FELLAH: An Egyptian Novel. By EDMOND ABOUT.
Translated by Sir Randal Roberts. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

ADAMS (W. DAVENPORT), WORKS BY.

A DICTIONARY OF THE DRAMA: The Plays, Playwrights, Players, and Playhouses of the United Kingdom and America. Cr. 8vo, half-bound, 12s. 6d. [Preparing, QUIPS AND QUIDDITIES. Selected by W. D. ADAMS. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

AGONY COLUMN (THE) OF "THE TIMES," from 1800 to 1870. Edited, with an Introduction, by ALICE CLAY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

AIDE (HAMILTON), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. CARR OF CARRLYOR. | CONFIDENCES.

ALBERT.—BROOKE FINCHLEY'S DAUGHTER. By MARY ALBERT.
Post 8vo, picture boards. 24.; cloth limp, 24. 6d.

ALDEN. - A LOST SOUL. By W. L. ALDEN. Fcap. 8vo, cl. bds., 1s. 6d. ALEXANDER (MRS.), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2e. each.
MAID, WIFE, OR WIDOW? | VALERIE'S PATE.

ALLEN (F. M.).—GREEN AS GRASS. By F. M. ALLEN, Author of "Through Green Glasses." Frontispiece by J. SMYTH. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 3a. 6d.

"Through Green Glasses." Frontispiece by J. SMYTH. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex.
ALLEN (GRANT), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra 6s. each.
THE BYOLUTIONIST AT LARGE. | COLIN GLOUT'S CALENDAR.
POST-PRANDIAL PHILOSOPHY. Crown 8vo, linen, 3s. 6d.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra. Sa. 6d. each: post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2m. each.

PHILISTIA. IN ALL SHADES. DUMARESO'S DAUGH
EASTLONG STORIES. THE DEVIL'S DIE. THE DUCHESS OF
ETRANGE STORIES. BECKONING HAND. THE TENTS OF SHEEL BLOOD ROYAL.

POR MAINIE'S SAKE. THE GREAT TABOO. DUMARESO'S DAUGHTER,

Crown 5vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.
STERPIECE, &c. With a Frontispiece by STANLEY L. WOOD. IVAN GREETS WASTERPIECE, &c. Wi THE SCALLYWAG. With a Frontispiece. DR. PALLISER'S PATIENT. Fcap. evo, cloth extra, Is. 6d.

ARCHITECTURAL STYLES, A HANDBOOK OF. By A. ROSENGAR-TEN. Translated by W. Collett-Sandars. With 639 Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. ez., 7v. 6d. ART (THE) OF AMUSING: A Collection of Graceful Arts, GAMES,

Tricks, Fuzzles, and Charades. By FRANK BELLEW. 300 Illusts. Cr. 8vo. cl. ex., 4 ... 6d.

ARNOLD (EDWIN LESTER), WORKS BY.

THE WONDERFUL ADVENTURES OF PHRA THE PHENICIAN, With 12 Mosts
by H. M. Paget. Crown Svo. cloth extra. 32, 4id.; post 8vo, illust. boards. 22,

THE CONSTABLE OF ST. NICHOLAS. With a Frontispiece by STANLEY WOOD. Crown 8vo, cloth, 🕉 🖦 🍪 d.

BIRD LIFE IN ENGLAND. Crown Svo. cioth extra, 6a.

ARTEMUS WARD'S WORKS. With Portrait and Facsimile. Crown svo, cloth extra. 74. 6d.—Also a Popular Edition, post 8vo, picture boards, 24. THE GENIAL EHOWMAN: Life and Adventures of ARTEMUS WARD. By EDWARD P. Hinaston. With a Frontispiece. Crown 5vo, cloth aztra, 3a. 6d.

ł

ì

ASCITOF (JUEN), WURKS BY. Crown for, cloth entre, To. 64. each.
EISTORY OF THE CHAP-BOOKS OF THE SAM CRETURY. With 34 illents,
BUCIAL LIFE IN THE RETER OF GUERF ASSE. With 34 illents on a BUCIAL SAFE IN THE RETER OF SEVENTERING CENTURY. With 5r Illents,
EUROGER STREET HALLADS. With 5r Illustrations.
BUCKER STREET HALLADS. With 5r Illustrations.

BACTERIA, TEAST FUNGL AND ALLIED SPECIES, A SYNOPSIS

SE. By M. R. GROVE, R.A. With by Diversanges, Crown Svo, circh extra, 3a, 64.

BARDSLEY (REV. C. W.L WORKS BY. ENGLISH SUBSAMES: Their Sources and Significations. Cr. 6va. cloth. 7a. 64. CURDENTIES OF PURITAL SOMESCLATURE. Crown Svo. cloth extra, Co.

EARTHS COULD (S., Author of " John Herring," &c.), NOVELS BY.

BARR (ROBERT: LUKE SHARP), STORIES BY. Cr. 800, cl., 20. 64. ca. IN A STEADER CHAIR. With Frontispiece and Vignette by Demain Hammonn. From Withing Boulds I. &c. With 47 fillustrations.

PARRETT (FRANK, Ammor of "Lady Biddy Fane,") NOVELS BY.

Proc. Husting bands, 2s. each cloth, 2s. 6d. each.

PATTERED FOR LIFE. | A PRODICAL'S PROGRESS.

THE SIN OF OLGA LASSOULEM.

JOHN FORD; and HIS HELPMATE. A RECOILING VENGEAUCE. POLLY BOREINGS. HOMERY BAVIE. LIEUT. BARRABAS. FOURD SUILTY. FOR LOVE AND HOSOUR.

THE WORLD OF THE WALL BRACELETS. Crows See, clock. Se. 64. I Shortly. BEACONSFIELD, LORD. By T. P. O'Cowson, M.P. Cr. 8vo, cioth, 54 BEAUCHAMP.-GRANTLEY GRANGE: A Novel. By SHELFLEY

BEAUCHARS. Post ivo. diuscrated bearin, 20.

BEAUTIFUL PICTURES BY BRITISH ARTISTS: A Gathering from une Picture Galleries, etteraved on Steel. Imperial etc, cloth extra, pile edges, 21a.

BECHSTEIN—AS PRETTY AS SEVEN, and other German Stories.
Chlored by Linuag Sacronnia. With Auditional Tales by the Brothers Gerwa, and its Ulustrations by Richards. Strace 300, cloth extra. 6a. 64.; plt edges, 7a. 64.

BEERSON - WANDERINGS IN PATAGONIA; or, Life among the Curren Surveys Be attacks Bananons. With Ulusta. Cr. Sea cl. entra. 2a. 6d.

BESNETT (W. C., LL. B.) WURES BY. Post bro, cloth imp. 24, each. A BALLAD BISTORY OF ENGLASE. SONGS FOR BALLORS.

BESANT IN ALTERA NOVELS BY

Of the river. In Section 1 and the state of since, but, In each; cf. kmp. In Sel each, and states are distributed by BES. With Lieutenines by Free Bernard. The Gapterns' State, and Wills States of the Lieutenines by Free Bernard. The Gapterns' States are supported by A. J. Wreecer. But In A. 64.7575 False. With Fundamental by Charles Course. During the Resistance of the Course of the States of the Course of the States of the Course of the States PUBLICATE PUBLICAL. WITH SCORNINGHAM BY CHARLES GREEN.

INCLIS INCL. AND HIMP SCORN.

EMILIBER OF GIRDON.

EMILIBER OF GIRDON.

ENSE PALLUS: IN NOW IN DIRECTIONS, and his Fail.

PUB FALTE AND FRESDUR. WITH LIBERTAINED by A FORESTER and F. Warder.

TY GALL MISS ENSE, AND WITH SHIRMAND BY A FORESTER and F. WARDE.

TYS BULL MISS. ENSE, AND WITH SHIRMAND BY A FORESTER.

TYS BULL MISS. IN N. WITH SHIRMAND BY A FORESTER.

TYS BULL MISS. IN N. WITH SHIRMAND BY A FORESTER.

TYS BULL MISS. IN N. PROMISSION BY F. BARNARD.

EXPLORED OF LYURISSE A RUMBING OF TO-CASE, With 12 DIRECTION BY C. GREEN.

EXPLORED OF LYURISSE A RUMBING OF THE LYURIS BY C. GREEN.

THE LYURISH STEPHAROTIS, AND THE LYURIS GATE: A MOVEL.

CHARLES AND CONTRACTOR OF THE LYURISSE.

CHARLES AND CONTRACTOR OF THE LYURISSE.

(STANCE).

IS DEACOR'S CEDERS 15 tordy. THE BULDET OF ENGLARD PRINTERS. With Portrait. Cr. Sec. cl. cours, Sec. THE BULDET OF ENGLARD PRIVERIES. With Portrait. Cr. Sec, cl. cours, Sec. THE AST OF ENGLAND PRIVERIES.

LIABUS. Win the Edwardson, Deny Sea cloth cure, 18a.
LIABUS. Win the Edwardson, Deny Sea cloth cure, 18a.
LIABUS. Winter Edwardson, Crown rea look Lines, 3a. 64.
LASPARD DE CULASE. With a Portrait. Crown Sea Lines Incom. 3a. 64. MALIER MARKET: A Straig. By Josep Unsuperstate. Cr. Son, Louis, Co., (Second):

BESANT (WALTER) AND JAMES RICE, NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 3n. 6d. each; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2n. each; cl. limp, 2s. 6d. ex., Life READY-MONEY MORTIBOY. BY CELIA'S ARBOUR. MY LITTLE GIRL.
WITH HARP AND CROWN.
THIS SON OF YULCAN.
THE GASE OF MR. LUGRAFT. &c.
THE GASE OF MR. LUGRAFT. &c.
THE MONKS OF THELEMA.
THE TEN YEARS' TENANT, &c.
THE TEN YEARS' TENANT, &c. set in new type, on a large crown 8vo page, and bound in cloth extra. 6s. each. BEWICK (THOMAS) AND HIS PUPILS. By Austin Dosson, 95 Illustrations. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. BIERCE.—IN THE MIDST OF LIFE: Tales of Soldiers and Civilians, By Ambrose Bierce. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 62.3 post 8vo, illustrated boards, 22. BLACKBURN'S (HENRY) ART HANDBOOKS. ACADEMY NOTES, separate years, from 1878-1887, 1889-1892, each is.
ACADEMY NOTES, 1893. With litustrations, is.
ACADEMY NOTES, 1873-79. Complete in One Vol., with 600 Illusts. Cloth limp, 6s.
ACADEMY NOTES, 1880-84. Complete in One Vol. with 700 Illusts Cloth limp, 6s.
GROSVENOR NOTES, 1877. 6d.
GROSVENOR NOTES, 1877. 6d. GROSVENOR NOTES, 1877. 6d.
GROSVENOR NOTES, separate years from 1878 to 1830, each 1s.
GROSVENOR NOTES, Vol. I., 1877-82. With 300 Illusts. Demy 8vc, cloth limp, 6s.
GROSVENOR NOTES, Vol. II., 1883-87. With 300 Illusts. Demy 8vc, cloth limp, 6s.
GROSVENOR NOTES, Vol. III., 1883-87. With 300 Illusts. Demy 8vc, cloth, 3s. 6d.
THE NEW GALLERY, 1838-1892. With numerous Illustrations, each 1s.
THE NEW GALLERY, 1893. With Illustrations. Is.
THE NEW GALLERY, Vol. I., 1888-1892. With 250 Illusts, Demy 8vo, cloth, 6s.
ENGLISH PICTURES AT THE NATIONAL GALLERY. 174 Illustrations. Is.
OLD MASTERS AT THE NATIONAL GALLERY. 128 Illustrations. Is.
Gd.
ILLUSTRATED GATALOGUE TO THE NATIONAL GALLERY. 242 Illusts. cl., 3s. THE PARIS SALON, 1893. With Facsimile Sketches. 3s. THE PARIS SOCIETY OF FINE ARTS, 1893. With Sketches. 3s. 6d. BLAKE (WILLIAM): India-proof Etchings from his Works by WILLIAM BELL Scott. With descriptive Text. Folio, half-bound boards, 21s. BLIND (MATHILDE), Poems by, Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. each, THE ASCENT OF MAN.
DRAMAS IN MINIATURE. With a Frontispiece by F.
SONGS AND SONNETS. Fcap. 8vo, vellum and gold. With a Frontispiece by FORD MADOX BROWN. BOURNE (H. R. FOX), WORKS BY,
ENGLISH MERCHANTS: Memoirs in Illustration of the Progress of British Commerce. With numerous Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
ENGLISH NEWSPAPERS: The History of Journalism. Two Vols., demy 8vo, cl., 25s.
THE OTHER SIDE OF THE EMIN PASHA RELIEF EXPEDITION. Cr. 8vo, 6s. BOWERS.-LEAVES FROM A HUNTING JOURNAL. By GRORGE Bowers. Oblong folio, half-bound, 21s. BOYLE (FREDERICK), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each, CHRONICLES OF NO-MAN'S LAND. | CAMP NOTES. | SAYAGE LIFE. BRAND'S OBSERVATIONS ON POPULAR ANTIQUITIES; chiefly illustrating the Origin of our Vulgar Customs, Ceremonies, and Superstitions. With the Additions of Sir Henry Ellis, and illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra. 2a. 6d. BREWER (REV. DR.), WORKS BY.

THE READER'S HANDBOOK OF ALLUSIONS, REFERENCES, PLOTS, AND
STORIES. Fifteenth Thousand. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

AUTHORS AND THEIR WORKS, WITH THE DATES: Being the Appendices to
"The Reader's Handbook," separately printed. Crown 8vo, cloth himp, 3s.

A DICTIONARY OF MIRAGLES. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. BREWSTER (SIR DAVID), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. ex., 4m. 6d. each.
MORE WORLDS THAN ONE: Creed of Philosopher and Hope of Christian. Plates.
THE MARTYRS OF SCIENCE: GALILRO, TYCHO BRAHE, and KEPLER. With Portraits. LETTERS ON NATURAL MAGIC. With numerous Illustrations.

BRILLAT-SAVARIN, -GASTRONOMY AS A FINE ART. By BRILLAT. SAVARIN. Translated by R. E. Anderson, M.A. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2s.

```
BOOKS PUBLISHED BY
  ARTE, WORKS BY.

ACTARY EDITION. In Seven Volumes, crown 8vo, cloth extra, 8a. each.

BRET HARTE'S COLLECTED WORKS. Arranged and Revised by the Author,
Vol. I. Complete Poetical and Dramatic Works. With Steel Portisit.
Vol. II. Luce of Roasing Camp—Bonemian Papers—American Legends.
Vol. III. Tales of the Argonauts—Easter Sections.
Vol. VI. Gabriel Conrov. | Vol. V, Stories—Condensed Novels, 8c.
Vol. VI. Tales of the Pacific Slope.
Vol. VII. Tales of the Pacific Slope.
Vol. VIII. Salvy Dows. 8c.

15 hartiv.
        Vol. VIII. SALLY DOWS, &c.
      THE SELECT WORES OF BRET HARTE, in Prose and Poetry With Introductory Essay by J. M. BELLEW, Portrait of Author, and so Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex.. 7s. 6d. BRET HARTE'S POETICAL WORES. Hand-made paper & buckram. Cr. 8vo, 4s. 6d. THE QUEER OF THE PIRATE IBLE. With 28 original Drawings by Kats Greenway, reproduced in Colours by Edmund Evans. Small 4to, cloth, 5s.
       Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3a. 6d. each.

A WRIF OF THE PLAINS. With 60 Blustrations by Stanley L. Wood.

A WARD OF THE GOLDEN GATE. With 50 Blustrations by Stanley L. Wood.

A SAPPHO OF GREEN SPRINGS, Ac. With Two Blustrations by Hume Nisser.

COLONEL STARBOTTLE'S CLIENT, AND SOME OTHER PROPLE. With a
              Frontispiece by Fred. Barrard.
8Y: A Novel. With Frontispiece and Vignette by J. A. Christie.
       EUSY: A Novel. With Prontispiece and Vignette by J. A. CHRIST 2-LLY DOWS, &c. With 47 Illustrations by W. D. Almond, &c.
       A PROTECT 8 OF JECK HAWLIN'S. With 26 Illustrations by W. SMALL, &c.
                                              Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.
THE LUCK OF ROARING CAMP, &c.
EED DOG, &c. CALIFORNIAN STORIES.
       GABRIEL COURCY.
       AR HEIRESS OF RED DOG, &c.
                      Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 9a, each; cloth limp, 2a, 6d, each.

MARUJA. | A PHYLLIS OF THE SIERRAS.
                                                    Feap. 8vo. picsure cover, In. each.
       SHOW-BOUND AT EAGLE'S.
                                                                                JEFF BRIGGS'S LOVE STORY.
BRYDGES.—UNCLE SAM AT HOME. By HAROLD BRYDGES. Post
8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
BUCHANAN'S (ROBERT) WORKS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6a. each.
        SELECTED POEMS OF ROBERT BUCHANAN. With Frontispiece by T. DALSING.
       THE EARTHQUAKE; or, Six Days and a Sabbath.

THE GITY OF DREAM: An Epic Poem, With Two Illustrations by P. MACHAR.

THE WANDERING JEW; A Christmas Carol. Second Edition.
        THE OUTCAST: A Rhyme for the Time. With 15 Hinstrations by Kudolf Blind, Peter Machab, and Humz Nisret. Small demy 8vo, cloth extra, Sa. OBERT BUCHARAN'S COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS. With Steel-plate Por-
               trait. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
           trail Clown ove, cloth extra. 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, filestrated boards, 3s. each.
Crown fov, cloth extra. 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, filestrated boards, 3s. each.
       THE SHADOW OF THE SWORD,
A CHILD OF NATURE. Prostispiece.
BOD AND THE MAN. With 11 Illus-
                                                                                     LOVE ME POR EYER. Prontispiece
ABRAN WATER, PONGLOVE MANUE.
       BOD AND THE MAN. With 11 High-
trations by Fred Barward.

THE MARTYRDOM OF MADELINE.

With Frontispiece by A. W. Cooper.

THE HEIR OF LIMBE.

THE HEIR OF LIMBE.
         WOMAN AND THE MAN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 34. 64.
                                                                                                                                                    Shortly.
 BURTON (CAPTAIN). -THE BOOK OF THE SWORD. By RICHARD F. BURTON. With over 400 Illustrations. Demy 4to, cloth extra, 32s.
BURTON (ROBERT).
THE ANATOMY OF MELANCHOLY: A New Edition, with translations of the Classical Extracts. Demy 8vo, cloth extra. 7s. 6d.
MELANCHOLY ANATOMISED Being an Abridgment, for popular use, of Buston's Anatomy of Melancholy. Post 8vo, cloth 1mp, 2e. 6d.
CAINE (T. HALL), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3a, 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2a, each; cloth ltmp, 2a, 6d, each, shadow of a crime. | A son of hadar. | The Deemster...
 CAMERON (COMMANDER). - THE CRUISE OF THE "BLACK PRINCE" PRIVATEER. By V. LOVETT CAMERON, R.N. POSISVA, DOSERS, 2a.
CAMERON (MRS. H. LOVETT), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, Blast bda., 2a. each.
JULIET'S GUARDIAN. | DECRIVERS EYER.
```

```
CARLYLE (THOMAS) ON THE CHOICE OF BOOKS. With Life by R. H. Shepherd, and Three Illustrations. Post 8vo, cloth extra, 1s. 6d. CORRESPONDENCE OF THOMAS CARLYLE AND R. W. EMERSON, 1834 cd. 1872. Edited by C. E. Norton. With Portraits. Two Vols., crown 8vo, cloth, 2ds.
CARLYLE (JANE WELSH), LIFE OF. By Mis. Alexander Ireland.
         With Portrait and Pacsimile Letter. Small demy 8vo, cloth extra, 70. 6d.
CHAPMAN'S (GEORGE) WORKS. Vol. I. contains the Plays complete, including the doubtful ones. Vol. II., the Poems and Minor Translations, with an Introductory Essay by ALGERNON CHARLES SWINBURNE. Vol. III. the Translations of the Iliad and Odyssey. Three Vols., crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each.
CHATTO AND JACKSON.—A TREATISE ON WOOD ENGRAVING.
         By W. A. CHATTO and J. JACKSON. With 450 fine Illusts. Large 4to, hf.-bd., 28s.
CHAUCER FOR CHILDREN: A Golden Key. By Mrs. H. R. HAWEIS.
With 8 Coloured Plates and 30 Woodcuts. Small 4to, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
CHAUCER FOR 8CHOOLS. By Mrs. H. R. HAWEIS. Demy8vo, cloth limp. 2s. 6d.
CLARE.—FOR THE LOVE OF A LASS: A Tale of Tynedale.
AUSTIN CLARK. Post 8vo, picture boards, 20.1 cloth limp, 20. 6d.
CLIVE (MRS. ARCHER), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust. boards 2s. each.
PAUL FERROLL. WHY PAUL PERROLL KILLED HIS WIFE.
CLODD.—MYTHS AND DREAMS. By EDWARD Second Edition, Revised. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
                                                                                                         By Edward Clodd, F.R.A.S.
 COBBAN (J. MACLAREN), NOVELS BY.
THE CURE OF SOULS. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
         THE RED SULTAN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. THE BURDEN OF ISABEL. Three Vols, crown 8vo.
COLEMAN (JOHN), WORKS BY.
PLAYERS AND PLAYWRIGHTS I HAVE KNOWN. Two Vols., 8vo, cloth, 24s.
GURLY: An Actor's Story. With 21 Illusts. by J. C. Dollman. Cr. 8vo, cl., 1s. 6d.
COLERIDGE -THE SEVEN SLEEPERS OF EPHESUS.
COLERIDGE. Fcap, 8vo, cloth, 1=. 6d.
 COLLINS (C. ALLSTON). - THE BAR SINISTER. Post 8vo, 2s.
 COLLINS (MORTIMER AND FRANCES), NOVELS BY.
         Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 3a. each, FROM MIDNIGHT TO MIDRIGHT. | BLACKSMITH AND SCHOLAR. TRANSMIGRATION. | YOU PLAY ME FALSE. | A VILLAGE COME
                                                                                                                                    A YILLAGE COMEDY.
 Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 25. each.

BWEET ANNE PAGE. | PIGHT WITH FORTURE. | SWEET & TWENTY. | FRANCES.
EWEET ANNE PAGE. | FIGHT WITH FORTURE. | SWEET & TWENTY. | FRANCES. COLLINS (WILKIE), NOVELS BY.

Cr. 8vo. cl. ex., 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo. illust. bds., 2s. each; cl. limp, 2s. 6d. each.
ANTONINA. With a Frontispiece by Sir John Gilbert, R.A.
BASIL. Illustrated by Sir John Gilbert, R.A., and J. Mahoney.
HIDE AND SEEK. Illustrated by Sir John Gilbert, R.A., and J. Mahoney.
AFTER DARK. Illustrated by Sir John Gilbert, R.A., and J. Mahoney.
THE DEAD SECRET. With a Frontispiece by Sir John Gilbert, R.A.
OUEEN OF HEARTS. With a Frontispiece by Sir John Gilbert, R.A.
THE WOMAN IN WHITE. With Illustrations by Sir J. Gilbert, R.A., and A. W. Cooper,
MY MISCELLANIES. With a Steel-plate Portrait of Wilkie Collins.
ARMADALE. With Illustrations by G. H. Thomas.
THE MOONSTONE, With Illustrations by G. Du Maurier and F. A. Fraser.
         ARMADALE. With Illustrations by G. M. HOMAS.
THE MOONSTONE, With Illustrations by G. Du Maurier and F. A. Fraser.
MAN AND WIFE. With Illustrations by WILLIAM SMALL.
POOR MISS FINGH. Illustrated by G. Du Maurier and Edward Hughes.
WISS OR WRS.? With Illustrated by G. L. Filder, R.A., and Henry Woods, A.R.A.
         MISS OR MRS.? With Illusts. by S. L. FILDES, R.A., and HENRY WOODS, A.R.A.
THE NEW MAGDALEN. Illustrated by G. Du Maurier and C. S. Reinhardt.
THE PROZEN DEEP. Illustrated by G. Du Maurier and J. Manoney.
THE LAW AND THE LADY. Illusts. by S. L. Fildes, R.A., and Sydney Hall.
THE HAUNTED HOTEL. Illustrated by Arthur Hopkins.
THE FALLEN LEAVES. HEART AND SCIENCE. THE EVIL GENIUS.
JEZEBEL'S DAUGHTER. "I BAY NO." LITTLE HOVELS.
```

COLLINS (JOHN CHURTON, M.A.), BOOKS BY.
ILLUSTRATIONS OF TENNYSON. Crown 8vo, cloth extra Crown Svo, cloth extra, 6s. JOSATHAN SWIFT: A Biographical and Critical Study. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 80

A ROGUE'S LIFE.

With Preface by WALTER BESANT, and Illusts. by A. FORESTIER.

THE LEGACY OF CAIN.

THE BLACK ROBS.

BLIND LOYE.

COLMAN'S (GEORGE) HUMOROUS WORKS: "Broad Grins," "My Nightgown and Slippers," &c. With Life and Frontis. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra. 7a. 6d.

COLQUHOUN.—EVERY INCH A SOLDIER: A Novel, Colquhoun. Pon 8vo, illustrated boards, 24. By M. L.

CONVALESCENT COOKERY: A Family Handbook. By CATHERINE RYAN. Crown Svo, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.

CONWAY (MONCURE D.), WORKS BY.

DEMONOLOGY AND DEVILLORE, 65 illustrations, Two Vols., 8vo, cloth 2%s. A NECKLACE OF STORIES. 25 illusts by W. J. Hannessy. Sq. 8vo, cloth, 6s. GEORGE WASHINGTON'S RULES OF CIVILITY. Fcap. 8vo, Jap. vellum, 2s. 6d.

COOK (DUTTON), NOVELS BY.
PAUL POSTER'S DAUGHTER. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 3a. 6d.; post 8vo, Hust. boards, 2a. LEO. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

COOPER (EDWARD H.)—GEOFFORY HAMILTON. Cr. 8vo, 8s. 6d. CORNWALL.—POPULAR ROMANCES OF THE WEST OF ENG-LAND; or, The Droils, Traditions, and Superstitions of Old Cornwall. Collected by ROBERT HUNT, F.R.S. Two Steel-plates by GEO. CRUIRSHAME. Cr. 8vo. cl., 7m. 6d.

COTES.—TWO GIRLS ON A BARGE. By V. CECIL COTES, 44 Illustrations by F. H. Townsend. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 34, 64.

CRADDOCK.-THE PROPHET OF THE GREAT SMOKY MOUN-TAIRS. By CHARLES EGBERT CRADDOCK. Post 8vo, Illust. bds., 2s.; cl. limp, 2s. 6d.

CRELLIN (H. N.)—THE NAZARENES: A Drama. Crown 8vo, 1s.

CRIM.-ADVENTURES OF A FAIR REBEL. By MATT CRIM. a Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3c. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2c.

• CROKER (B.M.), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d, each; post 8vo. illustrated boards, 2n. each; cloth limp, 2n. 6d. each.
PRETTY MISS REVILLE.
A BIRD OF PASSAGE.
A FAMILY LIKENESS.

STOLET."

CRUIKSHANK'S COMIC ALMANACK. Complete in Two Series:

The First from 1835 to 1843; the Second from 1844 to 1853. A Gathering of the Best Humour of Thackeray, Hood, Maynew, Albert Smith, A'Beckett, Robert Brocch, &c. With dumerous Steel Engravings and Woodcuts by Cruiteshame, Hing, Landelles, &c. Two Vois., crown 8vo, cloth gitt, 7s. 6d. each, The Life Of George Cruikshame. By Blanchard Jerrold. With & Illustrations and a Bibliography. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 6s.

CUMMING (C. F. GORDON), WORKS BY. Demy 8vo, cl. ex., 8a, 64, each.
IN THE HEBRIDES. With Autorype Pacsimile and 23 Illustrations.
IN THE HIMALAYAS AND ON THE INDIAN PLAINS. With 42 Illustrations.
TWO HAPPY YEARS IN CEYLON. With 28 Illustrations. VIA CORNWALL TO EGYPT. With Photogravure Frontis. Demy 870, cl., 7s. 6d.

CUSSANS.—A HANDBOOK OF HERALDRY; with Instructions for Tracing Pedigrees and Deciphering Ancient MSS., &c. By John E. Cussans. With 408 Woodcuts and a Coloured Plates. Fourth edition, revised, crown 8vo, cloth. 6a.

CYPLES(W.)—HEARTS of GOLD. Cr. 8vo, cl. 85.6d.; post 8vo, bds. 2s. DANIEL-MERRIE ENGLAND IN THE OLDEN TIME. BY GEORGE Dantel. With Illustrations by Rosent Cauleshane. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3a. 6d.

DAUDET.—THE EVANGELIST; or, Port Salvation. By ALP DAUDET. Crown 8vo. cloth exira. 3a. 6d.; post 9vo. Blustrated boards, 2a. By ALPHONEE

DAVIDSON.-MR. SADLER'S DAUGHTERS By HUGH COLEMAN Davidson. With a Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3a. 8d.

DAVIES (DR. N. E. YORKE-), WORKS BY. Cr. 8vo, Ia. ea.; cl., Ia. 6d. ea. ONE THOUSAND MEDICAL MAXIMS AND SURGICAL HINTS.

BURSERY HINTS: A Mother's Guide in Health and Disease. POODS FOR THE FAT; A Trestise on Corpulency, and a Dietary for its Care. AIDS TO LONG LIFE. Crown tvo, 24.; cloth limp, 24. 64.

DAVENANT.—HINTS FOR PARENTS ON THE CHOICE OF A PRO-FESSION FOR THEIR SONS. By F. DAVENANT, M.A. Post 890. 14.; cl., fa., 6d.

DAVIES' (SIR JOHN) COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS, for the first time Collected and Edited, with Memorial-Introduction and Notes, by the Rev. A. B. GROSART, D.D. Two Vols., Grown 8ve, cloth boards; 13 max 1 max

DAWSON.-THE FOUNTAIN OF YOUTH. By ERASMUS DAWSON, M.B. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, In. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 30.

DE GUERIN.—THE JOURNAL OF MAURICE DE GUERIN. Edited by G. S. Translated from the 20th French Edition by JESSIE P. FROTHINGHAM. Foap, 8vo, half-bound, 20th. 6dd.

DE MAISTRE. - A JOURNEY ROUND MY ROOM. By XAVIER DE MAISTRE. Translated by HENRY ATTWELL. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

DE MILLE.—A CASTLE IN. SPAIN. By JAMES DE MILLE. With Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

DERBY (THE).—THE BLUE RIBBON OF THE TURF: A Chronicle of the Race for The Derby, from Diomea to Donovan. With Brief Accounts of The Oaks. By Louis Henry Curzon. Crown 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

DERWENT (LEITH), NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3n. 6d. ea.; post 8vo, bds., 2n. ea.
OUR LADY OF TEARS. | CIRCE'S LOYERS.

DICKENS (CHARLES), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo. illustrated boards, 2s. each.

BRETCHES BY BOZ.

THE PICKWICK PAPERS.

OLIVER TWIST.

THE SPEECHES OF CHARLES DICKENS, 1841-1870. With a New Bibliography. Edited by Richard Herne Shippierd. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 6m.; ABOUT ENGLAND WITH DICKENS. By Alfred Rimmer. With 57 Illustrations by C. A. Vanderhoof, Alfred Rimmer, and others. Sq. 8vo, cloth extra. 7m. 6d.

DICTIONARIES.
A DICTIONARY OF MIRACLES: Imitative, Realistic, and Dogmatic. By the Rev. B. C. Berwer, Ll.D. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
THE READER'S HANDBOOK OF ALLUSIONS, REFERENCES, PLOTS, AND STORIES. By the Rev. B. C. Berwer, Ll.D. With an English Bisliography. Fifteenth Thousand. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6dd.
AUTHORS AND THEIR WORKS, WITH THE DATES. Cr. 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. FAMILIAR SHORT SAYINGS OF GREAT MEN. With Historical and Explanatory Notes. By Samuel A. Bent, A.M. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
SLANG DICTIONARY: Elymological, Historical, and Anecdotal. Cr. 8vo, cl., 6s. 6d.
WOMEN OF THE DAY: A Biographical Dictionary, By F. HAYS. Cr. 8vo, cl., 5s. WORDS, FACTS, AND PHRASES: A Dictionary of Curious, Quaint, and Out-othe-Way Matters. By Ellezer Redwards. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

DIDEROT.—THE PARADOX OF ACTING. Translated, with Annotations, from Diderot's "Le Paradoxe sur le Comédien," by WALTER HERRIES POLLOCE. With a Preface by HENRY IRVING. Crown 8vo, parchment, 4s. 6d.

DOBSON (AUSTIN), WORKS BY.

THOMAS BEWICK & RIS PUPILS. With 95 Illustrations. Square 3vo, cloth, 6s.
FOUR FRENCHWOMEN. With 4 Portraits. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6s.
EIGHTEENTH CENTURY YIGHETTES. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6s.—A SECOND SERIES, uniform in size and price, is now in preparation.

DOBSON (W. T.)—POETICAL INGENUITIES AND ECCENTRICI-TIES. Post 8vo, cloth limp. 2a. 6d.

DONOVAN (DICK), DETECTIVE STORIES BY.

Post Svo. illustrated boards. 3s. each; cloth limp, 3s. 6d. each.
THE WAN-HUNTER. | WANTED! | A DETECTIVE'S TRIUMPHS
GAUGHT AT LAST! | IN THE GRIP OF THE LAW CAUGHT AT LAST! TRACKED AND TAKEN. FROM INFORMATION RECEIVED. LINK BY LINK. WHO POISONED HETTY DUNCANT BUSPICION AROUSED,

Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, boards, 2s. each; cloth, 2s. 6d. each.

THE MAN FROM MANCHESTER. With 23 Illustrations. TRACKED TO DOOM. With 6 full-page Hlustrations by GORDON BROWNE.

DOYLE (CONAN). —THE FIRM OF GIRDLESTONE. 15.
DOYLE, Author of "Mican Clarke," Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

11.5

ASHTON (JOHN), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each.
HISTORY OF THE CHAP-BOOKS OF THE 48th CENTURY. With 334 Illusts.
SOCIAL LIFE IN THE REIGN OF QUEEN ANNE. With 85 Illustrations.
HUMOUR, WIT, AND SATIRE OF SEVENTEENTH CENTURY. With 82 Illusts.
ENGLISH CARICATURE AND SATIRE ON NAPOLEON THE FIRST. 115 Illusts.
MODERN STREET BALLADS. With 57 Illustrations.

BACTERIA, YEAST FUNGI, AND ALLIED SPECIES, A SYNOPSIS OF. By W. B. GROVE, B.A. With 87 Illustrations, Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

BARDSLEY (REV. C. W.), WORKS BY.
ENGLISH SURNAMES: Their Sources and Significations. Cr. 8vo, cloth, 7s. 6d.
CURIOSITIES OF PURITAN NOMENCLATURE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.

BARING GOULD (S., Author of "John Herring," &c.), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

RED SPIDER.

BARR (ROBERT: LUKE SHARP), STORIES BY. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3s. 6d. ea. IN A STEAMER CHAIR. With Frontispiece and Vignette by DEMAIN HAMMOND. FROM WHOSE BOURNE, &c. With 47 Illustrations.

BARRETT (FRANK, Author of "Lady Biddy Fane,") NOVELS BY.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each; cloth, 2s. 6d. each.

FETTERED FOR LIFE.

THE SIN OF OLGA ZASSOULICH.

BETWEEN LIFE AND DEATH.

FOLLY MORRISON. I HONEST DAVIE.

FOLLY MORRISON. I HONEST DAVIE. JOHN FORD; and HIS HELPMATE. A RECOILING VENGEANCE. LIEUT.BARNABAS. | FOUND GUILTY. LITTLE LADY LINTON. FOR LOYE AND HONOUR.

THE WOMAN OF THE IRON BRACELETS. Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d. [Shortly. BEACONSFIELD, LORD. By T. P. O'CONNOR, M.P. Cr. 8vo, cloth, 5s.

BEAUCHAMP.-GRANTLEY GRANGE: A Novel. By Shelsley BEAUCHAMP. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

BEAUTIFUL PICTURES BY BRITISH ARTISTS: A Gathering from the Picture Galleries, engraved on Steel. Imperial 4to, cloth extra, gilt edges, 21s.

BECHSTEIN.—AS PRETTY AS SEVEN, and other German Stories.
Collected by Ludwig Bechstein. With Additional Tales by the Brothers Grimm, and 98 Illustrations by Richter. Square 8vo, cloth extra. 6s. 6d.; gilt edges, 7s. 6d.

BEERBOHM.—WANDERINGS IN PATAGONIA; or, Life among the Ostrich Hunters. By Julius Beerbohm. With Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3s. 6d.

BENNETT (W. C., LL.D.), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth limp. 2. each.
A BALLAD HISTORY OF ENGLAND. | SONGS FOR SAILORS.

BESANT (WALTER), NOVELS BY.

ESANT (WALTER), NOVELS BY.

Cr. 8vo. (c. ex., 3s., 6d. each; post 8vo. illust. bds., 2s. each; cl. limp, 2s. 6d. each.
ALL SORTS AND CONDITIONS OF MEN. With illustrations by Fred. Barnard.
THE CAPTAINS' ROOM, &c. With Frontispiece by E. J. Wheeler,
ALL IN A GARDEN FAIR. With 6 illustrations by Harry Furniss.
DOROTHY FORSTER. With Frontispiece by Charles Green.
UNCLE JACK, and other Stories. | CHILDREN OF GIBEON.
THE WORLD WENT VERY WELL THEN. With 12 illustrations by A. Forestier.
HERR PAULUS: His Rise, his Greatness, and his Fail.
FOR FAITH AND FREEDOM. With illustrations by A. Forestier and F. Waddy.
TO CALL HER MINE, &c. With 9 illustrations by A. Forestier,
THE RELL OF ST. PAUL'S.

FOR FAITH AND FREEDOM. WITH HUSTAGONS OF A FORESTIER,
TO CALL HER MINE, &c. With 9 Illustrations by A. FORESTIER,
THE BELL OF ST. PAUL'S.
THE HOLY ROSE, &c. With Frontispiece by F. BARNARD.
ARMOREL OF LYONESSE: A Romance of To-day. With 12 Illusts. by F. BARNARD.
ST. KATHERINE'S BY THE TOWER. With 12 page Illustrations by C. GREEN.
YERBENA CAMELLIA STEPHANOTIS, &c. THE IVORY GATE: A Novel.

Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.

IN DEACON'S ORDERS. [Shortly.]

THE REBEL QUEEN. INDUSTRIES. QUEEN. [SNOW, 18]
FIFTY YEARS AGO. With 144 Plates and Woodcuts. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. THE EULOGY OF RICHARD JEFFERIES. With Portrait. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 6s. THE ART OF FIGTION. Demy 8vo, 1s. LONDON. With 124 Illustrations. Demy 8vo, cloth extra, 18s. SIR RICHARD WHITTINGTON. Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, Irish Linen, 3s. 6d. GASPARD DE COLIGNY. With a Portrait. Crown 8vo, Irish linen, 3s. 6d.

WALTER BESANT: A Study. By JOHN UNDERHILL. Cr. 8vo, linen, Gs. [Shortly.

FIN-BEC.—THE CUPBOARD PAPERS: Observations on the Art of Living and Dining. By Fin-Bec. Post 8vo. cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

FIREWORKS, THE COMPLETE ART OF MAKING; or, The Pyrotechnist's Treasury. By THOMAS KENTISH. With 267 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo. cl., 5s.

FITZGERALD (PERCY, M.A., F.S.A.), WORKS BY.

THE WORLD BEHIND THE SCENES. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

LITTLE ESSAYS: Passages from Letters of CHARLES LAMB. Post 8vo, cl., 2s. 6d.

A DAY'S TOUR: Journey through France and Beigium. With Sketches. Cr. 4to, 1s.

FATAL ZERO. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. 2 post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

BELLA DONNA. | LADY OF BRANTOME. | THE SECOND MRS. TILLOTSON.

POLLY. | NEVER FORGOTTEN. | SEVENTY-FIVE BROOKE STREET. LIFE OF JAMES BOSWELL (of Auchinical), With an Account of his Sayings, Doings, and Writings; and Four Portraits. Two Vols., demy 8vo, cloth, 24s.

THE BAYOY OPERA. Illustrations and Portraits. Cr. 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d. (Shortly.

FLAMMARION (CAMILLE), WORKS BY.

POPULAR ASTRONOMY: A General Description of the Heavens. By Camille

FLAMMARION. Translated by J. Ellard Gore, F.R.A.S. With nearly 300 Illustrations. Medium 8vo, cloth extra, 16s.

(Preparing.

URANIA: A Romance. Translated by A. R. Stetson.

by De Bieler, Myrbach, &c. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.

FLETCHER'S (GILES, B.D.) COMPLETE POEMS: Christ's Victorie in Heaven, Christ's Victorie on Earth, Christ's Triumph over Death, and Minor Poems. With Notes by Rev. A. B. GROSART, D.D. Crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s.

FONBLANQUE (ALBANY). - FILTHY LUCRE. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.

FRANCILLON (R. E.), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

ONE BY ONE.; QUEEN COPHETUA. | A REAL QUEEN.; KING OR KNAVE?

Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.

ROPES OF SAND. Illustrated. A DOG AND HIS SHADOW.

OLYMPIA. POST 8vo, illustrated boards, 3s. Februard boards, 3s. Jack DOYLE'S DAUGHTER. Three Vols.. crown 8vo.

FREDERIC (HAROLD), NOVELS BY. BETH'S BROTHER'S WIFE. Post 8vo, illust, bds., 2s. each. THE LAWTON GIRL

FRENCH LITERATURE, A HISTORY OF. By HENRY VAN LAUN.
Three Vols., demy 8vo, cloth boards, 7s. 6d. each.

ERE.—PANDURANG HARI; or, Memoirs of a Hindoo. With Preface by Sir Bartle Frenz. Crown 8vo, cloth, 3a. 6d. 1 post 8vo, illust. bds.. 2a.

FRISWELL (HAIN). -ONE OF TWO: A Novel. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.

FROST (THOMAS), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. CIRCUB LIFE AND CIRCUB CELEBRITIES. | LIVES OF THE COMJURERS. THE OLD SHOWMEN AND THE OLD LONDON FAIRS.

FRY'S (HERBERT) ROYAL GUIDE TO THE LONDON CHARITIES.
Showing their Name, Date of Foundation, Objects, Income, Officials, &c. Edited
by John Lame. Published Annually. Crown 8vo, cloth, 1s. 6d.

GARDENING BOOKS. Post 8vo. 1s. each; cloth limp, 1s. 6d. each.
A YEAR'S WORK IN GARDEN AND GREENHOUSE. By GRORGE GLENNY.
HOUSEHOLD HORTICULTURE. By Tow and Jame JERROLD. Illustrated.
THE GARDEN THAT PAID THE RENT. By Tow JERROLD. OUR MITCHEN GARDEN. By Tom JERROLD. Crown 8vo, cloth, Is. &d.
MY GARDEN WILD. By Francis G. HEATH. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6a.

GARRETT.—THE CAPEL GIRLS: A Novel. By EDWARD GARRETT.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3a. 8d. 1 post 8vo, illustrated boards, 3a.

GAULOT .- THE RED SHIRTS: A Story of the Revolution. By PAUL GAULOT. Translated by J. A. J. DE VILLIERS, Crown Svo. cloth, 3s. 6d. [Shortly,

GENTLEMAN'S MAGAZINE, THE. 1s. Monthly. In addition to Articles upon subjects in Literature, Science, and Art, "TABLE TALE" by Sylvanus Undam, and "PAGES ON PLAYS" by Justin H. McCanthy, appear monthly. "." Hound Volumes for recent years kept in trock, Sa. 6d. each. Cases for binding, 2a.

GENTLEMAN'S ANNUAL THE Published Annually in November, 15.

GERMAN POPULAR STORIES. Collected by the Brothern Grimm and Translated by Edgar Taylor. With Introduction by John Ruskin, and 22 Steel Plates after Grorge Cruikshark. Square 8vo, cloth, 6s. 6d.; gilt edges, 7s. 6d.

GIBBON (CHARLES), NOVELS BY.

Commo ava. cloth extra. Sa. 6d. each; port avo. filustrated boards. Sa. each.

ROBIN GRAY.; LOVING & DREAM. THE GOLDEN SHAFT.

THE FLOWER OF THE FOREST. OF HIGH DEGREE. Post 6vo, illustrated boards. 2s. each.

THE DEAD HEART.

POR LACK OF GOLD.

WHAT WILL THE WORLD SAY?
FOR THE KING, I HARD MNOT.

QUEEN OF THE MEADOW.

IN PASTURES GREEN.

THE BEARES OF YARROW.

PARCY FREE. | IN HONOUR BOUND.

HEART'S DELIGHT. | RLOOP. THE DEAD HEART.

HEART'S DELIGHT. | BLOOD-MONEY.

GIBNEY (SOMERVILLE). - SENTENCED! Cr. 8vo. 1s.; cl., 1s. 6d.

GILBERT (WILLIAM), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated brands, De. auch.
DR. AUSTIN'S GUESTS. JANES DUKE, COSTERMONGER. THE WIZARD OF THE MOUNTAIN.

GILBERT (W. S.), ORIGINAL PLAYS BY. Two Series, 2s. 6d. each.

The First Series contains: The Wicked World-Pygmalion and Galeton-Charity-The Princess-The Palace of Truth-Trial by Jury.

The Second Series: Broken Hearty-Engage!—Sweethears-Gretchen-Dan'!

Drace-Tom Cobb-H.M.S. "Pinatore"—The Sorceter-Pirates of Penzance.

BIGHT ORIGINAL COMIC OPERAS written by W. S. Grunert. Containing:
The Sorcere—H. M.S. "Pinalore"—Pirases of Penrance—Iolanche—Patience—
Princess Ida—The Mikado—Trial by Jury. Demy 8vo. cloth limp, 2a. 6d.
THE "GILBERT AND SULLIVAR" BIRTHDAY BOOM: Quotations for Every
Day in the Year, Selected from Plays by W. S. Gilbert set to Music by Sir A.
Sullivar. Compiled by Alex, Warson. Royal 16mo, Jap. leather, 2a. 6d.

GLANVILLE (ERNEST), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 9s. each.
THE LOST HEIRESS; A Tale of Love, Battle, and Adventure. With 2 litusts,
THE FOSSICKER; A Romance of Mashonaland, With 2 Husts, by Home Nisary,

A PAIR COLORIST. With a Frontispiere. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 34. 64 GLENNY.—A YEAR'S WORK IN GARDEN AND GREENHOUSE: Practical Advice to Amateur Gardeners as to the Management of the Flower, Fruit, and Frame Garden. By George Glenny. Post 8vo. Sa.; cloth limp, Sa. 6d.

GODWIN.-LIVES OF THE NECROMANCERS. By WILLIAM GODwm. Post 6vo, cloth limp. 24

GOLDEN TREASURY OF THOUGHT, THE: An Encyclopedia of OTOTATIONS. Edited by THEOROGE TAYLOR. Crown 8vo. cloth gilt, 7a. 6d.

GOODMAN. THE FATE OF HERBERT WAYNE. By E. J. GOODMAN Author of "Too Corious." Crown 8vo, cloth, Ja. 64.

GOWING .- FIVE THOUSAND MILES IN A SLEDGE: A Midwinter Journey Across Siberia. By Lionea F. Gowing. With 30 literations by C. J. User, and a Map by E. Weller. Large crown 8vo, cloth estra, Se.

GRAHAM. - THE PROFESSOR'S WIFE: A Story By LEONARD GRAHAM. FCAP, BYO, picture cover, In-

GREERS AND ROMANS, THE LIFE OF THE, described from Antique Monuments. By Benst Gorn and W. Konez, Edited by Dr. F. Hunsten. With 545 Illustrations. Large crown 8vo, cloth extra. 7a. 64.

GREENWOOD (JAMES), WORKS BY.
THE WILDS OF LONDON. LOW BY Cr. 800. cloth entra, 24. 64. cach. LOW-LIFE DEEPS.

GREVILLE (HENRY), NOVELS BY:
HIRANOR, Translated by ELEZA E. CHARE. With & Illustrations. Crows Dvo.
cioch extra. 6s..; post 8vo. illustrated boards, 2s.
A NOBLE WOMAN. Crown Dvo. cloth extra. 5s..; post 8vo. illustrated boards. 2s. With I Hestrations. Crows Svo.

GRIPFITH.—CORINTHIA MARAZION: A Novel. By CECIL GRIP-FITH. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3a. 6d.; post 8vo, filmetrased boards, 2a.

GRUNDY .- THE DAYS OF HIS VANITY: A Passage in the Lute of a Young Man. By Stoner GRUNDY. Crown Sto, cloth extra, 34.64.

HABBERTON (JOHN, Author of "Helen's Babies"), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards 2s. each; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each.
BRUETON'S BAYOU. COUNTRY LUCK.

HAIR, THE: Its Treatment in Heatin, vycaanos, unless that lated from the German of Dr. J. Pincus, Crown 8vo. 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.

HAKE (DR. THOMAS GORDON), POEMS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 6s. each, NEW SYMBOLS. | LEGENDS OF THE MORROW. | THE SERPENT PLAY. MAIDEN ECSTASY. Small 4to, cloth extra. 8s.

HALL.—SKETCHES OF IRISH CHARACTER. By Mrs. S. C. Hall. With numerous Illustrations on Steel and Wood by MacLISE, GILBERT, HARVEY, and GEORGE CRUIKSHANK. Medium 8vo. cloth extra. 7s. 6d.

HALLIDAY (ANDR.).—EVERY-DAY PAPERS. Post 8vo, bds., 2s.

HANDWRITING, THE PHILOSOPHY OF. With over 100 Facsimiles and Explanatory Text. By Don Felix De Salamanca. Post 8vo. cloth limp. 2s. 6d.

HANKY-PANKY: Easy Tricks, White Magic, Sleight of Hand, &c. Edited by W. H. Cremer. With 200 Illustrations. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 4x. 6d.

HARDY (LADY DUFFUS). — PAUL WYNTER'S SACRIFICE. 2s.

HARDY (THOMAS). — UNDER THE GREENWOOD TREE. By THOMAS HARDY, Author of "Toss." With Portrait and 15 Illustrations. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3n. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2n.; cloth limp, 2n. 6d.

HARPER (CHARLES G.), WORKS BY. Demy 8vo, cloth extra, 16s. each.
THE BRIGHTON ROAD. With Photogravure Frontispiece and go Illustrations,
FROM PADDINGTON TO PENZANCE: The Record of a Summer Tramp. 105 Illusts.

HARWOOD,—THE TENTH EARL. By J. BERWICK HARWOOD. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 🗫.

HAWEIS (MRS. H. R.), WORKS BY. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each.
THE ART OF BEAUTY. With Coloured Frontispiece and 9r Illustrations.
THE ART OF DECORATION. With Coloured Frontispiece and 74 Illustrations. THE ART OF DRESS. With 32 Hillustrations. Post 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d. CHAUCER FOR SCHOOLS. Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. CHAUCER FOR CHILDREN. 38 Illustrations.) Sm. 4to, cl. extra. 3s. 6d.

HAWEIS (Rev. H. R., M. A.). —AMERICAN HUMORISTS: WASHINGTON IRVING. OLIVER WENDELL HOLMES, JAMES RUSSELL LOWELL, ARTEMUS WARD, MARK TWAIN, and BRET HARTS. Third Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 6s.

SMART.-WITHOUT LOVE OR LICENCE: A Novel. HAWLEY SMART. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3. 6d. ; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 24.

HAWTHORNE.—OUR OLD HOME. By NATHANIEL HAWTHORNE.
Annotated with Passages from the Author's Note-book, and Illustrated with 31
Photogravures. Two Vols., crown 8vo. buckram, gilt top, 15s.

HAWTHORNE (JULIAN), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each; GARTH. | ELLICE QUENTIN. BEBASTIAN STROME. BEATRIX RANDOLPH. | DI DAVID POINDEXTER. THE SPECTRE OF THE CAMERA. GARTH. DUST. FORTUNE'S FOOL

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.
LOYE-OR A NAME. Mibb Cadogna.

MRS. GAINBBOROUGH'S DIAMONDS. Fcap, 8vo. illustrated cover, Is.

HEATH.—MY GARDEN WILD, AND WHAT I GREW THERE.
By Francis George Heath. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, gilt edges, 6s.
HELPS (SIR ARTHUR), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6sl. each.
ANIMALS AND THEIR MASTERS. | SOCIAL PRESSURE.

IVAN DE BIRON: A Novel. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3a. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2a.

HENDERSON.-AGATHA PAGE: A Novel. By ISAAC HENDERSON. Crown Svo. cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

HENTY (G. A.), NOVELS BY,
RUJUB THE JUGGLER, 8 Illusts. by STANLEY L. WOOD, Cr. 8vo, cloth gilt, 5a.
DOROTHY'S DOUBLE. Three Vols., crown 8vo.

HERMAN.—A LEADING LADY. By HENRY HERMAN, joint-Author of "The Bishops' Bible." Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2e.; cloth extra, 2e. 6d.

HERRICK'S (ROBERT) HESPERIDES, NOBLE NUMBERS, AND COMPLETE COLLECTED PORMS. With Memorial-Introduction and Notes by the Rev. A. B. Grosart, D.D.: Steel Portrait, &c. Three Vols., crown 8vo. cl. bde., 16m.

HERTZKA.—FREELAND: A Social Anticipation. By Dr. Throdon Hertzka. Translated by Arthur Ranson. Crowd 8vo, cloth extra, 6e.

HESSE-WARTEGG.—TUNIS: The Land and the People. By Chevalier ERNST VON HESSE-WARTEGO. With 22 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 64. HILL (HEADON).—ZAMBRA THE DETECTIVE. By HEADON HILL.
Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. c clotb, 2s. 6d.

HILL (JOHN. M.A.), WORKS BY.
TREASON-PELONY. Post 8vo. 2e. THE COMMON ANCESTOR. Three Vols.

HINDLEY (CHARLES), WORKS BY.

TAYERS ANECDOTES AND SAYINGS: Including Reminiscences connected with

Coffee Houses, Clubs. &c. With Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d.

THE LIFE AND ADVENTURES OF A CHEAP JACK. Cr. 8vo. cloth ex., 3s. 6d.

HOEY .- THE LOVER'S CREED. By Mrs. Cashel Hoey. Post 8vo. 2s. HOLLINGSHEAD (JOHN).—NIAGARA SPRAY. Crown 8vo. 18

HOLMES.—THE SCIENCE OF VOICE PRODUCTION AND VOICE PRESERVATION. By GORDON HOLMES, M.D. Crown 8vo, 1a.; cloth, 1a. 6d.

HOLMES (OLIVER WENDELL), WORKS BY.

THE AUTOCRAT OF THE BREAKFAST-TABLE. Illustrated by J. Gordon
Thomson. Post 8vo, cloth limp 2n. 6d.—Another Edition, post 8vo, cloth, 2n.
THE AUTOCRAT OF THE BREAKFAST-TABLE and THE PROFESSOR AT THE BREAKFAST-TABLE. In One Vol. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2s.

HOOD'S (THOMAS) CHOICE WORKS, in Prose and Verse. With Life of the Author, Portrait, and 200 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. HOOD'S WHIMS AND ODDITIES. With 85 Illusts. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2a.

HOOD (TOM).—FROM NOWHERE TO THE NORTH POLE: A Noah's Arkseological Narrative. By Tom Hood. With 25 Illustrations by W. BRUNTON and E. C. Barnes. Square 8vo, cloth extra, gilt edges. Go.

HOOK'S (THEODORE) CHOICE HUMOROUS WORKS; including his Ludicrous Adventures, Bons Mots, Pans, and Hoaxes. With Life of the Author, Portraits, Facsimiles, and Illustrations. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 7a. 6d.

HOOPER.—THE HOUSE OF RABY: A Novel. Hooper. Post 8vo. illustrated boards. 2st. By Mrs. George

HOPKINS .- "TWIXT LOVE AND DUTY:" A Novel. By TIGHE HOPKINS. Post 8vo. illustrated boards. 24.

HORNE. — ORION: An Epic Poem. By RICHARD HENGIST HORNE. With Photographic Portrait by Summers. Tenth Edition. Cr. 8vo. cloth extra. 7a.

HUNGERFORD (MRS.), Author of "Molly Bawn," NOVELS BY.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2n. each: cloth limp, 2n. 6d. each.

A WATDEN ALL FORLORS. IS DURANCE VILE. A MENTAL STRUGGLE.

MARVEL. A WODERS CIRCE.

LADY VERNER'S FLIGHT. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3a. 64. THE RED-HOUSE MYSTERY. Two Vola, crown 8vo.

HUNT. - ESSAYS BY LEIGH HUNT: A TALE FOR A CHIMNEY CORNER. Edited by Energen Ollies. Post 6vo, printed on laid paper and half-bd., 2a.

HUNT (MRS. ALFRED), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3a. 6d. each: post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2c. each.

THE LEADEN CASKET. | SELF-CONDENNED. | THAT OTHER PERSON. THORNICROPT'S MODEL. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2e. MRS. JULIET. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d.

HUTCHISON.—HINTS ON COLT-BREAKING, By W. M. HOTCHISON. With 25 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

HYDROPHOBIA: An Account of M. Pasteur's System; Technique of his Method, and Statistics. By REHAUD SUZOR, M.B. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. Sa.

IDLER (THE): A Monthly Magazine. Edited by JEROME K. JEROME and ROBERT E. BARE. Professely Historiand. Sixpence Monthly. The first Pour Volumes are now ready, cloth extra, Se. each ; Cases for Binding, Se. 64.

INGELOW (JEAN). - FATED TO BE FREE. Post 8vo, illustrated bds., 20. INDOOR PAUPERS. By ONE OF THEM. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.

INNKEEPER'S HANDBOOK (THE) AND LICENSED VICTUALLER'S MANUAL. By J. TREVOR-DAVIES. Crown 8vo, Pa.; cloth, 1s. 6d.

IRISH WIT AND HUMOUR, SONGS OF. A. PERCEVAL GRAVES. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. Collected and Edited by

JAMES. -- A ROMANCE OF THE QUEEN'S HOUNDS. By CHARLES JAMES. Post 8vo, picture cover, \$8.3 cloth limp, \$8.6d.

JAMESON. - MY DEAD SELF. By WILLIAM JAMESON. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth, 2s. 6d.

JANVIER.—PRACTICAL KERAMICS FOR STUDENTS. By CATHERINE A. Janvier. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.

JAPP.—DRAMATIC PICTURES, SONNETS, &c. By A. H. JAPP, LL. D. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5=

JAY (HARRIETT), NOVELS BY. THE DARK COLLEEN. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE QUREN OF CONNAUGHT.

JEFFERIES (RICHARD), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 3a. 6d. each, NATURE NEAR LONDON. | THE LIFE OF THE FIELDS. | THE OPEN AIR.

4. Also the Hand-made Paper Edition, crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6a. each.

THE EULOGY OF RICHARD JEFFERIES. By WALTER BESANT. Second Edition With a Photograph Portrait. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, Ga.

JENNINGS (H. J.), WORKS BY.

CURIOSITIES OF CRITICISM. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 24. 6d.
LORD TENNYSON: A Biographical Sketch. With a Photograph. Cr. 8vo, cl., 64.

JEROME. - STAGELAND. By JEROME K. JEROME. With 64 Illustrations by J. Bernard Partridos. Square 8vo, picture cover. 1s.; cloth limp, 2s. With 64 Illustra-

JERROLD.—THE BARBER'S CHAIR; & THE HEDGEHOG LETTERS. BY DOUGLAS JERROLD. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bound, 24.

JERROLD (TOM), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, 1s. each; cloth limp, 1s. 6d. each. THE GARDEN THAT PAID THE RENT. HOUSEHOLD HORTICULTURE: A Gossip about Flowers. Illustrated. OUR KITCHEN GARDEN: The Plants, and How we Cook Them. Cr. 8vo, cl., 14.6d.

JESSE. - SCENES AND OCCUPATIONS OF A COUNTRY LIFE. By EDWARD JUSSE. Post 8vo. clotn limp. 20.

JONES (WILLIAM, F.S.A.), WORKS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 7s. &d. each.
FINGER-RING LORE: Historical, Legendary, and Anecdotal. With nearly 300
Illustrations. Second Edition, Revised and Enlarged.
GREDULITIES, PAST AND PRESENT. Including the Sea and Seamen, Miners,
Talismans, Word and Letter Divination. Exorcising and Blessing of Animals,
Birds, Eggs, Luck, &c. With an Etched Frontispiece.
GROWNS AND CORONATIONS: A History of Regulia. With 100 Illustrations.

With Notes Critical and Explanatory,

JONSON'S (BEN) WORKS. With Notes Critical and Explanatory, and a Biographical Memoir by William Gifford. Edited by Colonel Cumming-

JOSEPHUS, THE COMPLETE WORKS OF. Translated by W Containing "The Antiquities of the Jews." and "The Wars or the Jews." Illustrations and Maps. Two Vols., demy 8vo, half-bound, 23s. 6d. Translated by Whiston. With 52

KEMPT. - PENCIL AND PALETTE: Chapters on Art and Artists. By ROBERT KRHPZ, Post Svo, cloth limp. 20. 6d.

KERSHAW. - COLONIAL FACTS AND FICTIONS: Humorous Sketches. By MARK KERSHAW. Post 8vo, illustrated boards: 2a.; cloth, 24. 6d.

KEYSER. - CUT BY THE MESS: A Novel. By ARTHUR KRYSER. Crown 8vo, picture cover, In. t cloth limp, In. 6d.

Cr. Svo, cl., 3s. 6d. ea.; post 8vo, bds., 2s. ea.; "THE WEARING OF THE GREEN." KING (R. ASHE), NOVELS BY. A DRAWN GARS.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. PASSIGN'S BLAVE. BELL BARRY. KNIGHT. - THE PATIENT'S VADE MECUM: How to Get Most Benefit from Medical Advice. By WILLIAM KNIGHT, M.R.C.S., and EDWARD KNIGHT, L.R.C.P. Crowe 8vo, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.

KNIGHTS (THE) OF THE LION: A Romance of the Thirteenth Century, Edited, with an Introduction, by the Marquess of Lorne, K.T. Cr Nvo, cl. ez. 6s.

AMB'S (CHARLES) COMPLETE WORKS, in Prose and Verse, including "Poetry for Children" and "Prince Dorus." Edited, with Notes and Introduction, by R. H. Sherhern. With Two Portraits and Facsimile of a page of the "Essay on Roast Pig." Crown 8vo, half-bound, 7s. 6ds.

Introduction, by K. H. Shepherd. With Iwo Portraits and Facsimile of a page of the "Essay on Roast Pig." Crown 8vo, half-bound, 7n. 6d.

THE ESSAYS OF ELIA. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bound, 2n.

LITTLE ESSAYS: Sketches and Characters by Charles Lake, selected from his

Letters by Percy Fitzgerald. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2n. 6d.

THE DRAMATIC ESSAYS OF CHARLES LAKE. With Introduction and Notes
by Brander Matthews, and Steel-plate Portrait. Fcap. 8vo, hf.-bd., 2n. 6d.

LANDOR.—CITATION AND EXAMINATION OF WILLIAM SHAKS-PEARE, &c., before Sir Thowas Lucy, touching Deer-stealing, 19th September, 1982.
To which is added, A CONFERENCE OF MASTER EDMUND SPENSER with the Earl of Essex, touching the State of Ireland, 1595. By WALTER SAVAGE LANDOR, Fcap. 8vo. half-Roxburghe, 2a. 6d.

LANE.—THE THOUSAND AND ONE NIGHTS, commonly called in England THE ARABIAN MIGHTS' ENTERTAINMENTS. Translated from the Arabic, with Notes, by Edward William Lang. Illustrated by many hundred Engravings from Designs by Harvey. Edited by Edward Stanley Poots. With a Preface by Stanley Lang-Pools. Three Vols., demy 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each.

LARWOOD (JACOB), WORKS BY.

THE STORY OF THE LONDON PARKS. With Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3s. 64.

ANECDOTES OF THE GLERGY. Post 8vo, laid paper, half-bound, 2s. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each.

PORENSIC ANECDOTES. THEATRICAL AMECDOTES.

LEHMANN.-HARRY FLUDYER AT CAMBRIDGE. By R. C. Leh-MANN. Post 8vo, Is.; cloth, Is. 6d.

LEIGH (HENRY S.), WORKS BY.
CAROLS OF COCKAYNE. Printed on hand-made paper, bound in buckram. Sa.
JEUX D'ESPRIT. Edited by HENRY S. LEIGH. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2a. 6d.

LEYS (JOHN).—THE LINDSAYS: A Romance. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. LINTON (E. LYNN), WORKS BY. Post 8vo. cloth limp, 24. 6d. each.

WITCH STORIES. OURSELVES: ESSAYS ON WOMEN. Crows 8vo. cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; pou 8vo. illustrated boards, 2s. each.

PATRICIA REMBALL; IONE.

ATONEMENT OF LEAM DUNDAS.

THE WORLD WELL LOST.

POUR 8vo. illustrated boards. 2s. each.

THE REBEL OF THE PANILY. WITH A SILKEN THREAD.

THE ORE TOO MANY. Three Vols., crown Svo.

PREESHOOTING: Extracts from Works of Mrs. L. Linton. Post 8vo, cl., 2a, 6d.

LONGFELLOW'S POETICAL WORKS. With numerous Illustrations on Steel and Wood. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 64.

LUCY .- GIDEON FLEYCE: A Novel. By HENRY W. Lucy. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.: post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

MACALPINE (AVERY), NOVELS BY.
TERESA ITASCA. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 1a.
BROKER WINGS. With 6 Illusts. by W. J. HENNESSY. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 6a.

MACCOLL (HUGH), NOVELS BY.

MR. STRANGER'S SEALED PACKET. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 24.

EDHOR WHITLOCK. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 64.

MACDONELL--QUAKER COUSINS: A Novel By Agyes Macdobell. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

MACGREGOR. — PASTIMES AND PLAYERS: Notes on Popular Games. By Robert MacGREGOR. Pow Syn cloth 1 mb. 2s. 6d.

MACKAY .- INTERLUDES AND UNDERTONES; or, Music at Twilight. By CHARLES MACKAY, LL.D. Crown Svo, cloth extra, Gu-

McCARTHY (JUSTIN, M.P.), WORKS BY.

A HISTORY OF OUR OWN TIMES, from the Accession of Queen Victoria to the General Election of 1880. Four Vols. demy 8vo, cloth extra, 12s. each.—Also a Popular Edition, in Four Vols., crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6. each.—And a Justice Edition, with an Appendix of Events to the end of 1886, in Two Vols.,

JUBILEE EDITION, WITH AN APPENDIA OF ACTUAL AND ASSOCIATION, WITH AN APPENDIA OF OUR OWN TIMES. One Vol., crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6v.—Also a CHEAP POPULAR EDITION, post 8vo, cloth limp, 2v. 6d.

A HISTORY OF THE FOUR GEORGES. Four Vols. demy 8vo, cloth extra, (Vols. I. & II. ready.

Cr. 8vc, cl. exira, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illust bds. 2s. each; cl. limp, 2s. 6d. each.
THE WATERDALE NEIGHBOURS. MISS MISANTHROPE.
MY ENEMY'S DAUGHTER. DONNA QUIXOTE.

A FAIR SAXON. LINLEY ROCHFORD. DEAR LADY DISDAIN.

DONNA QUIXOTE.
THE COMET OF A SEASON.
MAID OF ATHENS. CAMIOLA: A Girl with a Fortune.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. THE DICTATOR. RED DIAMONDS.

"THE RIGHT HONOURABLE." By JUSTIN McCARTHY, M.P., and Mrs. CAMPBELL-PRABO. Fourth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, Gs.

McCARTHY (JUSTIN H.), WORKS BY.

THE FRENCH REVOLUTION. Four Vols., 8vo. 12s., each. [Vols. I. & II. ready.
AN OUTLINE OF THE HISTORY OF IRELAND. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s., 6d.
IRELAND SINCE THE UNION: Irish History, 1798-1886. Crown 8vo, cloth, 6s. HAFIZ IN LONDON: Poems. Small 8vo.gold cloth, 3s. 5st.
HARLEQUINADE: Poems. Small 4to, Japanese veilum, 8s. OUR BENSATION NOYEL. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
DOM1 An Atlantic Episode. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
DOLLY: A Sketch. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
LILY LASS: A Romance. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
THE THOUSAND AND ONE DAYS: Persian Tales. With 2 Photogravures by
STANERY L. WOOD, Two Vols., crown 8vo, half-bound, 13s.

MACDONALD (GEORGE, LL.D.). WORKS BY.
WORKS OF FANCY AND IMAGINATION. Ten Vols., cl. extra, gilt edges, in cloth case. 31s. Or the Vols. may be had separately, in grolier cl., at 3s. 6d. each.
Vol. I. WITRIN AND WITHOUT.—THE HIDDEN LIFE.
II. THE DISCIPLE.—THE GOSPEL WOMEN.—BOOK OF SONNETS.—ORGAN SONGS.
III. VIOLIN SONGS.—SONGS OF THE DAYS AND NIGHTS.—A BOOK OF DREAMS.—
ROADSIDE POEMS.—POEMS FOR CHILDREN.
THE PRESSER BLITARS.—SCOTEN SONGS.

IV. PARABLES. - BALLADS. -- SCOTCH SONGS.

IV. PARABLES.—DALLADS.—SCOTCH SONGE.

IV. & VI. PHANTASTES: A FRONT COMMINGE.

IV. III. THE LIGHT PRINCESS.—THE GIANT'S HEART.—SHADOWS.

IX. CROSS PURPOSES.—THE GOLDEN REV.—THE CARASOYN.—LITTLE DAYLIGHT

X. THE CRUEL PAINTER.—THE WOW O' RIVEM.—THE CASTLE,—THE BROKEN

SWOODS.—THE GRAY WOLF.—UNCLE CORNELIUS.

POETICAL WORKS OF GEORGE MACDONALD. Collected and arranged by the Author. 2 vois., crown 8vo, buckram, 12s.

THREEFOLD CORD. Edited by George MacDonald. Post 8vo, cloth, 5s.

HEATHER AND SHOW: A Novel. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d.

MACLISE PORTRAIT GALLERY (THE) OF ILLUSTRIOUS LITERARY CHARACTERS: 89 PORTRAITS; with Memoirs — Biographical, Critical, Bibliographical, and Anecdotal—illustrative of the Literature of the former half of the Present Century, by William Bates, B.A. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7. 6d.

MACQUOID (MRS.), WORKS BY. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each.
IN THE ARDENNES. With 50 illustrations by Thomas R. Macquoid.
PICTURES AND LEGENDS FROM NORMANDY AND BRITTANY. 34 litustrations,
THROUGH NORMANDY. With 32 illustrations by T. R. Macquoid, and a Map.
THROUGH BRITTANY. With 35 litustrations by T. R. Macquoid, and a Map.
ABOUT YORKSHIRE. With 57 litustrations by T. R. Macquoid, Square 8vo, cloth extra, 64.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

THE EVIL BYS. and other Stories. | LOST ROSE.

MAGIC LANTERN, THE, and its Management: including full Practical Directions. By T. C. HEPWORTH. 10 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo. 1s.; cloth. 1s. 6d.

MAGICIAN'S OWN BOOK, THE: Performances with Eggs, Hats, &c. Edited by W. H. CREMER, 200 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 4c. 6d.

MAGNA CHARTA: An Exact Facsimile of the Original in the British Museum, a feet by 2 feet, with Arms and Seals emblazoned in Gold and Colours, 500

MALLOCK (W. H.), WORKS BY.

THE NEW REPUBLIC. Post 8vo, picture cover, 2\*.; cloth limp, 2\*. 6d.
THE NEW PAUL & VIRGINIA: Postsivism on an Island. Post 8vo, cloth, 2\*. 6d. POEMS. Small ato, parchment, Se. 18 LIFE WORTH LIVING? Crown 8vo, cloth extra, Se. A ROMANCE OF THE HINETEENTH CENTURY. Crown 8vo, cloth, Se.; post 8vo,

illustrated boards. 2n.

MALLORY'S (SIR THOMAS) MORT D'ARTHUR: The Stories of King Arthur and of the Knights of the Round Table. (A Selection.) Edited by B. MONTGOMERIE RANKING. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s.

MARK TWAIN, WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 7s. 6d. each.

THE CHOICE WORKS OF MARK TWAIN. Revised and Corrected throughout
by the Author. With Life, Portrait, and numerous illustrations.

ROUGHING IT, and INNOCENTS AT HOME. With 200 illustrations.

MARK TWAIN'S LIBRARY OF HUMOUR. With 197 illustrations.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra (illustrated), 7s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s. each. THE INNOCENTS ABROAD; or New Pilerim's Progress. With 21s Hustratious, (The Two-Shilling Edition is entitled MARK TWAIN'S PLEASURE TRIP.)
THE GILDED AGE. By MARK TWAIN and C. D. WARNER. With 21s Hustratious. THE ADVENTURES OF TOM SAWYER. With 31s Hiustrations. A TRAMP ABROAD, With 31s Hillustrations.
THE PRINCE AND THE PAUPER, With 30s Hiustrations.
LIFE ON THE MISSISSIPPI. With 30s Hiustrations.
ADVENTURES OF HUCKLEBERRY FIRM. With 17s Hiusts. by E. W. Kewsle. A YARKEE AT THE GOURT OF KING ARTHUR With 220 Hiusts. by BRASD.

Post 8vo, filustrated boards, 2m. each. TE ELEPHANT. | MARK TWAIN'S SKETCHES. THE STOLES WHITE ELEPHANT.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.

LAIMANT. With 8r Illustrations by HAL HURST, &c. THE AMERICAN CLAIMANT. With 81 Illustrations THE £1,000,000 BANK-NOTE, and other New Stories. TOM BAWYER ABROAD. Illustrated by DAN BEARD. PUDD'NHEAD WILSON. Illustrated by Louis Loes.

MARKS (H. S., R.A.), THE RECOLLECTIONS OF. With numerous Photogravure and other Illustrations. Two Vols., demy 8vo. cloth. 32s. [Shortly.

MARLOWE'S WORKS. Including his Translations. Edited, with Notes and Introductions, by Col. Cunningnam. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 6m.

MARRYAT (FLORENCE), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo. illust. boards, 2s.each.

A HARVEST OF WILD OATS. FIGHTING THE AIR.

OPEN: BESAME! WRITTEN IN FIRE.

MASSINGER'S PLAYS. From the Text of William Gifford. Edited by Col. Cunningham. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 6s.

MASTERMAN,-HALF-A-DOZEN DAUGHTERS: A Novel MASTERNAM. Post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2s.

MATTHEWS.—A SECRET OF THE SEA, &c. By Brander Matthews. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

MAYHEW.—LONDON CHARACTERS AND THE HUMOROUS SIDE OF LONDON LIFE. By HERRY MAYNEW. With Illusts. Crown byo. cloth. 3a. 6d.

MEADE (L. T.).—A SOLDIER OF FORTUNE. Three Vols.

MENKEN.-INFELICIA: Poems by ADAH ISAACS MENKEN. With Illustrations by F. E. LUMMIS and F. O. C. DARLEY, Small 4to, cloth extra, 7s. Cd.

MERRICK.—THE MAN WHO WAS GOOD. By Leonard Merrick, Author of "Violet Moses," &c. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

MEXICAN MUSTANG (ON A), through Texas to the Rio Grande. By A. E. Sweet and J. Armov Knox. With 265 Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra. 7c. 6d.

MIDDLEMASS (JEAN), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo. illust, boards, 2st. each. TOUCH AND 80.

MILLER.—PHYSIOLOGY FOR THE YOUNG; or, The House of Life.
By Mrs. F. Ferwick Miller. With Binstrations. Fost 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 64.

```
17
MILTON (J. L.), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, 1s. each; cloth, 1s. 6d. each.
THE HYGIENE OF THE SKIN. With Directions for Diet, Soaps, Baths, &c.
THE BATH IN DISEASES OF THE SKIN.
THE LAWE OF LIFE, AND THEIR RELATION TO DISEASES OF THE SKIN.
      THE SUCCESSFUL TREATMENT OF LEPROSY. Demy 8vo, 1 ..
MINTO (WM.)-WAS SHE GOOD OR BAD? Cr. 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.
MITFORD (BERTRAM), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6rd. each.
THE GUN.RUNNER: A Romance of Zululand. With Frontispiece by 6. L. Wood.
THE LUCK OF GENARD BIDGELEY. With a Frontispiece by STANLEY L. WOOD.
      THE KING'S ASSEGAL. With Six full-page Illustrations.
MOLESWORTH (MRS.), NOVELS BY.
HATHERCOURT RECTORY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
THAT GIRL IN BLACK. Crown 8vo, cloth, 1s. 6d.
MOORE (THOMAS), WORKS BY.
      THE EPICUREAN; and ALCIPHRON. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2s.
PROSE AND YERSE. With Suppressed Passages from the Memoirs of Lord
Byron. Edited by R. H. Shepherd. With Portrait. Cr 8vo, cl. ex., 7s. 6d.
MUDDOCK (J. E.), STORIES BY.

STORIES WEIRD AND WONDERFUL. Post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s.; cloth, 2s. 6d.

THE DEAD MAN'S SECRET; or, The Valley of Gold. With Frontispiece by
F. BARNARD. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 5s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

FROM THE BOSOM OF THE DEEP. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

MAID MARIAM AND ROBIN HOOD: A Romance of Old Sherwood Forest. With
             12 Hlustrations by STANLEY L. WOOD. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.
MURRAY (D. CHRISTIE), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3a. 6d. each: post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2a. each.

A LIPE'S ATONEMENT.
JOSEPH'S COAT.
COALS OF FIRE.
OLD BLAZER'S HERO.
VAL STRANGE. | HEARTS.
CYNIC FORTUNE.

MURRAY (D. CHRISTIE), NOVELS BY.
WAY OF THE WORLD) BY THE GATE OF THE SEA.
A BIT OF HUMAN WATURE.
OLD BLAZER'S HERO.
FIRST PERSON SINGULAR.
BOB MARTIN'S LITTLE
                                      Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.
                                                                                                                             CIRL
                                                                           A WASTED CRIMB.
                   TIME'S REVENCES.
                                                                                                                           (Shortly.
                                                             - }
       IN DIRECT PERIL. Three Vols., crown 8vo.
       THE MAKING OF A ROYSLIST: An Experiment in Autobiography. With a Colletype Portrait and Vignette. Crown 8vo, Irish linen, 6s.
 MURRAY (D. CHRISTIE) & HENRY HERMAN, WORKS BY.
       Crown 8vo, cloth extra 34, 6d, each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 30, each.
ONE TRAYELLER RETURNS. | PAUL JONES'S ALIAS. | THE BISHOPS' BIBLE.
 MURRAY (HENRY), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust, bds., 2s., ea.; cl., 2s. 6d. ea.
A GAME OF BLUFF. | A SONG OF BIXPENCE.
 NEWBOLT .- TAKEN FROM THE ENEMY. By HENRY NEWBOLT.
       Fcap. 8vo, cloth boards, 1s. 6d.
 NISBET (HUME), BOOKS BY.
       "BAIL UP!" Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s.6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 3s. DR. BERNARD ST. VINCENT. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 3s.
       LESSONS IN ART. With 21 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3m. 6d. WHERE ART BEGIES. With 27 Illusts. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
 NORRIS .- ST. ANN'S: A Novel. By W. E. Norris. Two Vols.
 O'HANLON (ALICE), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.
THE UNPORESEEN. | CHANCE? OR FATE?
 OHNET (GEORGES), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. DOCTOR RANEAU. | A LAST LOVE.
        A WEIRD GIFT. Crown 8vo. cloth, 3. 6d., post 8vo, picture boards. 2a.
 OLIPHANT (MRS.), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each, THE PRIMROSE PATH. WHITELADIES. THE GREATEST HEIRESS IN ENGLAND.
 O'REILLY (HARRINGTON).—LIFE AMONG THE AMERICAN IN-
DIANS: Fility Years on the Trail. 100 Illusts, by P. FRENZENY. Crown 8vo. 3a. 6-4.
```

O'REILLY (MRS.). - PHŒBE'S FORTUNES. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.

OUIDA, NOVELS BY, HELD IN BOXDAGE. TRICOTRIN. STRATHMORE. CHANDOS CECIL CASTLEMAIRE'S GAGE. UNDER TWO FLAGS. PUCK. IDALIA.

PABCAREL | SIGNA. TWO LITTLE WOODEN BHOES IN A WINTER CITY. ARIADNE PRIENDSHIP.

Cr. 8vo, cl., 3a. 6d. each; post 8vo, fligat, bds., 2a. each.
POLLE-FARIRE.
A DOG OF FLANDERS.
A VILLAGE COMMUSE. MOTHS. | PIPISTRELLO. A VILLAGE COMMUNE. IN MARRIMA. BIMBI. SYRLIE. WANDA PRESCOES | OTHWAR. PRINCESS MAPRAXINE. GUILDEROY. | RUFFING.

Square 8vo, cloth extra, 5m. each. BIMBI. With Nine Illustrations by Edmund H. Garrett.

A DOG OF FLANDERS, &c. With Six Illustrations by Edmund H. Garrett. SANTA BARBARA, &c. Square 8vo, cloth, Ge.; crown 8vo. cloth, 3s. 6d. 1 post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. TWO OFFENDERS. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 6.

WISDOM, WIT, AND PATHOS, selected from the Works of Outda by F. Sydney Morris. Post 8vo, cloth extra. Se. Cheap Edition, illustrated boards, 20.

PAGE (H. A.), WORKS BY.
THOREAU: His Life and Aims. With Portrait. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. WORKS BY ANIMAL ARECDOTES. Arranged on a New Principle. Crown 8vo, cloth extrs. 5a. PARLIAMENTARY ELECTIONS AND ELECTIONEERING, A HISTORY OP, from the Strarts to Queen Victoria. By JOSEPH GREGO. A New Edition, with 93 litestrations. Demy 8vo, cloth extra, 70. Ed.

PASCAL'S PROVINCIAL LETTERS. A New Translation, with Historical Introduction and Notes by T. M'Care, D.D. Post 8vo, cloth limp. 2a.

PAUL—GENTLE AND SIMPLE, By MARGARETA, PAUL, With Frontispiece by HELER PATERSON Crown Svo. cloth, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 3s.

PAINTED. BY PROXY. | POR CASH OULT. HIGH SPIRITS UNDER ONE ROOP. A CONFIDENTIAL ACENT.

PAYN (JAMES), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, flustrated boards, 2s. each.

LOST 8IR WASSINGBERD.

WALTER'S WORD.

LESS BLACK THAN WE'RE THE CANON'S WARD. THE CANON'S WARD. THE TALK OF THE TOWN. HOLIDAY TASKS. GLOW-WORN TALES. THE MYSTERY OF WIRBRIDGE, THE WORD AND THE WILL.

HUMOROUS STORIES. THE POSTER BROTHERS. THE PAMILY SCAPEGRACE. MARRIED BENEATH HIM, BENTINCK'S TUTOR. A PERFECT TREASURE. A PERFECT TREASURE.

A COUNTY FAMILY.
LIBE FATHER, LIKE SON.

A WOMAN'S YBNGEARCE. Carlyon's Year. Cecll's Tryst. MURPHY'S MASTER, AT HER MERCY. THE CLYPPARDS OF CLYPPA.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 3s. each. FOUED DEAD. GWENDOLINE'S HARVEST. GWENDOLINE'S HARVEST.

A MARISE RESIDENCE.

WIRE ABBEY-180ME PRIVATE VIEWS.

NOT WOGED, BUT WOM.

TWO HUNDRED POUNDS REWARD.

THE BEST OF HUSBANDS.

HALVES. | THE BURY MILLION.

PALLEE FORTUNES.

WHAT HE COST HER. WHAT HE COST HER. MIT: A MEMORY. A PRINCE OF THE BLOOD. SUNNY STORIES.

Crown byo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. A TRYING PATIENT, &c. With a Prontispiece by STABLET L. WOOD.
IN PERIL AND PRIVATION: Stories of MARINE ADVENTURE. With 17 Illustra-HOTES FROM THE "BEWS." Crown 840, portrait cover fa.; cloth, fa. 64.

PENNELL (H. CHOLMONDELEY), WORKS BY, Post 810, cl., 24. 64. each PUCK ON PEGABUS. With Illustrations. PEGASUS RE-SADDLED. With Ten tul-PEGASUS RE-SADDLED. With Ten tull-page Illustrations by G. Du Mauriera, THE MUSES OF MAYPAIR. Very de Société, Selected by H. C. PERSELL.

PHELPS (E. STI'ART), WORKS BY. Post Svo In. each; Gloth In. 64. each, BEYOND THE GATER, OLD MAID'S PARADISE. | BURGLASS IN PARADISE. JACK THE FIRHERWAN. Illustrated by C. W. REED. Cr. 8vo. In. : cloth, In. 6d.

PIRKIS (C. L.), NOVELS BY.
TROOPING WITH CROWS. Pcap 8vo, picture cover, 1s.
LADY LOYELSCE. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

PLANCHE (J. R.), WORKS BY.

THE PURBUIYANT OF ARMS. With Six Plates, and 200 Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. 7s. &d.

80RGS AND POEMS, 1819-1879. Introduction by Mrs. MACKARNESS. Cr. 8vo, cl., 6s. PLUTARCH'S LIVES OF ILLUSTRIOUS MEN. With Notes and Life of Plutarch by J. and WM. LANGHORNE. Portraits. Two Vols., demy 8vo, 10s. 6d. POE'S (EDGAR ALLAN) CHOICE WORKS, in Prose and Poetry. Introduction by Chas. Baudelaire, Portrait, and Facsimiles. Cr. 8vo, cloth, 7s. 6d. THE MYSTERY OF MARIE ROGET, &c. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. POPE'S POETICAL WORKS. PRAED (MRS. CAMPBELL), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2e. ea.
THE ROMANGE OF A STATION. | THE SOUL OF COUNTESS ADRIAN. OUTLAW AND LAWMAKER, Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d. CHRISTINA CHARD. Three Vols., crown 8vo. (Shortly. PRICE (E. C.), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3-. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2n. each, ALENTINA. | THE FOREIGNERS. | MRS. LANCASTER'S RI VALENTINA. MRS. LANCASTER'S RIVAL GERALD. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. PRINCESS OLGA.—RADNA. By Princess OLGA. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 6a. PROCTOR (RICHARD A., B.A.), WORKS BY.

FLOWERS OF THE SKY. With 55 illusts. Small crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
EASY STAR LESSONS. With Star Maps for Every Night in the Year. Cr. 8vo, 6s.
FAMILIAR SCIENCE STUDIES. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
BATURN AND ITS SYSTEM. With 13 Steel Plates. Demy 8vo, cloth ext., 10s. 6d.
MYSTERIES OF TIME AND SPACE. With Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
THE UNIVERSE OF SUNS. With numerous illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth ext., 6s.
WAGES AND WANTS OF BOIENCE WORKERS. Crown 8vo, 1s. 6d. PRYCE.—MISS MAXWELL'S AFFECTIONS. By RICHARD PRYCE. Frontispiece by Hal Ludlow. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3a. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. boards., 2a. RAMBOSSON.-POPULAR ASTRONOMY. By J. RAMBOSSON, Laureate of the Institute of France. With numerous Illusts. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 7s. 6d. RANDOLPH .-- AUNT ABIGAIL DYKES: A Novel. By Lt.-Colonel GRORGE RANDOLPH. U.S.A. Crown Bvo, cloth extra, 7n. 6d. GRORGE RANDOLPH. U.S.A. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

READE (CHARLES), NOVELS BY.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, illustrated, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illust. bds., 3s. each.
PEG WOFFINGTON. Illustrated by S. L. Fildes, R.A.—Also a Pocket Edition,
set in New Type, in Elzevir style, fcap, 8vo, half-leather, 2s. 6d.—And a Cheap
Popular Edition of Peg Woffington and Christie Johnstone, the two
Stories in One Volume, medium 8vo. 6d.; cloth, is.
CHRISTIE JOHNSTONE. Illustrated by William Small.—Also a Pocket Edition,
set in New Type, in Elzevir style, fcap, 8vo, half-leather, 2s. 6d.
IT IS NEWER TOO LATE TO MEND. Illustrated by G. J. Pinwell.—Also a Cheap
Popular Edition, medium 8vo, portrait cover, 6d.; cloth, is.
COURSE OF TRUE LOVE MEVER DID RUN SMOOTH. Illust. Helew Paterson.
THE AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF A THIEF, &c. Illustrated by MATT STRETCH.
LOVE ME LITTLE, LOVE ME LONG. Illustrated by M. Ellen Edwards.
THE CLOISTER AND THE HEARTH. Illustrated by Charles Keene.—Also a
Cheap Popular Edition, medium 8vo. 6d.; cloth, is. CHEAP POPULAR EDITION, medium 8vo, 6d.; cloth, is. HARD CASH. Illustrated by F. W. Lawson. GRIFFITH GAUNT. Histrated by S. L. FILDES, R.A., and WILLIAM SMALL.
FOUL PLAY. Histrated by GEORGE DU MAURIER.
PUT YOURSELF IN HIS PLACE. Histrated by ROBERT BARNES.
A TERRIBLE TEMPTATION. Histrated by EDWARD HUGHES and A. W. COOPER. A TERRIBLE TEMPTATION. INUSTRIED BY EDWARD FLUGIES AND G. VI. ACCOUNT A SIMPLETON. HIUSITATED BY KATE CRAUFURD.

THE WANDERING HEIR. HIUSIT. BY H. PATERSON, S. L. FILDES, C. GREEN, &c. A WOMAN-HATER. HIUSITATED BY THOMAS COULDERY.

SINGLEHEART AND DOUBLEFACE. HIUSITATED BY MACNAS.

GOOD STORIES OF MEN AND OTHER ANIMALS. HUST, by E. A. ABBEY, &c. THE JILT, and other Nories. HIUSITATED BY JOSEPH NASH. THE JILT, and other Stories. Illustrated by Joseph Nash.
A PERILOUS SECRET. Illustrated by Fred. Barnard.
READIANA. With a Steel-plate Portrait of Charles READE. BIBLE CHARACTERS: Studies of David, Paul, &c. Fcap. 8vo, leatherette, Ta.
THE CLOISTER AND THE HEARTH. With an Introduction by WALTER BESANT. Elzevir Edition. 4 vols., post 8vo, each with Front., cl. ex., gilt top, 14s. the set.

SELECTIONS FROM THE WORKS OF CHARLES READS. Cr. 8vo, buckram 6s.

THE HIGH MILLS.

RIDDELL (MRS. J. H.), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3w. 6d. each: post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2w. each.

THE PRINCE OF WALES'S GARDEN PARTY. | WEIRD STORIES. Post 8vo, illustrated boards. Se. each.
ED HOUSE.

ACE GARDENS.

THE NUM'S CURSE.

IDLE TALES. THE UNINHABITED HOUSE MYSTERY IN PALACE GARDENS. PAIRY WATER. RIMMER (ALFRED), WORKS BY. Square 8vo, cloth gilt, 7a. 6cd. each.
OUR OLD COUNTRY TOWNS. With 55 Illustrations.
RAMBLES ROUND ETON AND HARROW. With 50 Illustrations.
ABOUT ENGLAND WITH DICKENS. With 58 Illusts by C. A. VANDERHOOF, &c. RIVES.—BARBARA DERING. By AMÉLIE RIVES, Author of "The Quick or the Dead?" Crown 800, cloth extra, 3a. 6d.; post 800, illust. bds., 2a. ROBINSON CRUSOE. By DANIEL DEFOE. (MAJOR'S EDITION.)
37 litustrations by George Cruieshane. Post 8vo, half-bound. 2s. ROBINSON (F. W.), NOVELS BY.
WOMEN ARE STRANGE. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
THE HANDS OF JUSTICE. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 3s. 8d.; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. ROBINSON (PHIL), WORKS BY. Crown 5vo, cloth extra, 6s. sach.
THE POETS' BERSTS.
THE POETS AND NATURE: REPTILES, FISHES, AND INSECTS. ROCHEFOUCAULD'S MAXIMS AND MORAL REFLECTIONS. With Notes, and an Introductory Essay by SAINTE-BEUVE. Post 8vo. cloth limp, 24.

ROLL OF BATTLE ABBEY, THE: A List of the Principal Warriors ROLL OF BATTLE ABBEY, THE: A List of the Principal Warriors who came from Normandy with William the Congneror. Handsomely printed. 5s. ROWLEY (HON. HUGH), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth, 2a. 6d. each.
PUNIANA: RIDDLES AND JOKES. With numerous lilustrations.
MORE PUNIANA. Profusely illustrated. RUNCIMAN (JAMES), STORIES BY. FOST 840. bds., '20. e2.; ct., '20. 64. ca.

Shippers and shellbacks.

SCHOOLS AND SCHOLARS.

GRACE BALMAIGN'S SWEETHEAST. RUSSELL (W. CLARK), BOOKS AND NOVELS BY: Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each; post 8vo, illust boards, 2s. each; cloth lime, 2s. 64. ea.
ROUND THE GALLEY-FIRE.

IN THE MIDDLE WATCH.

A BOOK FOR THE HAMMOCK.

MYSTERY OF THE "OCEAN STAR." ROUND THE GALLEY-FIRE, IN THE MIDDLE WATCH. A YOYAGE TO THE CAPE. THE ROMANCE OF JENNY HARLOWS. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3a, 64. ca.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s, ea.; cloth lump, 2s, 64. ca. AN OCEAN TRAGEDY. NY SHIPMATE LOUISE. ALONE ON A WIDE WIDE SEA. OF THE PO'R'SLE HEAD. Post 8vo. illust. Loards, 2a.; cloth limp. 2a. 6d. SAINT AUBYN (ALAN), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3v. 6d. each; post 8vo, illnet, boards, 2a. each.

A FELLOW OF TRINITY. Note by Ourser Wendell Holwes and Prontistices.

THE JUNIOR DEAN.

THE MASTER OF ST. BEREDICT'S. THE JUNIOR DEAM. DEAN.
Frap. 8vo. cloth boards, 1 .. 6d. each.
EURETHEART. HODEST LITTLE SARA. THE OLD WAID'S SWEETHEART. TO HIS OWN MASTER. Crown 8vo. cloth estra, 3c. 64. IN THE PACE OF THE WORLD. Two Vols. [Skortly. SALA (G. A.). – GASLIGHT AND DAYLIGHT. Post 8vo, boards. 2s. SANSON.—SEVEN GENERATIONS OF EXECUTIONERS: Memours of the Sanson Family (1688 to 1847). Crown Bvo, cloth extra. 34. 64. SAUNDERS (JOHN), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3a. 8d. each: post 8vo. illustrated boards, 2a. each.

GUY WATERNAE. | THE LIGH IN THE PATH. | THE TWO DREAMERS. BOUND TO THE WHEEL. Crown 6vo. cloth extra, 30. 6d. SAUNDERS (KATHARINE), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3-. 6d. each; prat 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each,
WARGARET AND ELIZABETH. | HEART SALVAGE.

BEBASTIAN.

JOAN MERRYWEATHER. Post 5vo, illustrated boards, 24. GIDEON'S ROCK. Crown 5vo, cloth extra. 3a. 6d.

SCOTLAND YARD, Past and Present: Experiences of 37 Years. Ex-Chief Inspector Cavanagh. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 20.; cloth, 2c. 6d.

SECRET OUT, THE: One Thousand Tricks with Cards; with Entertaining Experiments in Drawing-room or "White Magic." By W. H. CREMER. With 300 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 4s. 6d.

SEGUIN (L. G.), WORKS BY.

THE COUNTRY OF THE PASSION PLAY (OBERAMMERGAU) and the Highlands of Bavaria. With Map and 27 illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

WALKS IN ALGIERS. With 2 Maps and 16 Illusts. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. WORKS BY.

SENIOR (WM.).—BY STREAM AND SEA. Post 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d.

SHAKESPEARE FOR CHILDREN: LAMB'S TALES FROM SHAKE-SPEARE. With Illusts., coloured and plain, by J. MOVE SMITH. Cr. 4to, 3-. 6d.

SHARP.-CHILDREN OF TO-MORROW: A Novel. SHARP. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 60.

SHELLEY.—THE COMPLETE WORKS IN VERSE AND PROSE OF HELLEY.—THE COMPLETE WORKS IN VERSE AND PROSE OF PERCY BYBSHE SHELLEY. Edited, Prefaced, and Amounted by R. Herne Shepperd. Five Vols., crown Svo, cloth boards, 3s. 6d. each.

PORTICAL WORKS, in Three Vols.:

vol. I. Introduction by the Editor; Posthumous Fragments of Margaret Nicholson; Shelley's Correspondence with Stockdale; The Wanderung Jew; Quoem Mab., with the Notes; Alaxior, and other Poctus; Rosalind and Melen: Prometheus Unbound; Adona; Actus; Epipsychidon: Helhas and Maddalo; Swellfoot the Tyram; The Witch of Atlas; Epipsychidon: Helhas

Vol. 11. Posthumous Foemu; The Masque of Anarchy; and other Pieces.

PROSE WORKS, in Two Vols.:

vol. 1. The Two Romances of Zattrozzi and St. Irvyne; the Dublin and Marlow Pamphlets; A Refutstion of Delam; Letters to Leigh Hum, and some Minor Writings and Fragments.

Vol. 11. The Essays; Letters form Abread; Translations and Fragments, Edited by Mrs. SHELLEY.

With a Bibbiography of Shelley, and an Index of the Prose Works.

SHERARD (R. H.).-ROGUES: A Novel. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth, fo, 6d.

SHERIDAN (GENERAL). — PERSONAL MEMOIRS OF GENERAL P. H. SHERIDAN. With Portraits and Facsimiles. Two Vols., demy 8vo, cloth, 24s.

SHERIDAN'S (RICHARD BRINSLEY) COMPLETE WORKS. Life and Anecdotes. Including his Dramatic Writings, his Works in Proce and Poetry. Translations. Speeches and Jokes. to Illusts. Cr. 8vo, hf.-bound, 7s. 6d. THE RIVALS, THE SCHOOL FOR SCANDAL, and other Plays. Post 8vo, printed

on laid paper and half-bound, 2s. SHERIDAN'S COMEDIES: THE RIVALS and THE SCHOOL FOR SCANDAL.
Edited, with an Introduction and Notes to each Play, and a Biographical Sketch, by
BRANDER MATTHEWS. With Illustrations. Demy 8vo. half-parchment, 12s. 6d.

SIDNEY'S (SIR PHILIP) COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS, including all those in "Arcadia." With Portrait, Memorial-Introduction, Notes, &c. by the Rev. A. B. Grosart, D.D. Three Vols., crown 8vo, cloth boards, 18s.

SIGNBOARDS: Their History. With Anecdotes of Famous Taverns and Remarkable Characters. By Jacob Larwood and John Camben Hotten With Coloured Frontispiece and of Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. With Anecdotes of Famous Taverns

SIMS (GEORGE R.), WORKS BY.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, \$22, each: cloth limp. 2s. 6d. eacc.

ROGUES AND VAGABORDS.

THE RING O' BELLS.

MARY JANE'S MEMOIRS.

DRAWAS OF LIFE. With 60 illustrations. TINKLETOP'S CRIME. With a Frontispiece by Maurice Greiffenhagen. ZEPH: A Circus Story, &c. HT TWO WIYES. MY TWO WIYES.

Crown 8vo. picture cover. In. each; cloth, In. 6d. each. HOW THE POOR LIVE; and HORRIBLE LONDON.

THE DAGONET REGITER AND READER: being Readings and Recitations in Prose and Verse, selected from his own Works by GRORGE R. SIMS. THE GABE OF GEORGE CANDLEMAS. DAGONET DITTIES.

SISTER DORA: A Biography. By Margaret Lonsdale. With Four Illustrations. Demy 6vo. picture cover. 4d.; cloth, 6d.

SKETCHLEY.—A MATCH IN THE DARK. By ARTHUR SKETCHLEY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 20.

SLANG DICTIONARY (THE): Etymological, Historical, and Anecdotal. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. 6d.

SMITH (J. MOYR). WORKS BY.

THE PRINCE OF ARTOLIS, With 130 Illusts. Post 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 64.

THE WOOING OF THE WATER WITCH. Illustrated. Post 8vo, cloth, 6s.

SOCIETY IN LONDON. By A FOREIGN RESIDENT. Crown 8vo. ie. ; cloth, ie. 6d.

SOCIETY IN PARIS: The Upper Ten Thousand. A Series of Letters from Count Paul Vasili to a Young French Diplomat. Crown Bvo. cloth, 6a.

SOMERSET. - SONGS OF ADIEU. By Lord HENRY SOMERSET. Small 4to, Japanese vellum, dis.

SPALDING.—ELIZABETHAN DEMONOLOGY: An Essay on the Belief in the Existence of Devils. By T. A. Spalding, LL.B. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s.

SPEIGHT (T. W.), NOVELS BY.
Post 8vo. illustrated beards, 2s. each.

THE MYSTERIES OF HEROE DYNE. BY DEVIOUS WAYS, &c. THE GOLDEN HOOP. BACK TO LIPE. HOODWINKED: and THE SANDY-THE LOUDWATER TRACEDY. CROFT MYSTERY. BURGO'S ROMANCE.

Post 8vo, cloth hup, 1s. 6d. each. A BARREN TITLE. WIFE OR TO WIFE! THE BANDYCROFT MYSTERY. Crown 8vo, pictuse cover, 1m.

SPENSER FOR CHILDREN. By M. H. Toway. With Illustrations by WALTER J. MORGAN. Crown 4to, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

STARRY HEAVENS (THE): A POETICAL BIRTHDAY BOOK.
16mo, cloth extra, 2s. 64.

STAUNTON.—THE LAWS AND PRACTICE OF CHESS. With an Analysis of the Openings. By Howard Staurton. Edited by Robert B. Wormald. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 5n.

STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY.
VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo cloth extra, 9a.
THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown dvo. cloth extra, 9a.

ERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By KOBERT ARMITAGE STERNOALE. Cr. 8vo, cioth entra. 3a. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards. 2a. STERNDALE, -By KOBERT

STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY, Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2a. 6d. each.
TRAVELS WITH & DOBKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME.
AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME.

Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6s. each.

PAWILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sight Edition.

THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. | UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition.

WENGERS AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition.

VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. | BALLADS.

ACROSS THE PLAIMS, with other Memories and Essays.

MEW ARABIAN MIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown Svo. buckram, gilt top, Sa.;

post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (Prop. New Arabian NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, circle erira. Sa. (Shortiy.

PRINCE OTTO. Sixth Edition. Post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2m.
FATHER DAMIEM: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition.
Crown 8vo, hand-made and brown paper, In.

STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. C. WARREN STODDARD. Hillstrated by Wallis Mackay, Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3c. 6d. STORIES FROM FOREIGN NOVELISTS. With Notices by HELEN and

ALICE ZIMMERN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3a. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2a.

STRANGE MANUSCRIPT (A) FOUND IN A COPPER CYLINDER.
With 19 Illustrations by Gilbert Gaul. Crown 8vo, cloth exits, 3a.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 26

STRANGE SECRETS. Told by CONAN DOYLE, PERCY FITZGERALD, FLOR-ENCE MARRYAT, &c. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

STRUTT'S SPORTS AND PASTIMES OF THE PEOPLE OF RNGLAND; including the Rural and Domestic Recreations, May Games, Mummeries, Shows, &c., from the Earliest Period to the Present Time. Edited by William Hong. With r40 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

SWIFT'S (DEAN) CHOICE WORKS, in Prose and Verse. With Memoir,
Portrait, and Facsimites of the Maps in "Gulliver's Travels," Cr. 8vo. cl., 7s. 6d.
GULLIVER'S TRAVELS, and A TALE OF A TUB. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2s.
JONATHAN SWIFT: A Study. By J. CRURTON COLLINS. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 8s.

SWINBURNE (ALGERNON C.), WORKS BY.

 RECORTHEUS: A Tragedy. Crown Svo. Ss.
A NOTE ON CHARLOTTE BRONTE. Cr. svo. Ss.
BONGS OF THE SPRINGTIDES. Crown Svo. Ss.
STUDIES IN BONG. Crown Svo. To.
MARY STUART: A Tragedy. Crown Svo. Ss.
MARY STUART: A Tragedy. Crown Svo. Ss.
A CHRYURY OF BOUNDELS. Small 4to. Ss.
A MIDSUMMER BOLIDAY. Crown Svo. 7s.
A MIDSUMMER BOLIDAY. Crown Svo. 7s.
A STUDY OF VIOTOR BUGO. Crown Svo. 8s.
MISOSILIANIES. Crown Svo. 12s.
LOCKINE: A Tragedy. Crown Svo. 8s.
A STUDY OF EN JONSON. Crown Svo. 8s.
A STUDY OF EN JONSON. Crown Svo. 4s.
A STUDY OF EN JONSON. Crown Svo. Ss.
A STEDTRES: A Tragedy. Crown Svo. Ss.
ASTROPHEL, &c. Crown Svo. 7s.

SYNTAX'S (DR.) THREE TOURS: In Search of the Picturesque, in Search of Consolation, and in Search of a Wife. With Rowlandson's Coloured Illustrations, and Lite of the Author by J. C. Hotten. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

TAINE'S HISTORY OF ENGLISH LITERATURE: Translated by HENRY VAN LAUN. Four Vols., small demy 8vo, cl. bdz., 30s.,—Popular Edition, Two Vols., large crown 8vo, cloth extra, \$5s.

TAYLOR'S (BAYARD) DIVERSIONS OF THE ECHO CLUB! Burlesques of Modern Writers. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 20.

TAYLOR (DR. J. E., F.L.S.), WORKS BY: Crown 8vo, cloth: 5s. each.

THE BAGACITY AND MORALITY OF PLANTS: A Sketch of the Life and Conduct
of the Vegetable Kinedom. With a Coloured Frontispiece and 100 illustrations.
OUR COMMON BRITISH POSBLE, and Where to Find Them. 331 illustrations.
THE PLAYTIME NATURALIST. With 366 Illustrations.

TAYLOR'S (TOM) HISTORICAL DRAMAS. Containing "Clancarty,"
"Jeanne Darc," "Twist Are and Crown," "The Fool's Revenge," "Arkwright's
Wife," "Anne Boleyn," "Plot and Passion." Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
"." The Plays may also be had separately, at 1s. each.

TENNYSON (LORD): A Biographical Sketch. By H. J. Jennings. With a Photograph-Portrait. Grown 8vo, cloth extre, Sc.—Cheap Edition, post 8vo, portrait cover, 1s. 4 cloth, 1s. 6d.

THACKERAYANA: Notes and Anecdotes. Ulustrated by Hundreds of Sketches by William MAREPEACE THACEERAY. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 7 c. 6d.

THAMES. — A NEW PICTORIAL HISTORY OF THE THAMES. By A. S. Krausse. With 340 Illustrations Post 8vo, Se. t cloth, Se. dd.

THIERS.—HISTORY OF THE CONSULATE & EMPIRE OF FRANCE UNDER NAPOLEON. By A. Thiers. Translated by D. Forres Campbell and John Stebbing. New Edition, reset in a specially-cast type, with 36 Steel Plates. 12 vols., demy 8vo, cl. ex., 121. each. (Monthly Volumes, beginning September, 1893.)

THOMAS (BERTHA), NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo. cl., 2s., 6d. ex.; post 8vo, 2s., es.
THE VIOLIN-PLAYER. | PROUD MAISIE,
CRESSIDA: Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

THOMSON'S SEASONS, and CASTLE OF INDOLENCE. With Introduction by ALLAN CUNNINGHAM, and 48 Hiustrations. Post 8yo, half-bound, 20.

THORNBURY (WALTER), WORKS BY,
THE LIFE AND CORRESPONDENCE OF J. M. W. TURNER, With Histrations in Colours. Crown byo, cloth extra, 7s. 6ct.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

OLD STORIES RE-TOLD. | TALES FOR THE MARINES.

TIMBS (JOHN), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 7s. 6d. each.

THE HISTORY OF CLUBS AND CLUB LIPE IN LONDON: Anecdotes of its
Famous Coffee-houses, Hostelries, and Taverns. With 42 litustrations.

ENGLISH ECCENTRICS AND ECCENTRICITIES: Stories of Delusions, Impostures, Sporting Scenes, Eccentric Artists, Theatrical Folk, &c. 48 litustrations, TROLLOPE (ANTHONY), NOVELS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3a. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2a. each,
THE WAY WE LIVE NOW.

PRAU PROHMANN. | MARION PAY. | THE LAND-LEAGUERS. Post 6vo, illustrated boards, '30. each. KEPT IN THE DARK. GOLDEN LION OF GRANPERE. AMERICAN SENATOR JOHN CALDIGATE. TROLLOPE (FRANCES E.), NOVELS BY.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d. each: post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2s. each.
LIKE SHIPS UPON THE SEA. | MABEL'S PROGRESS. | ANNE FURNESS. TROLLOPE (T. A.). - DIAMOND CUT DIAMOND. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2n. TROWBRIDGE.-FARNELL'S FOLLY; A Novel. By J. T. TROW-BRIDGE. Post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2s. TYTLER (C. C. FRASER-).—MISTRESS JUDITH: A Novel. By C. C. FRASER-TYTLER, Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 3s. TYTLER (SARAH), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, flustrated boards, 9s. each.
THE BRIDE'S PASS.

BURIED DIAMONDS. THE BLACKHALL GHOSTS. LADY BELL. Post 8vo. illustrated boards. 2s. each, WHAT BHE CAME THROUGH. CITOYENNE JACQUELIER BAINT MUNG O'S CITY. BEAUTY AND THE BEAST, DISAPPEARED. | NOBLESSE OBLIGE, THE HUGUENOT FAMILY. UNDERHILL.—WALTER BESANT: A Study. By JOHN UNDERHILL.
With Portraits. Crown bvo, Irish linen. 6s. [Shortly. Shortly. UPWARD .- THE QUEEN AGAINST OWEN. By ALLEN UPWARD. With Frontispiece by J. S. CROMPTON. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 3. 64. VASHTI AND ESTHER. By the Writer of "Belle's" Letters in The World. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. VILLARI. - A DOUBLE BOND. By LINDA VILLARI. Fcap. 8vo, 1s. WALFORD (EDWARD, M.A.), WORKS BY.
WALFORD'S COUNTY FAMILIES OF THE UNITED KINGOOM (1996) Containing the Descript,
Burth, Marriage, Education, &c., of 12,000 Heads of Families, their Heirs, Offices, Addresses,
Clubs &c., Royal Byo, (10th gill, 58s.
WALFORD'S WIEDSON FERRAGE BARGUSTAGE, AND ENGINTAGE 1886). Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 12s. 5d.
WALPORD'S SHILLING PEERAGE (1894). Commissing a List of the House of Lords, Scotch and Irish Peers, Stc. 2700. Coth. in.
WALFURD'S REHILLING RAROSETAGE SIMS. Containing a List of the Baroness of the United Kington, Beggraphical Notices Addresses, Stc. 2700. Coth in.
WALFURD'S RHILLING RHIGHTAGE (1894). Containing a List of the Knights of the United Kington, Biographical Notices, Addresses, Sc. 2700. Coth, in.
WALFURD'S RHILLING ROUSE OF COMMONS (1894). Containing a List of all the Members of the New Pariament, their Addresses Clobs, Sc. 2700. Coth, in.
WALFURD'S COMPLETE PERRAGE RAROSETAGE, RESISTENCE, AND HOUSE OF COMMONS (1894). Revaluent of the Coth in. TALES OF OUR GREAT PAMILIES. Crown bro, cloth extra, & \$4. WALT WHITMAN, POEMS BY. Edited, with Introduction, b. WILLIAM M. ROSSETTI. With Portrait. Cr. 8vo, hand-made paper and buckram, 6a. Edited, with Introduction, by WALTON AND COTTON'S COMPLETE ANGLER; or, The Contemplative Man's Recreation, by Izaas Walton; and Instructions how to Angle for a Trout or Grayling in a clear Stream, by Charles Corrow. With Memoirs and Notes by Sir Harris Nicotas, and 61 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth antique, 7s. 6d.

WARD (HERBERT), WORKS BY.
FIVE YEARS WITH THE CONGO CAMBURALS. With 92 Illustrations by the
Author, Victor Perand, and W. B. Davis. Third ed. Roy. 8vo, cloth et., 14s.
BY LIFE WITH STAFLEY'S REAR GUARD. With a Map by F. S. WELLES.

VARNER.—A ROUNDABOUT JOURNEY.
WARNER, Crown 840 cloth extra 6a. By CHARLES DUDLEY

F.R.G.S. Post 8vo, 2s.; cloth, 2s. 6d.

WARRANT TO EXECUTE CHARLES I. A Facsimile, with the 59

Signatures and Scals. Printed on paper 22 in. by 14 in.
WARRANT TO EXECUTE MARY QUEEN OF SCOTS.

Queen Elizabeth's Signature and the Great Scal. 2s. A Facsimile, including

WASSERMANN (LILLIAS), NOVELS BY.

THE DAFFODILS. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d. THE MARQUIS OF CARABAS. By AARON WATSON and LILLIAS WASBERMANN, Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

WEATHER, HOW TO FOR ITELL THE, WITH POCKET SPEC-TRUSCOPE. By F. W. CORY. With to Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, 1m.; cloth, 1s. 6d.

WESTALL (William).—TRUST-MONEY. Post &vo, illust. bds., 2s.

Esy ABRAHAM S. WILKS WHIST.—HOW TO PLAY SOLO WHIST. Fay ABRAH.
and Charles F. Pardon. New Edition. Post 8vo, cloth limp. 28.

By GILBERT WHITE.—THE NATURAL HISTORY OF SELBORNE.
WHITE, M.A. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bowed. 20.

WILLIAMS (W. MATTIEU, F.R.A.S.), WORKS BY.
SCIENCE IN SHORT CHAPTERS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
A SIMPLE TREATISE ON HEAT. With Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
THE CHEMISTRY OF COOKERY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
THE CHEMISTRY OF IRON AND STEEL MAKING. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s.
A VINDICATION OF PHRENOLOGY. With over 40 Illustrations. Demy 8vo, cloth extra. #2n. 6d.

WILLIAMSON (MRS. F. H.).—A CHILD WIDOW. Post 8vo, bds., 2s.

WILSON (DR. ANDREW, F.R.S.E.), WORKS BY.
CHAPTERS ON EVOLUTION. With 259 lilustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
LEAVES FROM A NATURALIST'S NOTE-BOOK. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
LEISURE-TIME STUDIES. With lilustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
STUDIES IN LIFE AND SENSE. With numerous lilusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 6s.,
COMMON ACCIDENTS: HOW TO TREAT THEM. lilusts. Cr. 8vo, 1s.; cl., 1s. 6d.
GLIMPSES OF NATURE, With 35 lilustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.

WINTER (J. S.), STORIES BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 3s. each; cloth limp. 3s. 6d. each. CAVALRY LIFE. I REGIMENTAL LEGENDS.

A SOLDIER'S CHILDREN. With 34 Illustrations by E. G. Thomson and E. STUART HARDY. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 3s. 6d.

WISSMANN.—MY SECOND JOURNEY THROUGH EQUATORIAL AFRICA. By HERMANN VON WISSMANN. With 92 Illusis, Demy bvo, 164.

WOOD.-SABINA: A Novel. By Lady Woop. Post 8vo, boards, 2s.

WOOD (H. F.), DETECTIVE STORIES BY. Post 8vo, boards. ≥n. each.
PASSENGER FROM SCOTLAND YARD. | ENGLISHMAN OF THE RUE CAIN. WOOLLEY.—RACHEL ARMSTRONG; or, Love and Theology. By CELIA PARKER WOOLLEY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. t cloth, 2s. 6d.

WRIGHT (THOMAS), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7a. 6d. each, CARICATURE HISTORY OF THE GEORGES. With 100 Caricatures, Squibs, &c., HISTORY OF CARICATURE AND OF THE GROTESQUE IN ART, LITERATURE, SCULPTURE, AND PAINTING. Illustrated by F. W. Fairholt, F.S.A.

WYNMAN.-MY FLIRTATIONS. By Margaret Wynman. Bustrations by J. Bernard Partridge, Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3x. 6d.

YATES (EDMUND), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. LAND AT LAST. | THE FORLORN HOPE. | CASTAWAY.

TOLA (EMILE), NOVELS BY. Crown ovo, cloth extra, 3s, 6d, each.
THE DOWNFALL. Translated by E. A. Vizatelly. Fourth Edition, Revised.
THE DREAM. Translated by E. IZA CHASE. With 8 Illustrations by Jeannor.
DOCTOR PASCAL. Translated by E. A. Vizetelly. With Portrait of the Author.
MONEY. Translated by Exass A. Vizetelly.

EMILE ZOLA: A Biography. By R. H. SHERARD. With Portraits, Illustrations. and Facsimile Letter. Demy Svo, cloth extra, 12.

### LISTS OF BOOKS CLASSIFIED IN SERIES.

\* Por fuller cataloguing, see alphabetical arrangement, pp. 1-24.

THE MAYFAIR LIBRARY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. per Volume.

B THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERTY B TOWNS BOUND My Room. By XAVIER

Pencil and Palette. By R. Kewer, Little Essays: from Laws's Letters.

ost fro, cloth limp, 28. 6d. per Volume.

Foreusic Anecdotes. By Jacob Larwood.
Theatrical Anecdotes. Jacob Larwood.
Jeux d'Espris. Edited by Henry S. Leigh.
Witch Stories. By E. Lynn Linton.
Ourselves. By E. Lynn Linton.
Pastimes & Players. By R. Macgregor.
Rew Faul and Virginia. W.H. Mallock.
Rew Republic. By W. H. Mallock.
Puck on Pegasus. By H. C. Pennell.
Pegasus Re-Baddled. By H. C. Pennell.
Huses of Mayfair. Ed. H. C. Pennell.
Thoresu: His Life Anms. By H. A. Pags.
Puniana. By Hon. Hugh Rowley.
The Philosophy of Handwriting. The Philosophy of Handwriting. By Stream and Sea. By Ww. Senior. Leaves from a Haturalist's Hote-Book. By Dr. ANDREW WILBON.

THE GOLDEN LIBRARY. Bayard Taylor's Diversions of the Ecne Club. Bennett's Reliad History of England. Principal Songs for Sallors. Wodwin's Lives of the Hecromancers. Pope's Poetical Works. Holmes's Autocrat of Breakiast Table.

Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. per Volume. Jesse's Scenes of Country Life. Leigh Hunt's Tale for a Chimney Corner. Mallory's Mort d'Arthur: Selections. Pascal's Provincial Latters. Rochetoucauld's Maxime & Sellections.

THE WANDERER'S LIBRARY. Wanderings in Patagonia. By Julius BEZEROHM. Illustrated.
Camp Hotes. By Frederick Botte.
Bayage Life. By Frederick Boyte.
Marrie England in the Olden Time. By G. Daniel. Illustrated by CRUISSHAME.
Circus Life. By Thomas Frost.
Lives of the Conjurers. Thomas Frost.
The Old Showman and the Old London Fairs. By THOMAS FROST. LOW-Life Deeps. By JAMES GREENWOOD.

Crown 8vo, cioth extra, 3s. 64. each. Wilds of London. JAMES GREENWOOD, Tunis, Chev. HESSE-WARTEGO. 22 Illusts. life and Adventures of a Cheap Jack. World Behind the Scenes, P. Fitzgesaln. Tavern Anecdotes and Sayings. The Genial Showman. By E.P. Hisgorow Story of London Parks, JACOB LARWOOD. London Characters. By HERRY MAYNEW. Seven Generations of Executioners. Summer Cruising in the South Sena, By C. WARREN STODDARD, Illustrated,

#### POPULAR SHILLING BOOKS.

Harry Findyer at Cambridge. Jeff Briggs's Love Story. BRET HARTE. Twins of Table Mountain. BRET HARTE. Snow-bound at Engle's. By BRET HARTE. Bhow-bound at Ragie a. by Sher Francis.

A Day's Tour. By Perct Fitzcerald.

Esther's Glove. By R. E. Francillow.

Bentenced! By Someaville Gibber.

The Professor's Wife. By L. Graham.

Mrs. Gainsborough's Diamonds. E JULIAN HAWTHORNE. Bingara Spray. By J. Hollingshrad. A Romance of the Queen's Hounds. By CHARLES JAMES Garden that Paid Rent. Tow JERROLD. Cut by the Hess. By ARTHUR KEYSER.
Teresa Itasca. By A. MacAlpine.
Our Semantion Rovel. J. H. McCarthy.
Doom! By Justin H. McCarthy.
Dolly. By Justin H. McCarthy. Liy Lass. Justin H. McCastny.
Was She Good or Bad? By W. Minto.
Rotes from the "Rews." By Jas. Parm.
Beyond the Gates. By E. S. Phelps.
Old Maid's Paradise. By E. S. Phelps.
Jack the Fisherman. By E. S. Phelps.
Jack the Fisherman. By E. S. Phelps.
Jack the Fisherman. By C. S. Phelps.
Jack the Fisherman. By C. S. Phelps.
Jack the Fisherman. By C. S. Phelps.
Jack the Fisherman.
By C. L. Pianis.
Bible Characters. By C. A. Rans.
Bible Characters. By C. A. Sins.
Roques. By R. H. Sherro.
The Dagonet Reciter. By G. R. Sins.
How the Poor Live. By G. R. Sins.
Case of George Candlemas. G. R. Sins.
Sandycroft Hystery. T. W. Spricht.
Hoodwinked. By T. W. Spricht.
Father Damies. By R. L. Stevenson.
A Double Bond. By Linda Villari.
My Life with Stanley's Bear Guard. By Lliy Lass. Justin H. McCanthy. My Life with Stanley's Bear Guard. By HERRERT WARD.

HANDY NOVELS. Pcap. 8vo, cloth boards, In. 6d. each. The Old Maid's Sweetheart. A.ST.AUSYN | Taken from the Enemy. H. Newbolt. Modest Little Sara. Alas St. Ausys. | A Lost Soul. By W. L. Alden. Seven Sleepers of Ephesus. M. E. Colenings. | Dr. Paliliser's Patient. Grant Alles. MY LIBRARY. Printed on laid paper, post 8vo, half-Roxburghe, 2s. 6d. each.
Four Frenchwomen. By Austin Dosson. Christis Johnstone. By Charles Reads
Citation and Examination of William With a Photogravure Frontispiece.

Shakspears. By W. S. LANDOR. The Journal of Maurice de Guerin.

THE POCKET LIBRARY. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and hf.-bd., 2s. each. The Essays of Elia. By CHARLES LAMB.
Robinson Crusoe. Illust. G. CRUIKSHANE.
Whims and Odditles. By THOMAS, HOOD.

With 85 Illustrations.
The Barber's Chair, &c. By D. JERROLD. Gastronomy. By BRILLAT-SAVARIN. The Epicurean, &c. By Thomas Moore. Leigh Hunt's Essays. Ed. E. Ollier. Peg Woffington. By Charles Reads. The Dramatic Essays of Charles Lamb.

White's Natural History of Selborne. Guillyer's Travels, &c. By Dean Swift. Plays. By Richard Brinsley Sheridan. Anecdotes of the Clergy. J. LAR Thomson's Seasons. Illustrated. J. LARWOOD. The Autocrat of the Breakfast-Table and The Professor at the Breakfast-Table. By OLIVER WENDELL HOLMES.

#### THE PICCADILLY NOVELS.

LIBRARY EDITIONS OF NOVELS, many Illustrated, crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.
By F. St. ALLEN.
By HALL CAINE.

Grean as Grass.

By GRANT ALLEN. Philistia. The Tents of Shem. For Maimle's Sake. The Devil's Dis. Babylon. Strange Stories. Beckening Hand, In all Shades. This Mortal Coil. The Great Taboo. na an anauca. The Great Taboo.
Dumaresq's Daughter. | Blood Reyal.
The Duchess of Powysland.
Ivan Greet's Masterplace. | Scallywag.
By EDWIN L. ARNOLD.
Phra the Phomolan.

The Constable of St. Nicholas.

By ALAN ST. AUSYN.

A Follow of Trinity. | The Junior Dean.
The Master of St. Benedict's.

To his Own Master. By Rev. S. BARING GOULD. Red Spider. ) Eve.

By ROBERT BARR.

By ROBERT BARR.
In Steamer Chair I from Whose Bourne
By FRANK BARRETT.
The Woman of the Iron Bracelets.
"BRINE."—Vashti and Esther.
By Little Girl.
Case of Mr. Lucraft.
My Little Girl.
Golden Butterfly.
The Seamy Side.
Golden Butterfly.
The Years' Tenant. Golden Butterfly. Ten Ready-Money Mortiboy.

with Harp and Crown.

Twas in Trafalgar's Bay.
The Chaplain of the Fleet.

By WALTER BENANT.

All Sorts and Conditions of Men.
The Captains' Room. | Herr Paulus.
All in a Garden Fair The Ivory Gate.
The World Went Very Well Then. For Faith and Freedom. | Rebel Queen. Dorothy Forster. | The Holy Rose. Dorothy Forster. Uncle Jack. Armorel of Lyon-Children of Gibeon. esse. St. Katherine's by Bell of St. Paul's.

To Call Her Mine. the Tower. Yerbena Camellia Stephanotia. By ROBERT BUCKANAN.

The Shadow of the Sword. Matt. A Child of Nature. Heir of Heir of Linne. God and the Man. The New Abelard. Love Me for Ever. Foxglove Manor. Annan Water. Master of the Mine. Woman and the Man.

By HARR. The Shadow of a Crime. The Deemster. A Bon of Hagar. | The Deemster. By MACLAREN COBBAN. The Red Suitan MORT. & FRANCES COLLINS.

Transmigration. | Blacksmith&Scholar. From Midnight to Midnight,
Village Comedy. You Play Me False.
By WILKIE COLLINS.

Armadale. After Dark, No Name. Antonina. | Basil. Hide and Seek. The Dead Secret. Queen of Hearts. y Miscellanies. Woman in White. The Moonstone. Man and Wife. Poor Miss Finch.

Law and the Lady. Haunted Hotel. The Pallen Leaves. Jezebel's Daughter. The Black Robe. Heart and Science. "I Bay No." Little Novels. The Evil Genius. The Legacy of Cain Miss or Mrs? A Rogue's L New Magdalen. Blind Love. By DUTTON COOK. A Rogue's Life. Blind Love.

The Frozen Deep. 'The Two Destinies,

Paul Foster's Daughter. E. H. COOPER.—Geoff. Hamilton. By V. CECIL COTES,

Two Girls on a Barge.

By WATT 4:RYM,

Advantures of a Fair Rebel.

By B. M. CROKER.

Diana Barrington. | Pretty Miss Neville.

Proper Pride. | A Bird of Passage.

A Family Likeness. | "To Let."

By WALLIAM CYPLES.

Hearts of Gold.

By ALPHONSE DAUDET.

The Evangelist; or, Port Salvation.
By H. COLEMAN DAVIDSON.
Mr. Badler's Daughters. By ERASHUS DAWSON.
The Fountain of Youth.

By JAMES DE MILLE. Castle in Spain.

By J. LEITH DERWENT. Our Lady of Tears, | Circe's Lovers, By DICK DONOVAN, Tracked to Doom.

Han from Manchester.

By A. CONAN DOYLE.

The Firm of Girdlestone.
By Mrs. ANNIE EDWARDES. Archie Lovell.

```
THE PICCADILLY (3/6) NOVELS-continued.
     By G. MANVILLE FENN.
 The New Mistress. | Witness to the Deed.
 The Tiger Lily.
By PERCY FITZGERALD.
 Fatal Zero.
By R. E. FRANCILLON.
 Queen Cophetua. A Real Queen.
One by One. King or Knave.
Dog & his Shadow. Ropes of Sand.
Pref. by Sir BABTLE FRERE.
 Pandurang Harl.
 ED. GARRETT.—The Capel Girls.
PAUL GAULOT.—The Red Shirts.
By CHABLES GIBBON.
 Robin Gray.
Loving a Dream.
The Flower of the Forest.
By E. GLANVILLE.
The Lost Heiress.
The Fossicker.
 A Fair Colonial
By E. J. GOODMAN,
The Fate of Herbert Wayne,
By CECIL CRIFFATH.
 Corinthia Harazion.

By SYDNEY GRUNDY.

The Days of his Yanity.
 By THOMAS HARDY
Under the Greenwood Tree.
By BRET HARTE.
 A Waif of the Plains. | Sally Dows.
A Ward of the Golden Sate.
 A Sappho of Green Springs.
Colonel Starbottle's Client.
                                                         Busy.
 A Protegée of Jack Hamlin's.

By JULIAN HAWTHORNE.
                                   Dogt.
 Garth.
 Ellice Quantin. Fortune's Fool.
Sebastian Strome. Beatrix Randolph.
 David Poindexter's Disappearance.
 The Spectre of the Camera.
By Sir A. HELPS.—Ivan de Biron.
I, HENDERSON—Igatha Page.
 By Mrs. HUNGEBFORD.
Lady Verner's Flight.
By Mrs. ALFBED HUNT.
 The Leaden Casket. Self-Condemned.
That Other Person. Rrs. Juliet.
By E. ASHE KING.
By E. Apparation of the Green."
By E. L. VNN LENTON.
Patricis Kemball. | Ione.
Underwhich Lord! | Paston Carew.
| Sowing the Wind!
 The Atonement of Learn Dundas.
The World Well Lost.
By H. W. J.C.Y.—Sideon Fleyca.
By JLWIN McCARINY.
 A Fair Bazon.
                                 Donna Quixote.
 Linley Rochford. Hald of ...
Miss Missothrope. Camiela.
 The Waterdale Beighbourn
 My Enemy's Daughter. | Red Diamonds
Dear Lady Disdain. | The Dictator.
The Comet of a Season.
By GEORGE MACDONALD.
Heather and Snow.
By AGNES MACDONELL.
Quaker Cousins.
```

By BERTRAM MITFORD. The Gun-Runner. | The King's Amegal. The Luck of Gerard Riddeley.

```
THE PICCADILLY (3 6) NOVELS-continued.
By D. CHRESTEE MERRAY.
Life's Atonaman. Yal Brange.
Joseph's Coat. Hearts.
                                  A Model Father.
Time's Revenges.
 Coals of Pire.
 Old Biazer's Here.
 By the Gate of the Sea
    Bit of Human Nature
First Person Singular. | Cypic Fortune.
The Way of the World. | A Wasted
Bob Martin's Little Cirl. | Crime.
By MURRAY & HERMAN.
The Bishops' Bible. | Paul Jones's Alias.
By G. OHNET. A Baff Up!"
By G. OHNET. A Baff Up!"
By G. OHNET. A Weird Gift.
By OUIDA.
Held in Bondage.
                                   Two Little Wooden
Strathmore.
Strathmore.
Chandos.
Under Two Fiags. Arisdne.
Friendship.
Waths. | Ruffise.
Idalia.
Gaga, Pipistrello.
Tricotrin. | Puck. A Villaga Commune
Polis Farine.
Bimbi. | Wanda.
A Dog of Flanders. Prescoss. Othmas.
A Dog or standard.

Pascarel. | Signa. In Haremma.

Princes Rapraz-
ine. Santa Barbara.
   ine, Santa Barbara,
By MARGABET A. PAUL.
Gentle and Simple.

By JAMES PAYN.

Lost Sir Massingberd.

Less Black than We're Painted.
A Confidential Agent.
A Grape from a Thorn.
In Peril and Privation.
The Mystery of Mirbridge
The Canon's Ward.
Walter's Word.
                                   Hollday Tasks.
By Proxy.
High Spirits.
                                    For Cash Only.
                                   The Burnt Million.
The Word and the
Will.
 Under One Reof.
 Prom Exile.
Clow-worm Tales. Sunny Stories. Talk of the Town. A Trying Patient. By Mrs. CAMPBELL PRAED. Outlaw and Lawmater.
                By R. C. PRICE.
Valentina. The Foreigners.
Ers. Lancaster's Rival.
        By BICHARD PRYCE.
 Hiss Maxwell's Affections
        By CHARLES READE.
It is Never Too Late to Head.
The Double Marriage.
Love Me Little, Love Me Long.
The Cloister and the Hearth.
The Course of True Love.
The Autobiography of a Thief,
Put Yourself in his Place.
A Terrible Temptation, | The Jill.
Good Stories of Men and other Animals.
Peg Woffington.
Christialehnstone.
Griffith Gaunt.
Foul Play.

Randering Heir.
Wandering Heir.
A Woman-Hater.
Christialehnstone.
Empleton.
Readiana.
Perilous Secret.
By Mrs. J. H. RIDDES.L.
The Prince of Wales's Garden Party.
```

Waird Stories.

1566

THE PICCADILLY (3/6) NOVELS-continued. By AMELIE BIVES. Barbara Dering.

By F. W. ROBINSON.

The Hands of Justice. By W. CLARK RUSSELL. Ocean Tragedy. My Shipmate Louise. Alone on a Wide Wide Sea.

By JOHN SAUNDERS. Two Dranmers. Gov Waterman. Bound to Wheel. Lion in the Path. By KATHARINE SAUNDERS. Margaret and Elizabeth. | Heart Salvage. Gideon's Rock.

The High Mills. By HAWLEY SMART. Without Love or Licence.

By R. A. STERNDALE. The Afghan Knife.

By 形形积型组织 THOMAS. Proud Maisie. | The Violin-player.
By FRANCE'S E. TROLLUPE.
Like Ships upon the Sea. | Mabel's Progress. Anna Purness.

THE PICCADILLY

By IVAN TU NOVELS—continued.

Stories from Forey THE MURRAY.

By ANTHONY Old Blaser's Haro.

Frau Frohmann. Hearts.

Marion Fay. | The Way Way of the World.

Mr. Scarborough's Fai dynic Fortune.

Mistrass Judith.

By SARAH TYPE.

The Reide's Pass. | Lady.

THE PICCADILL

The Bride's Pass. Lady Buried Diamonds. Black.
By MARK TWA. The American Claimant.

The £1,000,000 Bank-note. Tom Sawyer Abroad. Pudd'nhead Wilson.

By ALLEN UPWARD.

The Queen against Owen.

By J. S. WINTER.

A Soldier's Children.

By MARGABET WYNNIAN,

My Plirtations.

By E. ZOLA.
The Downfall. Dr. Pa Dr. Pascal. Money. The L.eam.

#### CHEAP EDITIONS OF POPULAR NOVELS. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

By ARTEMUS WARD. Artemus Ward Complete. By EUMOND ABOUT.

The fellab.

By HAMILTON AIDE.
Garr of Carriyon. | Confidences.
My RIARY ALBERT.

By IRAKE ALEKET.

Brooke Finchiey's Daughter.

By Sirs. ALEXANDER.

Maid, Wife, or Widow? | Valerie' Fate.

By SRAN'S ALLEN.

The Devil's Die Strange Stories. This Mortal Coll. Philistia. Babyion. in all Shades The Beckening Hand, | Blood Royal, For Maimie's Sake | Tents of Shem.

Great Taboo. | Dumaresq's Daughter. The Duchess of Powysland. By E. LENTER ARNOLD. Phra the Phosnician.

By ALAN ST. AUBYN. A fellow of Trinity. [The Junior Dean. The Master of St. Benedict's. By Rev. S. BARING GOULD.

Hy Kev. S. BARING GOULD.
ged Spider. | Eve.
By FRANS. BARRETT.
gettered for Life. | Little Lady Linton.
Setween Life and Death.
The Sin of Olga Zassoulion.
Folly Enrison. |Honest Davie.
Lieut. Barnabas. A Prodigal's Progress.
Found Guity. | A Recailing Yengance.
For Love and Honour.
John Ford: and His Halpmate.

John Ford; and His Helpmats. By W. BEMANT & J. RECE. This Son of Yulcan. By Cella's Arbour. My Little Girl. Monks of Thelema. Case of Mr.Lucratt. The Scamy Side. Golden Butterfly. Ten Years Tenant.

Ready Money Mortiboy. With Harp and Crown. Twen in Trafalgar's Bay. The Chaplain of the Fleet. By WALTER BESANT. Dorothy Forster. | Uncle Jack. Dorothy Forster. Uncle Jack. Children of Gibson. Herr Paulus. All Sorts and Conditions of Men. The Captains' Room. All in a Garden Fair. The World Went Yery Well Then. For Faith and Freedom. To Call Her Mine. The Bell of St. Paul's. | The Holy Rose. Armorel of Lyonesse. | The Ivory Gate. St. Katherine's by the Tower. Verbena Camellia Stephanotis. BYSHELSLEY BEAUCHAMP. Grantley Grange.

By AMBROSE BIERCE, In the Midst of Life, By FREDERICK BOYLE. Camp Notes. | Bayage Life. Chronicles of No-man's Land.

BY BRET HARTE. Californian Stories. | Gabriel Conroy. An Heiress of Red Dog. | Flip. The Luck of Rearing Camp. | Maruja. A Phyllis of the Sierras.

By HAROLD BRYDGES.

Uncle Sam at Home. By ROBERT BUCHANAN. The Shadow of the The Martyrdom of Madeline Sword.

L Child of Wature. Annan Water. God and the Man. The New Abelard. Love Me for Ever. Matt. Pozglove Manor. The Helr of Linne. The Master of the Mina.

By HALL CAINE. The Shadow of a Crime. A Son of Hagar. ion of Hagar. | The Deemster, By Commander CAMERON. The Cruise of the "Black Prince."
By Mrs. LOVETT CAMERON. Deceivers Ever. I Juliet's Guardian.

THE PICCADILLY (3/6) -continued.
By G. MANVICLABE. The New Mistress ass.

The Tiger Lity.

By PERCY

Fatal Zero.

By R. E. MILE OF COBBAN.

Queen Cophete

One by One.

On COLLINS.

Dog & his Str.

Pref. by S. NCES COLLINS.

Paydurap P. J. | Transmigration.

om his fig. to Midnight.

sight with F. Anne. | Village Corredy.

Sweet and Twenty. | You Play me Faise.

Blacksmith and Scholar. | Frances.

By WILKIE COLLINS.

Armadale. The New Mistress, has. My Miscellanies. Woman in White. Armadale. After Dark. No Name. The Moonstone. Antonina. | Basil. Hide and Seek. The Dead Secret. Queen of Hearts. Man and Wife. The Pailen Leaves Jezebel's Daughter Miss or Mrs? The Black Robe. Rew Magdalen. Heart and Science. The Prozen Deep. Law and the Lady. "I Bay No." The Evil Genius. The Two Destinies, Little Roveis. Haunted Hotel. Legacy of Cain. A Rogue's Life. Blind Love. By M. J. COLQUHOUN. By DUTTON COOK. Paul Foster's Daughter. By C. EGBERT CRADDOCK. Prophet of the Great Smoky Mountains.

By MATT CRIM. Adventures of a Pair Bebel. By B. M. CROKEB. Pretty Miss Reville, Bird of Passage,
Diana Barrington, Proper Pride,
"To Let," A Family Likeness,
By W. CYPLES.—Hearts of Gold,
By ALPHONSE DAUDET. The Evangelist; or, Port Salvation. By ERASMES DAWSON. The Pountain of Youth.
By JAMES DR MILLE. A Castle in Spain. By J. LEITH DERWENT. Our Lady of Tears. | Circe's Lovers. By CHARLES DICKENS. Sketches by Boz. Oliver Twist.
Pickwick Papers. Hicholas Hickleby.
By DICK DONOVAN. The Wap-Hunter. | Caught at Last: Tracked and Taken. | Wanted! Who Poisoned Hetty Duncan? The Han from Wanchester. A Detective's Triumphs. In the Grip of the Law. Prom Information Received. Tracked to Doom. | Link by Link. Suspicion Aroused. By Mrs. ANNIE EDWARDES. A Point of Honour. | Archie Lovell.

By M. BETHAM-EDWARDS. rencia.

By EDW. EGGLESTON...Roxy.

By G. MANVILLE FENN.

The New Histress.

TWO-SHILLING Novels-continued. By PERCY FITZGERALD.
Bells Donns. | Poliv. Polly. Never Forgotten. Patal : The Second Mrs. Tillotson. Saventy-five Brooks Street. The Lady of Brantoms. By P. FITZGEBALD and others Strange Secrets. ALBANY DE FONBLANQUE Filthy Lucre. By R. E. FRANCILLON. Queen Cophetus. Olympia One by One.
A Real Queen.
By HAROLD FREDERICK. Seth's Brother's Wife. | Lawton Girl. Pref. by Sir BARTLE PREBE. Pandurang Hart. By EDWARD GARRETT. The Capel Ciris.
By GILBERT GAUL. Strange Manuscript. By CHARLES GIBBON. Robin Gray. in Honour Bound. Pancy Free. Plower of Forest. Brace of Yarrow. For Lack of Gold. brass of Lack of What will the The Golden Shaft. World Say? Of High Degree. In Love and War. Head and Stream. Loving a Dream. In Love and Loving a Dream
In Pastures Green, A Hard Knot.
Queen of Headow. Heart's Delight.
A Heart's Problem. Blood Money. The Dead Heart. By WILLIAM GILBERT. Dr. Austin's Guests. James Duke. The Wisard of the Mountain. By ERNEHT GLANVII.L.R. The Lost Heiress, | The Fossicker, By HENRY GREVILLE. A Boble Woman. | Bikanor. By CECHE GRAFFATH. Corinthia Marazion. By JOHN HABBERTON. Bruston's Bayou. | Country Luck. By ANDREW MALLIDAY. Every-Day Papers. Lady DUFFUS MARBY. Paul Wynter s Sacrifice. By THOMAS HARBY. Under the Greenwood Tree. By J. BERWICK MARWOOD. The Tenth Earl. By JULIAN HAWTHORNE. Sebastian Strome. Garth Ellice Quentin. Drist Portune's Fool. Beatrix Randolph. Miss Cadogna, Love or a Hame, David Poindexter's Disappearance. The Spectre of the Camer By Nir ARTELIA MELPA. Iyan de Biron. By HENRY HERMAN. Leading Lady.
By HEADON HILL Zambra the Detective. By JOSEN SEES, Treason Felowy. By Mrs. CANHEL HOEY.

The Lover's Creed.

Two-Shilling Novels-continued. Hy Mrs. GEORGE HOOPER.
The House of Raby.
By TIGHE HOPKINS. Twixt Love and Duty.

By Firm. HUNGERFORD.

A Maiden all Porlorn. A Mental Struggle, A Modern Circe, In Durance Yile. Maryel. By Mrs. ALFRED HUNT.
Thornicroft's Rodel. | Self-Condemned,
That Other Person. | Landen Casket. By JEAN INGELOW. WM. JAMESON.-- My Dead Self. By HARRIETT JAY. Dark Collean. | Queen of Connaught. By MARK KERSHAW. Colonial Facts and Pictions. By R. ASHE KING. A Drawn Game. | Passion's Slave. "The Wearing of the Green." Bell Barry. By JOHN LEYS.—The Lindsays. By R. EVNN LINTON.
Patricia Kemball. | Paston Carew.
World Wall Lost.
Under which Lord? | Ione.
The Atonement of Leam Dundan. With a Silken Thread. The Rebel of the Family. Sowing the Wind. By HENRY W. LUCY. Gldson Fleyce. By JUSTIN MCCARTHY. Donna Gulxote. Maid of Athena. Pair Baxon. Linley Rochford. Miss Misanthrope. Camiols. Dear Lady Disdain. The Waterdale Neighbours. My Enemy's Daughter. The Comet of a Beason. By HUGH MACCOLL.

Mr. Stranger's Scaled Packet,

By AGNES MACDONELL. Ounker Cousing. KATHARINE S. MACQUOID. The Evil Eye. | Lost Rose. By W. W. HLALLOCK. The New Republic. Lost Rose A Romance of the Mineteenth Century. By FLORENCE MARRYAT. Pighting the Air. Openi Besame! A Harvest of Wild Oats. Written in Fire. By J. MASTERMAN. Halfa-dozen Daughters. By BRANDER MATTHEWS. A Secret of the Sea a pecies of the Sea.

By LEONARD MERRICK.

The Wan who was Good.

By JEAN MIDDLEMASS. Touch and Go. ch and Go. | Mr. Dorillion. By Mrs. MOLESWORTH. Hathercourt Rectory.
By J. E. MUDDOCK.
Stories Weird and Wonderful. The Dead Man's Secret.
From the Bosom of the Deep.
By MCRRAY and HERMAN.

One Travellar Returns.

Two-Shilling Novels—continued.

By D. CHRISTIR MURRAY.

A Model Father. Old Blazer's Hero.
Joseph's Coat. 'Hearts. Joseph's Coat. Coals of Fire. Hearts. Way of the World. Yal Strange. A Life's Atonement. Cynic Portune. By the Gate of the Sem A Bit of Human Nature, and the First Person Singular. Bob Martin's Little Girl. By HENRY MURRAY. A Game of Bluff, | A Bong of Bixrance, By MUME NISBET. "Bail Upi" | Dr. Bernard St. Vincent. By ALICE O'HANLON. Chance? or Pate? The Unforesteen. By GEORGES OHNET. Dr. Rameau. | Last Love. | Waird Life. ... By Mrs. OLIPHANT. Whiteladies. | The Primrose | The Greatest Heiress in England The Primrose Path. By Mrs. ROBERT O'REILLY. Phobe's Fortunes. By OUIDA Held in Bondage. | Two Little Wooden Strathmore. Friendship. Bimble Shoes. Chandos. | Idalis. Under Two Flags. GeoilCastiemaine's Pipistrello. [mune. A Village Com-Wanda. | Othmar. Gage. Tricotrin. | Puck. Folie Farine. A Dog of Flanders. Prescore In Marcy, Guilderoy, Guilderoy, Byrlin, Pascarel, Bigns. [ine. Ruffno. | Syrlin. Princess Raprax- Banta Barbara. In a Winter City. Oulda's Wisdom, Ariadne. MARGARET AGNES PAUL. Sentile and Simple.

By JAMES PAYN.

Bentinck's Tutor, By Proxy. By Proxy.j Under One Rook Murphy's Master. A County Family. At Her Mercy. Gecil's Tryat. High Spirits. Carlyon's Year. From Exile. Clyffards of Clyffe. Por Cash Only. Foster Brothers. Found Dead. Bast of Husbands. The Canon's Ward Talk of the Town. Holiday Tasks. Walter's Word. Halvas. Failen Fortunes. What He Cost Her. Confidential Agent. Humorous Stories, £200 Reward. Glow-worm Tales. Karine Residence. The Burnt Million. Mirk Abbay. Sunny Stories. Mirk Abbey. Su Lost Sir Massingberd. A Woman's Yengeanca. The Family Scapegraca. Gwendoline's Harvest. Like Father, Like Son. Married Beneath Him. Not Wood, but Won. Less Black than We're Painted Some Private Views. A Grape from a Thorn. The Mystery of Mirbridge. The Word and the Will. A Prince of the Blood. Paul Jones's Alian. | The Bishops' Bible.